TNO-VOEDING ZEIST BIBLIOTHEEK

P: 27

PRIMARY HEPATOCYTE CULTURES AS A MODEL SYSTEM FOR THE DETERMINATION OF INDUCTION OF BIOTRANSFORMATION ENZYMES Effects of glucosinolate hydrolysis products





PRIMARY HEPATOCYTE CULTURES AS A MODEL SYSTEM FOR THE DETERMINATION OF INDUCTION OF BIOTRANSFORMATION ENZYMES

3070-V

Effects of glucosinolate hydrolysis products





3070-V

PRIMARY HEPATOCYTE CULTURES AS A MODEL SYSTEM FOR THE DETERMINATION OF INDUCTION OF BIOTRANSFORMATION ENZYMES

Effects of glucosinolate hydrolysis products

PRIMAIRE HEPATOCYTEN CULTURES ALS EEN IN VITRO MODEL TER BEPALING VAN INDUCTIE VAN BIOTRANSFORMATIE ENZYMEN Effecten van hydrolyse produkten van glucosinolaten (met een samenvatting in het Nederlands)

PROEFSCHRIFT

Ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan de Rijksuniversiteit te Utrecht, op gezag van de Rector Magnificus Prof. Dr. J.A. Van Ginkel, ingevolge het besluit van het college van dekanen in het openbaar te verdedigen op woensdag 2 oktober 1991 des namiddags te 2.30 uur

door

HELENA MARIA WORTELBOER

geboren 17 mei 1958, te Den Helder

BIBLIOTHEEK 1 6 JAN. 1992 ZEIST

Promotores:	Prof. Dr. W. Seinen
	Prof. Dr. J. Noordhoek
Co-promotor:	Dr. B.J. Blaauboer

Het in dit proefschrift beschreven onderzoek werd gefinancieerd door het UTOX, een samenwerkingsverband tussen het Research Instituut voor Toxicologie (RITOX) te Utrecht, TNO-Voeding (TNO-ITV) te Zeist en het Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieuhygiëne (RIVM) te Bilthoven.

Contents

	Abbreviations	5
1.	General introduction	7
2.	The isoenzyme pattern of cytochrome P450 in rat hepatocytes in primary culture, comparing different enzyme activities in microsomal incubations and in intact monolayers. (Biochemical Pharmacology 40, 2525-2534) (1990)	35
3.	Comparison of cytochrome P450 isoenzyme profiles in rat liver and hepatocyte cultures: The effects of modelinducers on apoproteins and biotransformation activities. (Biochemical Pharmacology, 42, 381-390) (1997)	51
4.	The effects of cooked Brussels sprouts on cytochrome P450 profile and phase II enzymes in liver and small intestinal mucosa of the rat. (Food and Chemical Toxicology, in press)	69
5.	Effects of indole-3-carbinol on biotransformation enzymes in the rat: In vivo changes in liver and small intestinal mucosa in comparison with primary hepatocyte cultures. (Food and Chemical Toxicology, submitted)	85
6.	Structure elucidation of acid reaction products of indole-3-carbinol: detection in vivo and enzyme induction in vitro. (Chemical-Biological Interactions, in press)	101
7.	Acid reaction products of indole-3-carbinol and their effects on cytochrome P450 and phase II enzymes in rat and monkey hepatocytes. (Biochemical Pharmacology, submitted)	115
8.	General discussion	131
	Samenvatting voor "niet-vakgenoten" Curriculum vitae List of publications Dankwoord	139 143 144 145



Abbreviations

AH	aniline 4-hydroxylation
BII	2,3-bis [3-indolylmethyl] indole
BNF	β-naphthoflavone
CLOF	clofibrate
CLOFA	clofibric acid
COSY	correlation spectroscopy
CTI	5,6,11,12,17,18-hexahydro-cyclonona [1,2-b:4,5-b':7,8-b"] tri-indole
DEX	dexamethasone
DIM	3,3'-diindolylmethane
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
DTD	DT-diaphorase (= NAD(P)H-quinone oxidoreductase)
EDTA	(ethylenedinitrilo)tetraacetic acid
EROD	7-ethoxyresorufin O-deethylation
	(= 7-ethoxyphenoxazone O-deethylation)
GST	glutathione S-transferase
GT	UDP-glucuronyl transferase
HBSS	Hanks' balanced salt solution
HPLC	high performance liquid chromatography
I3A	indole-3-acetonitrile
I3C	indole-3-carbinol
I3CA	indole-3-carboxaldehyde
INH	isoniazid
i.p.	intraperitoneally
LDH	lactate dehydrogenase
1-NG	1-naphthol glucuronide
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
1-NS	1-naphthol sulphate
MS	massa spectroscopy
OHT	hydroxytestosterone
P450	cytochrome P450
PB	phenobarbital
PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
p.o.	per os
PROD	7-pentoxyresorufin O-depentylation
	(= 7-pentoxyphenoxazone O-depentylation)
PVDF	polyvinylidene difluoride
SD	standard deviation
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gelelectrophoresis
ST	sulfotransferase
TBST	Tris-buffered saline containing 0.3% Tween 20
TCA	trichloroacetic acid



CHAPTER 1

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1. Biotransformation

Through the intake of diet, drugs and air, organisms are exposed to a vast number of compounds such as natural food compounds, pesticides, industrial chemicals, pollutants etc. Not all of these environmental chemicals (xenobiotics) are beneficial, and some have marked deleterious effects. The duration of action of a biologically active compound is dependent on absorption, on tissue distribution and reaction with specific cellular receptors, and on the rates of metabolic deactivation and elimination from the body. The metabolism of xenobiotics (biotransformation) is regulated by several enzyme systems (Jakoby, 1980). The liver is quantitatively the most important organ in this respect, but many other tissues, such as the small intestine (Hoensch and Schwenk, 1984; Noordhoek, 1987), kidney (Anders, 1980), lung (Kramer *et al*, 1985) and skin (Noonan and Wester, 1983) also contribute to the overall metabolism of chemicals.

Biotransformation of xenobiotics may be considered to occur in two phases. Phase I metabolism involves reactions like oxygenation, oxidation, reduction, dehalogenation, hydrolysis which introduce new functional groups into the lipophilic molecules, thereby making them more hydrophilic and more readily excretable. The most important phase I enzymes are the cytochrome P450 enzymes. Phase II metabolism (conjugation enzymes) comprises synthetic reactions in which small endogenous molecules (glucuronic acid, glutathione, sulphate, glycine and other amino acids) are added to the functional groups of the xenobiotic or its phase I metabolite, making them even more polar and readily excretable. A compound may be metabolized by either one or both phases of metabolism (Jakoby, 1980).

Biotransformation should not only be considered as a detoxication process. Many examples are known in which a biologically inert compound is transformed into a potentially toxic one. The formation of a more toxic metabolite from a less toxic parent compound is called bioactivation. Examples are the bioactivation of procarcinogens, such as benzo[a]pyrene (Gelboin, 1980), aflatoxin B₁ (Ishii *et al*, 1986), 7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene (Vigny *et al*, 1985) by specific cytochrome P450s, but also the bioactivation of 1,2-dibromoethane by glutathione S-transferase, and N-hydroxy-2acetylaminofluorene by sulphation (van Bladeren *et al*, 1987). In succession, the toxic metabolites can be detoxified by other biotransformation enzymes. Ultimately, it is the balance between bioactivation and detoxication which primarily determines whether a reactive metabolite can elicit its toxic effect or not.

Biotransformation enzyme activities can be elevated and depressed by various xenobiotics, among them food compounds, pesticides, and drugs, thereby affecting the metabolism and toxicity of its own or other xenobiotic agents (Conney, 1986). Over the last two decennia it became clear that several forms of cytochrome P450 exist, each exhibiting different catalytic activities and being inducible by different chemicals. Changes in this cytochrome P450 pattern play an important role in the balance between activation and detoxication of potentially toxic xenobiotics. To date, only limited knowledge has been gathered on which - and to what extent - compounds are capable in changing these cytochrome P450 profile.

2. Cytochromes P450

Among the phase I enzymes the most widely studied is the cytochrome P450 system, probably due to the tremendous variety of substrates that can be metabolized (for review see Guengerich, 1990). Apart from cytochrome P450s, other phase I enzymes such as alcohol and aldehyde dehydrogenases (Jakoby, 1980), flavin-containing monooxygenase (Ziegler, 1988) and prostaglandin synthase (Eling *et al*, 1990) are capable of (co)oxidation of xenobiotics, too. Prostaglandin synthase has generally high activity in organs with low cytochrome P450 activity. It probably plays a significant role in the metabolic activation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in tissues such as lung and colon. Furthermore, prostaglandin synthase has been suggested to be involved in the bioactivation of certain kidney and bladder carcinogens, such as the aromatic amines benzidine and naphthylamine.

Cytochrome P450 is a monooxygenase (mixed-function oxidase) which incorporates one atom of molecular oxygen into an organic substrate while using reducing equivalents (NADPH) to reduce the other atom of molecular oxygen to water. The monooxygenase system is localized in smooth endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria and are embedded in the membranes of these organelles. The system is composed of the haemoprotein cytochrome P450 together with an electron donating system consisting of NADPH-P450 reductase, cytochrome b_5 reductase and cytochrome b_5 . The phospholipid environment in the membrane is important for the optimal interaction between the different proteins (Ingelman-Sundberg, 1986). The cytochrome P450 system can also produce H_2O_2 and superoxide anions which may cause cellular damage. Next, P450s are capable of catalyzing oxygenation reactions using the oxygen atom of a peroxide substrate (Ortiz de Montellano, 1986). Certain substrates, e.g. N-oxides and azo compounds can be reduced by NADPH-P450 reductase or P450 to the corresponding amines and hydrazines (Wislocki *et al*, 1980). Usually a low oxygen tension favours the reductive pathways (Ahr *et al*, 1982; MacDonald, 1982).

2.1. Multiplicity and nomenclature of P450 enzymes

Thirty five years ago the first reports in which cytochrome P450 was involved (although unknown at that time) were published. Several authors reported the inhibition of carcinogenicity of an aminoazo dye due to an enhanced metabolism of this compound

in rats treated with 3-methylcholanthrene (Conney *et al*, 1956). Klingenberg (1958) and Garfinkel (1958) were the first to identify a pigment which in reduced form exhibits an intense absorption at 450 nm after binding to carbon monoxide. The pigment was further characterized as a haemoprotein by Omura & Sato (1962, 1964) and they called it cytochrome P450 (pigment absorbing at 450 nm).

Over the next 20 years it became apparent that cytochrome P450 plays a crucial role in the metabolism of many endogenous and xenobiotic compounds (Conney, 1986), and that not one, but multiple forms of this monooxygenase are involved. At first, two major forms were characterized by its specific maximum absorption in the CO-binding assay, i.e. cytochrome P450 (inducible by phenobarbital) and P448 (inducible by 3-methylcholanthrene) (Alvares *et al*, 1967). Later Lu *et al* (1978) reported that cytochrome P450 fractions partially purified from livers from phenobarbital and 3-methylcholanthrene-treated rats markedly differed in catalytic activities compared to P450 fractions from untreated rats. Thereafter, many other forms of cytochrome P450 were purified, which resulted in the development of polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies to characterize the protein levels and specific enzyme activities. Subsequently, antibodies were used in the isolation and characterization of many P450 cDNAs and their genes.

The purification and sequencing of multiple P450 proteins in different laboratories (Cheng and Schenkman, 1982; Guengerich et al. 1982; Ryan et al. 1982; Ryan et al. 1984; Tamburini et al, 1984; Wrighton et al, 1985) resulted in numerous trivial names for the same P450 protein. In 1987 several authors proposed a standardized P450 gene nomenclature, based on the similarities between the amino acid coding sequences (Nebert et al, 1987). Much more different P450 forms were purified. While in 1987 a mere 31 different P450 genes were described, an updated list of 71 genes was presented only two vears later (Nebert et al, 1989). In October 1990 the "P450 superfamily" consisted of 154 different genes, which have been described in a total of 23 eukaryotes (including nine mammalian and one plant species) and seven prokaryotes (Nebert et al, 1991; Fig 1). Within the P450 superfamily genes are assigned to families and subfamilies. In general, within a single family, the P450 protein sequences are >40% identical. Within the same subfamily the mammalian P450 protein sequences are >55% identical, though the inclusion of genes of more distant species, e.g. trout 1A1 drops this value to >46%. An "orthologous gene" in two species refers to a gene of which isknown to correspond to an ancestral gene which existed before the evolutionary divergence of the two species. In several subfamilies (e.g. 2C) numerous species-specific changes in the genes have made orthologous assignment between species impossible; these "non-orthologous" genes within one subfamily are sequentially numbered. At the latest conference of Microsomal Drug Metabolism (Stockholm, 1990) R.W. Estabrook speculated that over 200 to 300 different genes will be identified. Parallel with the number of genes, an increasing list of reviews on this important enzyme system and its characteristics has been published.



THE CYTOCHROME P450 SUPERFAMILY

Fig. 1. The families of P450s as described by Nebert *et al* (1991). Assignment to a specific family is based on protein sequence similarity (within one gene family: >40% identical). The numbers in the brackets indicate the designated numbering for identified members of each family or subfamily. (Adapted from Estabrook *et al*, 1990).

2.2. Catalytic properties of mammalian cytochrome P450 enzymes

Of the 27 gene families so far described, 10 exist in all mammals. The mammalian P450s can be divided in P450 proteins mainly involved in xenobiotic metabolism (with often overlapping substrate specificity; families 1 to 3), and those involved in physiological metabolism i.e. the metabolism of fatty acids (family 4) and biosynthesis of sterols (exhibiting a high degree of regio- and stereospecificity; families 7, 11, 17, 19, 21, and 27).

P450s involved in physiological metabolism

The oldest cytochromes P450, evolutionary spoken, are the P450s involved in the metabolism of cholesterol (P450 7 and 11) and fatty-acids (P450 4), and those involved in the synthesis of steroids (P450 17, 19, 21, and 27). The biochemical regulation of steroidogenic cytochromes P450 is far more stringent because of the physiological importance of these steroid hormones. The different forms are distributed between mitochondria and endoplasmic reticulum and are located in a variety of tissues (Table 1). The mitochondrial P450s are distinct from the ones in the endoplasmic reticulum in that they collect electrons via adrenodoxin and adrenodoxin reductase (For reviews see Fevold, 1983; Jefcoate, 1986).

P450	Reaction ^a	Substrate	Tissues				
Mitochondria							
11A 11B 27	20,22-cleavage 11-β, 18-OH 18-OH 1α-OH 6-OH	cholesterol deoxycorticosterone corticosterone 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 cholesterol	adrenal, testis, ovary, placenta adrenal adrenal glomerulosa kidney liver				
Endoplasm	nic reticulum						
21 17 19 7 ? ? ?	21-OH 17α -OH aromatase 7α -OH 25-OH 12α -OH 25-OH 14α -OH	(17α-hydroxy)progesterone progesterone androgens cholesterol vitamin D dihydroxycholestane trihydroxycholestane dihydroanosterol	adrenal adrenal, testis ovary, placenta liver liver liver liver liver liver				

Table 1: Distribution of steroidogenic cytochromes P450 between mitochondria and endoplasmic reticulum.

^a OH, hydroxylation

(Adapted from Jefcoate, 1986).

Xenobiotic-inducible P450s

A clear physiological function has not been demonstrated for cytochrome P450s in families P450 1 through 4, except for the fatty acid w-hydroxylation by P450 4 (Gibson *et al*, 1982). In contrast, these P450 families are involved in the metabolism of various chemically different compounds and their catalytic activities can be markedly enhanced. Therefore, these P450s are of great interest in pharmacology and toxicology studies.

The multiple P450 forms are most thoroughly studied in the rat. Studies using systems of purified P450 proteins reconstituted with phospholipids and NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase (Guengerich *et al*, 1982) revealed that individual forms of P450 can exhibit "highly specific" and "less specific" catalytic activities towards several different substrates. For example, a single P450 form can possess a high K_m activity toward one or more substrates and a low K_m activity toward other substrates. Furthermore, a single substrate such as testosterone can be metabolized by several forms of P450 at different sites (Table 2).

Substrate	Reaction ^a	-	2		Cyt	ochron	ne P45	0 enzy	/me				
		1A1	1A2	2A1	2B1	2B2 nmol/m	2C6 nin/nmc	2C7 ol P450	2C11	2C12	2C13	2E1	3A1
benzphetamine	N-demethyl.	2.3	132.5	6.7	3.9	19.8	14.1	1.3	52.1	2.8	4.9	5.5	*
7-ethoxycoumarin	O-demethyl.	0.6	9.6	97.1	0.6	2.0	0.5	-	0.9	0.7	1.1	1.2	*
aniline	4-OH	-	1.8	1.0	9.6	-	- 1.0	-	- 1.5	-	-	12.7	*
nitrosodimethyl- amine	N-demethyl.	-	-	-	0.5	-	0.5	-	1.1	-	-	*	15.9
testosterone	7α-ΟΗ 16α-ΟΗ	20.9	- 9.1	-	-	- 0.8	-	- 0.8	- 7.9	-	-	-	-
	16β-OH	-	7.2	-	- 0.7	0.7	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	2α-OH	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	7.3	-	3.8	-	3.1

Table 2: Substrate selectivities of purified rat hepatic cytochromes P450

Adapted from Guengerich *et al* (1982), Conney (1986), Sonderfan *et al* (1987) and Levin (1990) and refs therein. * OH, hydroxylation. (-) activity < 0.5 nmol/min/nmol P450; (*) activity not determined.

Obviously, these studies using purified enzymes are informative with respect to the catalytic competence of a given form for a particular substrate, but they do not provide definitive information on the contribution of one or more enzymes to the metabolism of a substrate by intact microsomes, and certainly not in intact cells. Differences in $K_{n,n}$ lipid requirements, competition for reductase, membrane orientation, and contribution of other factors such as cytochrome b_5 can all be factors determining the ultimate activity. With the use of (inhibitory) monospecific antibodies several catalytic activities could bemore specifically subscribed to one or two P450 enzymes in microsomal preparations (Levin *et al*, 1987; Waxman, 1988). In this respect, excellent studies of Nakajima *et al* (1990) revealed that although a catalytic activity might be subscribed to one P450 form after induction of this form, e.g. 7-ethoxyresorufin O-deethylation by P450 1A1, in untreated rats, with only low expression of P450 1A1, this activity is catalysed by the constitutive P450 2C11 and 2C6.

2.3. Human P450s

The chemistry, regulation and biology of cytochromes P450 are most extensively studied in rat and mice. Human P450s have been studied only during the last ten years and they have been purified from human liver by several laboratories (Wang *et al*, 1983; Guengerich *et al*, 1986; Miles *et al*, 1988). Among the P450 superfamily rat and human orthologous genes have been found predominantly in the steroidogenic P450 families, i.e. 7, 21A, 21B, 17, 19, and 27 (Nebert *et al*, 1991). Throughout P450 families 2 to 4, however, the several genes are much more diverse. A list of rat and human P450s among P450 families 1 to 4, and their known characteristics substrates are given in Table 3.

P450 subfamily	rat	human	characteristic substrates	characteristics
1A	1 2	1 2	7-ethoxyresorufin phenacetin;	human 1A1 mainly extrahepatic
2A	1,2,3	6/7	testosterone (7α)	
2B	1,2,3	0//	7-pentoxyresorufin; testosterone (168)	
		6	?	
2C	6,7	0.0.40	0	
	11 12 13	8,9,10	S-mephenytoin testosterone (2α; 16α) testosterone (15β)	rat male specific rat female specific rat male specific
		17,18,19	?	Tat male specific
	22,23		?	
2D	1,2,3,4,5	6	debrisoquine debrisoquine	
2E	1	1	aniline, ethanol	
2F		1	?	human lung tissue
2G	1		?	rat olfactory tissue
ЗA	1,2		testosterone (6B; 15B)	,
		3,4,5	nifedipine, testosterone (6β); cortisol (6β)	
		7	?	human foetal livor
	9		?	rat olfactory tissuo
4A	1.2.3		lauric acid	Tat Unaciony lissue
	.,_,_	9	lauric acid	
4B	0	1	?	human lung tissue

Table 3: Rat and human P450 forms in the families 1, 2, 3 and 4.

(Obtained from Nebert and Gonzalez (1987) and Nebert et al (1991)).

A major problem studying human P450s is the large interindividual variability, due to either genetic differences or differences in diet and xenobiotic exposure. The enzymes P450 1A2, 3A (representing one or more proteins) and 2E1 are easily detectable in human liver (Wrighton *et al*, 1986; Wrighton *et al*, 1987; Waxman *et al*, 1988), but the immunochemically detectable levels can vary up to 10-fold. P450 1A1 is undetectable in most human livers (Wrighton *et al*, 1986), but the enzyme has been detected in the placenta of smokers (Sesardic *et al*, 1990).

Profound genetic differences exist in the expression of P450 2D and the associated 4-hydroxylation of debrisoquine. About 5% of the Caucasian population exhibits the "poor metabolizer" phenotype. At least 20 other drugs are now known to be metabolized by P450 2D (Wolff *et al*, 1985). Another human genetic polymorphism is found in the

expression of P450 2C proteins, associated with the hydroxylation of the anti-epileptic drug mephenytoin. The "poor-metabolizing" phenotype occurs with lowfrequency in Caucasians (*ca* 3%), but with considerably higher frequency (> 20%) in the Japanese population (Guengerich, 1989).

Only limited data are available concerning the regulation of human P450s. Cultures of human cells are increasingly providing adequate means to study the regulation of human cytochrome P450s (Cresteil *et al*, 1987; Donato *et al*, 1990; Morel *et al*, 1990).

3. Phase II enzymes

Many reactive intermediates formed via the cytochrome P450 system (and other phase I enzymes) can be further metabolized by phase II enzymes through conjugation with endogenous ligands, such as glucuronic acid, glutathione and sulphate. Similar to cytochromes P450, conjugating enzymes consist of enzyme families with distinct but overlapping substrate specificity.

UDP-glucuronyl transferases (GT, EC 2.4.1.17) form a multigene family of proteins that catalyses the transfer of UDP-glucuronic acid to a suitable acceptor molecule, forming the glucuronide conjugate (Burchell et al, 1987; Bock et al, 1987). Nine different GTs have been identified, of which six have been purified. Three of the transferases are more specific for the conjugation of endogenous substrates such as bilirubin (bilirubin-GT), steroid hormones (3α - and 17β -hydroxy steroid GTs) and estradiol (aromatic steroid-GT). Others are involved in the glucuronidation of several xenobiotics i.e. 4-nitrophenol-GT (GT1; 3-methylcholanthrene-inducible), GT2 (phenobarbital-inducible) and foetal phenol-GT. Glucuronide formation is quantitatively the most important form of conjugations of xenobiotics and endogenous compounds. The GT enzymes are mainly localized in the membrane of the smooth endoplasmic reticulum and are therefore ideally positioned to glucuronide the products of mixed function oxidase reactions. Hepatic glucuronide conjugates are often excreted in bile and thus released into the intestinal tract where they can be broken down to the parent compound by B-glucuronidase and possibly reabsorbed (enterohepatic circulation).

Glutathione S-transferases (GST, EC 2.5.1.18) exist in multiple forms that conjugate glutathione on the sulphur atom of cysteine to various electrophiles (Mannervik, 1985; Pickett and Lu, 1989; Coles and Ketterer, 1990). In addition, GSTs bind a variety of hydrophobic compounds such as haem, bilirubin and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons with high affinity and have been suggested to act as intracellular transport proteins (Mannervik, 1987). Moreover, GSTs have been shown to play a role in the transport of hormones to the cell nucleus. The GSTs are cytosolic proteins, with the exception of a microsomal form that has been identified in rodents. The enzymes are homodimers or heterodimers comprising at least seven subunits. Until now, evidence exist for the occurrence of more than 11 subunits in the rat and 7 subunits in human (Coles and Ketterer, 1990). The GSTs are classified into three different families, named alpha, mu, and pi, respectively (Table 4).

GSTs are widespread in nature and have been found in almost every rat and human tissue examined. The expression of GSTs in different tissues, however, is not uniform. For example, in rat liver subunits 1, 2, 3 and 4 are predominant, whereas in the lung, small intestine and placenta subunit 7 is the major form. Furthermore, it has been suggested that expression of subunit 7 is a common phenotypic expression of malignant transformation of cells, including malignant liver cells.

Glutathione S-transferases						
Class alpha	Class mu	Class pi				
rat 1-1	rat 3-3	rat 7-7				
1-2	3-4	human π				
2-2	4-4					
8-8	6-6					
human α	human µ					

Table 4:	Rat	and	human	glutathione	S-transferases
----------	-----	-----	-------	-------------	----------------

(From Mannervik et al, 1987).

To determine the catalytic activity of GSTs the most commonly used substrate is 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene (CDNB), since it is utilized well by most of the rat and human subunits. Although the products of GST-catalysed reactions are usually non-toxic, the formation of glutathione conjugate with certain compounds may cause cell injury. For instance, the glutathione conjugate with 1,2-dibromoethane can react directly with DNA forming an adduct that may be mutagenic. Another type of enhanced toxicity is exerted via metabolism of glutathione conjugates. The cysteine conjugates may be further metabolized by a renal enzyme (β -lyase) to a sulphur-containing reactive compound which can initiate injury in proximal renal tubular cells (Coles and Ketterer, 1990).

Sulfotransferases (ST; EC 2.8.2.1) are capable of the formation of sulphate monoesters by reaction of 3'-phosphoadenosine 5'-phosphosulphate (PAPS) with compounds bearing the hydroxyl group. The enzymes are also involved in the biosynthesis of steroids and heparin (Jakoby *et al*, 1980). Sulfotransferases are located in the cytosol. Most compounds that can be glucuronidated can also be sulfated and this leads to the possibility of competition for the substrate between the two pathways. In general sulphate conjugation predominates at low substrate conjugation due to the kinetics of the two reactions and the limited availability of inorganic sulphate, and hence of PAPS.

Epoxide hydrolases (EH; EC 3.3.2.3) are monomeric proteins important in the degradation of potentially reactive epoxides by the conjugation of water (Oesch, 1980; Timms et al. 1987). Three different forms have been identified in the endoplasmic reticulum and one in the cytosol. The detoxication of the reactive and highly toxic epoxides to dihydrodiols results, in many instances, in a detoxication, but can, in other instances, serve as a precursor of even more reactive dihydrodiol epoxides. For example, carcinogenic diol-epoxides are formed of benzo[a]pyrene after a cytochrome P450dependent formation to benzo[a]pyrene 7.8-oxide, a subsequent hydrolysis of the epoxide to (-)-7.8-dihvdrodiol and finally a second P450-dependent oxidation to (+)-anti-7,8-diol-9,10-epoxide (Gelboin, 1980). In addition to metabolizing epoxide metabolites of xenobiotics, epoxide hydrolases catalyse the hydration of endogenous epoxides, such as oestrogen and androgen epoxide, and cholesterol epoxides (Timms et al, 1987).

DT-diaphorase or NAD(P)H:(quinone-acceptor)oxidoreductase (DTD, EC 1.6.99.2) is another widely distributed enzyme that protects cells against the toxicity of quinones and their metabolic precursors (e.g. polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, benzene) (Ernster, 1967; Smart and Zannoni, 1984). As such, DTD is not a conjugation enzyme, but may be appropriately considered a phase II enzyme because it does not introduce new functional groups and is generally induced coordinately with other phase II enzymes (Prochaska *et al*, 1985).

4. Regulation of biotransformation enzymes

The expression of genes encoding enzymes can be regulated at several different levels e.g. transcription of DNA; processing, stabilization and transport of mRNA; translation of mRNA and enzyme function. The gene expression of biotransformation enzymes may be affected at different levels by several factors: For instance, intrinsic factors, such as sexe and age, which determine the expression of the "constitutive" forms of different biotransformation enzymes (Skett, 1988). Furthermore, selective expression of biotransformation enzymes is known to occur in the presence of disease: For example the selective expression of P450s in the case of diabetes and hypertension (Schenkman *et al*, 1989), and the selective expression of GST (class pi enzyme) in neoplastic tissues (Pickett and Lu, 1989). There are, on the other hand, exogenous factors which can also have a profound effect on biotransformation, especially those agents which induce drugmetabolizing enzymes.

4.1. Enzyme induction

"Induction" implies synthesis of new enzymatically active protein, but it is sometimes used more broadly (especially in older literature) to denote stimulation of enzyme activity. The induction of a specific P450 is associated with increased biosynthesis of the haemoprotein, which requires *de novo* synthesis of apoprotein, but not of haem, since the haem pool can usually meet the increased requirement (Padmanaban *et al*, 1989). There are, on the other hand, indications that haem can modulate the

transcription of P450 genes. For instance, inhibition of haem synthesis or stimulation of haem degradation blocks the induction of 2B mRNA by phenobarbital (Bhat and Padmanaban, 1988).

Induction of a P450 enzyme activity can be over 50-fold, whereas the induction of phase II enzymes is lower (up to *ca* 3 to 5-fold). Many compounds of widely diverse chemical structures are able to induce biotransformation enzymes. A list of inducers of various biotransformation enzymes is given in Table 5. Some of these compounds are widely used as "model inducers" for their specificity to induce one particular cytochrome P450 to very high levels. For example, treatment of rats with β -naphthoflavone or 3-methylcholanthrene results in an almost selective induction of P450 1A1 to very high levels. On the other hand, exposure of rats to the sedative drug phenobarbital results in very high levels of the P450 2B1 form, whereas the hypolipidaemic drug clofibrate enhances specifically P450 4A. In addition, compounds we are regularly exposed to, such as the persistent environmental contaminants PCDDs and PCBs (Safe *et al.*, 1985), and natural constituents in edible plants (indoles, dithiolthiones, thiocyanates, flavonoids) are potent inducers of biotransformation enzymes, too (Guengerich, 1984).

Class of compounds	Example	Use or occurrence
Drugs	phenobarbital and most barbiturates pregnenolone-16α-carbonitrile rifampicin triacetyloleandomycin clofibrate	sedative/hypnotic catatoxic steroid antibiotic antibiotic hypolipidaemic
Alcohols	ethanol	beverage, skin desinfectant
Flavones	β-naphthoflavone	synthetics, citrus fruits
Food additives	butylated hydroxyanisole (BHA) butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT) ethoxyquin	food antioxidants
Anutrients	isosafrole indoles	oils of nutmeg and cinnamon cruciferous vegetables
Halogenated hydrocarbons	2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo- <i>p</i> -dioxin 3,3',4,4'-tetrachlorobiphenyl 3,3',4,4',5,5'-hexabromobiphenyl	combustion product insulator capacitors/transformers flame retardant
Insecticides	DDT	agricultural pesticide
Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons	3-methylcholanthrene, benzo[a]pyrene chrysene, benzo[a]anthracene	combustion products, cigarette smoke, oil contaminants
Solvents	toluene and xylenes	solvents, cleaning agents and degreasers

Table 5: Inducers of biotransformation activities in animals.

(Adapted from Gibson and Skett, 1986).

In general, chemicals are not particularly selective in inducing cytochromes P450 or phase II enzymes. For example, phenobarbital can induce next to P450 2B1, at least three other cytochromes P450 (2B2, 2A and 3A) as well epoxide hydrolase, glutathione S-transferase, UDP-glucuronyl transferase, and other enzymes (Waxman and Walsh, 1982; Wolf *et al*, 1984; Burchell *et al*, 1987). Clofibrate is known to induce at least two cytochromes P450, UDP-glucuronyltransferase and epoxide hydrolase (Tamburini *et al*, 1984; Burchell *et al*, 1987; Timms *et al*, 1987).

4.2. Mechanism of induction

The phenomenon of induction of biotransformation enzymes has been known for several decades. Only in the past few years, however, the mechanisms which regulate the induction process have been beginning to understand at the molecular level. Induction has been found to be due to both transcriptional and/or posttranscriptional regulation (Whitlock, 1986; Nebert and Gonzalez, 1987; Gonzalez, 1989).

4.2.1. Transcriptional mechanisms of induction

3-Methylcholanthrene-inducible P450s: the Ah receptor

From all P450s the mechanism of induction of P450 1A1 is the best understood, mainly due to four fortuitous circumstances a) the polymorphism for 3-methylcholanthrene induction in mice, b) a responsive cell system, c) the potent inducing agent TCDD and d) the ability to select cell-lines defective in induction of benzo[a]pyrene hydroxylase activity. As a result it has been shown that the P450 1A1 inducer, such as TCDD. 3-methylcholanthrene or B-naphthoflavone binds with high affinity with an intracellular cytosolic receptor protein designated the aryl hydrocarbon (Ah) receptor. The inducer-receptor complex is then translocated to nuclear chromatin, leading to transcriptional activation of a number of genes, such as P450 1A1 and P450 1A2, glucuronyl transferase (GT1; Owens, 1977), DT-diaphorase (Kumaki et al. 1977) and glutathione S-transferase 1-1 (Pickett and Lu, 1989). The induction of this Ah receptor programme strikingly resembles the mechanism of action of steroid hormones (Evans, 1988). Utilizing recent techniques of molecular biology, xenobiotic regulatory elements (XREs) and drug regulatory elements (DREs) could be identified upstream from the promotor (P) region of the structural gene of P450 1A1 (Pickett and Lu, 1989; Bock et al, 1990; Fig. 2). According to the high degree of nucleotide similarity in three different species (rat, mouse and man), it has been suggested that XREs and DREs cluster in two regions, at -500 kb and at -1000 kb upstream from the structural gene. The regulatory elements at -500 kb may be involved in negative control of gene expression after binding of a trans-acting repressor gene product (X). The regulatory elements at -1000 kb appear to be involved in MC-type induction. It has been suggested that also several phase II enzymes can be co-induced with cytochrome P450 1A1. The induction of glutathione S-transferase 1-1 requires the presence of functional Ah receptors (Pickett and Lu, 1989). It is unknown whether the inducer-Ah receptor complex interacts directly with responsive elements or indirectly through another trans-acting regulatory gene product (Y; Fig 2). A similar mechanism as described for the co-induction of P450 and GST has been postulated for the co-induction of P450 1A1 with glucuronyl transferase (GT1), DT-diaphorase and P450 1A2 (Gonzalez et al, 1984).



Fig. 2: Hypothetical scheme for co-induction by polycyclic aromatics of P450 1A1 and of conjugating enzymes such as glutathione S-transferase subunit 1.

The Ah receptor binds planar aromatic hydrocarbons (Ah) with high affinity. This ligand-Ah receptor complex is translocated to nuclear chromatin where it interacts with positive regulatory elements (+) upstream from the promotor (P) of the structural genes for cytochrome P450 1A1 and GST subunit 1. In addition to positive regulatory elements a negative regulatory element (-) has also been recognized. It is still uncertain whether the ligand-Ah receptor complex interacts directly with regulatory elements (+) of GST subunit 1 or indirectly through a still hypothetical protein (Y) (Adapted from Pickett and Lu, 1989)

To date, every mammalian species examined contains the Ah receptor, although sometimes with markedly different affinities for their ligands (Nebert and Gonzalez, 1987; Whitlock, 1987). This receptor difference, which is indicated as Ah-responsive and Ah-nonresponsive animals, results in marked individual variation in the induction of P450 1A1 and other enzymes.

The transcriptional regulation via the Ah receptor is clearly not the only inductionmechanism, because several compounds (e.g. phenolic antioxidants) are known to induce glutathione S-transferase without the induction of P450 1A1 (Rushmore *et al*, 1990). Moreover, induction of glucuronyl transferase and DT-diaphorase are both also described to occur without co-induction of P450 1A1 (Burchell *et al*, 1987; Prochaska *et al*, 1985), indicating other regulatory mechanisms as well.

Phenobarbital-inducible genes and clofibrate-inducible genes

Treatment of rats with phenobarbital increases the expression of many genes including those coding for P450 2B1 and 2B2 (Atchinson and Adesnik, 1983), glucuronyl transferase (Bock *et al*, 1987), epoxide hydrolase and DT-diaphorase (Hardwick *et al*, 1983). To date, the mechanism of induction of the P450 2B family is still unknown.

Clofibrate also induces a battery of enzymes via transcriptional activation. The enzymes include P450 4A1 (Hardwick *et al*, 1987) and fatty acyl-CoA oxidase (Reddy *et al*, 1986). A receptor for clofibrate has been purified (Lalwani *et al*, 1987; Isseman and Green, 1990), but the exact regulatory mechanism has not been elucidated yet.

Steroid-inducible genes

Rat P450 3A1 proteins are induced by glucocorticoids, such as dexamethasone and pregnenolone 16α -carbonitrile. The induction is primarily an activation of gene transcription, but mRNA stabilization has also been reported (see 4.2.). It has been suggested that the glucocorticoid receptor which controls a variety of hepatic genes (e.g. the gene encoding tyrosine aminotransferase) is involved. The induction of P450 3A1, however, requires a 10-fold higher level of steroid than is needed to induce tyrosine aminotransferase (Schuetz *et al*, 1984). Moreover, certain steroids do not co-induce both P450 3A and tyrosine aminotransferase (Schuetz and Guzelian, 1984), indicating a different mechanism for the induction of P450 3A enzymes.

Phenobarbital induces two proteins in the P450 3A family: the constitutively expressed 3A2, but also 3A1 which is not expressed in untreated rats. The fact that only P450 3A1 is induced by steroids, suggests that there are different mechanisms involved for these different classes of inducers.

Constitutive P450 genes

During development several biotransformation enzymes are differentially expressed in the rat. Immediately after birth the protein levels of P450 2E and 2D are markedly enhanced (Song *et al*, 1986), whereas at the onset of puberty P450 2C6 and 2C7 are elevated (Waxman *et al*, 1985). The mechanism by which these genes are activated is not fully understood. Blood testosterone levels appear not to regulate these forms (Bandiera *et al*, 1986; Dannan *et al*, 1986).

On the other hand the male-specific P450 2C11 and the female-specific P450 2C12 are both responsive to physiological signals triggered during the period of sexual maturation. Both testosterone and growth hormone influence the regulation of these sex-specific P450 proteins. Testosterone does not act directly on the liver, but rather affects the pulsatile secretion of growth hormone, while adult females have more constant levels. Hypophysectomy reduces the expression of P450 2C11 or 2C12 in males and females, respectively. Periodic injections of growth hormone in males and continuous infusion of growth hormones in females reestablish the levels of these sex-specific P450s (Mode *et al*, 1989).

Growth hormone also plays a role in the suppression of some P450s. This explains the decline of several P450s (P450 2A, 2E, and 3A) during development, while these forms are at relatively high levels in the immature male and female rat (Schenkman *et al*, 1989). Moreover, P450 2B1 and 2B2 have been reported to be suppressed in both male and female rats by growth hormone (Yamazoe *et al*, 1987, Schuetz *et al*, 1990).

4.2.2. Posttranscriptional regulation

In addition to regulation of gene expression, several P450 forms are also regulated posttranscriptionally. Stabilization of P450 mRNA is reported for P450 1A2 (Gonzalez et al, 1984) and 3A2 (Watkins et al. 1987). The most profound example of posttranscriptional control, however, is the regulation of the P450 2E1 enzyme (Yang et al, 1990). This enzyme is induced under a variety of conditions, e.g. ethanol treatment, fasting and chemically-induced diabetes, without enhanced transcription of the 2E1 gene. Several studies suggest that the binding of inducers to 2E1 results in a protection of the enzyme against degradation. Furthermore, fasting causes an increase in 2E1 mRNA and protein. In this regard, it has been suggested that intracellular levels of acetone or other ketone bodies may play an important role in the regulation of P450 2E1 under normal physiological conditions (Miller and Yang, 1984).

5. Consequences of induction of biotransformation enzymes

Induction is generally considered as an adaptive response to the inducer itself often leading to increased elimination and detoxication of the inducer and other chemically related compounds (Breckenridge, 1987). However, induction may be a two-edged sword which sometimes can also lead to increased susceptibility to toxic compounds. Many biotransformation enzymes, in particular certain P450s, may generate chemically-reactive intermediates from relatively unreactive parent compounds. The balance between the bioactivation and inactivation routes can be markedly disturbed after exposure to inducing agents. This balance should not be simplified and divided between phase I and phase II enzymes only. Even among the P450s, substances can be detoxified by one form, while it is bioactivated by another. For example, the potent hepatocarcinogen aflatoxin B₁ is converted by P450 2C11 and 1A2 to the highly reactive intermediate, aflatoxin B₁-8,9-epoxide. The epoxide binds covalently to DNA, thereby causing an initiating event in carcinogenesis. In contrast, P450 1A1 convert aflatoxin B1 primarily to aflatoxin M₁, a much less potent carcinogen than the parent compound. Table 6 includes some carcinogens of which metabolism by individual P450s have been studied in more detail.

A major problem associated with these studies is the estimation of the fraction of total activity catalysed by a particular form of P450. Most studies involve inhibitors (antibodies, (non)competitive inhibitors), which are often not as selective as one would hope. Another problem is that the highly inducible P450s may not be relevant to bioactivation of procarcinogens in untreated animals (Guengerich, 1988).

Precarcinogen	P450s involved in bioactivation ^a	references
2-acetylaminofluorene aflatoxin B.	2B1, 1A2 2C11, 1A2	Holme <i>et al</i> , 1986 Ishii <i>et al</i> , 1986: Ramsdell
	,	and Eaton, 1990;
benzo[<i>a</i>]pyrene	1A1, 2B1	Robertson et al, 1983
7,12-dimethylbenz[a]- anthracene	2C6/11	Morrison <i>et al</i> , 1991
N,N-dimethylnitrosamine	2E1	Yang et al, 1990
IQ(2-amino-3-methylimidazo [4,5-f]quinoline	1A1, 1A2	Yamazoe et al, 1984
3-methylcholanthrene	1A1	Shimada and Nakamura, 1987
2-naphthylamine	1A2	Hammons et al, 1985

Table 6: Activation and inactivation of precarcinogens by rat P450-enzymes.

^a In some cases only a limited number of P450 enzymes have been studied. Adapted from Guengerich *et al*, 1988).

The advanced knowledge of the dual role of cytochrome P450s emphasize to study the effects of several, in particular daily ingested compounds (food compounds and persistent industrial chemicals) on the catalytic activities of selective cytochrome P450 and phase II enzymes. In this respect, one group of food compounds known to affect both biotransformation enzyme activities as well as the risk of carcinogenesis are glucosinolates in cruciferous vegetables.

6. Enzyme-inducing capacity of cruciferous vegetables

Cruciferous vegetables (cabbage, cauliflower, Brussels sprouts, broccoli) contain appreciable amounts of glucosinolates, which upon hydrolysis yield various substances, e.g. indoles, isothiocyanates, nitriles, thiocyanates, and goitrins (Fenwick and Heaney, 1983). Several studies reported the adverse effects on thyroid function following high consumption of cruciferous vegetables. In this respect, thiocyanates and goitrins have been shown to be goitrogenic, due to both inhibition of the production of thyroid hormone, as well as direct interference with the synthesis of thyroxine (Fenwick *et al*, 1983). Only part of these effects can be reversed by dietary iodine supplementation. In a recent clinical study, however, no goitrogenic effects could be observed after daily consumption of progoitrin rich Brussels sprouts (McMillan *et al*, 1986).

Apart from the possible effects on thyroid function, cruciferous vegetables are known to affect the carcinogenic process. Epidemiological evidence (Manousos *et al*, 1971; Graham *et al*, 1978; Haenszel *et al*, 1980; Graham, 1983) suggested that a frequent consumption of cruciferous vegetables was associated with a decreased risk of tumour formation in the gastro-intestinal tract in humans. In 1982 the National Research Council

in its publication, Diet, Nutrition and Cancer (1982) recommended increased consumption of cruciferous vegetables in an effort to decrease the risk of cancer in human populations. The exact mechanism of the protective effect of these vegetables, however, was unknown. One likely explanation is a change in the metabolism of procarcinogens. Several compounds in cruciferous vegetables are known to induce biotransformation activities when fed to rats, i.e. glucosinolates (Chang and Bjeldanes, 1985; McDanell et al, 1988), but also flavonoids (Vernet and Siess, 1986) and dithiolthiones (Ansher et al, 1986).

The levels of glucosinolates in different cruciferous vegetables vary widely depending on species, variety, cultivation conditions etc. (Table 7). The mean daily intake of total glucosinolates in the United Kingdom has been estimated to be ca 46 and 29 mg/person from fresh and cooked sources, respectively (Sones et al, 1984). The mean daily intake of glucobrassicin (indolylmethyl glucosinolate) herein has been estimated to be 12.5 mg/person (from fresh sources) and 7 mg/person from cooked sources.

Table 7. Levels of individual glucosinolates in cruciferous vegetables							
Glucosinolate content (mg/100 g fresh weight)							
Glucosinolate	Cabbage	Cauliflower	Brussels sprouts				
sinigrin gluconapin progoitrin glucoiberin glucobrassicin neoqlucobrassicin	7.4 - 64.6 0.0 - 5.3 0.8 - 12.6 2.3 -129.0 4.5 - 97.1 0.0 - 10.1	0.5 - 62.7 0.0 - 2.8 0.0 - 10.1 0.6 - 41.9 6.6 - 78.9 0.6 - 16 5	1.6 - 111.4 2.5 - 90.9 12.5 - 129.6 0.0 - 71.1 26.4 - 158.6 1.0 - 17.7				

(From Sones et al, 1984).

The metabolites of indolylmethyl glucosinolate (i.e. indole-3-carbinol, indole-3-acetonitrile and 3,3'-diindolylmethane) are known to be the most potent inducers of monooxygenase activities known so far (for review see McDanell et al, 1988; Fig. 3). The metabolites are formed during storage and processing of the vegetables by the action of the plant enzyme myrosinase (thioglucoside glucohydrolase E.C. 3.2.3.1).

In rats, but also in man and mice, feeding a diet containing either cruciferous vegetables or the isolated constituent, indole-3-carbinol, results in changes in biotransformation enzyme activities. Moreover, in several of these studies using laboratory animals a decreased chemically induced-tumorigenesis was observed in several organs (Wattenberg and Loub, 1978; Boyd et al, 1982; Wattenberg et al, 1986). On the other hand, some studies reported enhanced tumorigenesis e.g. when cabbage or indole-3carbinol was fed after the pro-carcinogen (Srisangnam et al, 1980; Pence et al, 1985; Birt

et al, 1987). Despite the large amount of studies on changes in biotransformation activities, little knowledge is available of the effects of cruciferous vegetables and indole-3-carbinol on specific cytochrome P450s in liver and small intestine.



Fig. 3. Breakdown of indolylmethyl glucosinolate by myrosinase (from McDanell et al, 1988).

7. In vitro models: primary cultures of hepatocytes

Most bioassays concerning induction studies involve *in vivo* exposure of laboratory animals (mainly rodents) to the specific chemical. Per chemical and concentration a minimal of three animals is needed to test the effects on biotransformation activities. For reasons of reduction in the number of animals, refinement of the bioassay and replacement of *in vivo* studies, *in vitro* models with primary cultures of hepatocytes may offer a good alternative for at least part of this animal studies.

The applicability of hepatocytes for pharmacological and toxicological studies has been reviewed by Moldeus *et al* (1987), Guillouzo (1986), Chenery (1988) and Paine (1990). Primary hepatocyte cultures as an *in vitro* model has several advantages and disadvantages. Cells from one liver can be divided over a large number of experimental units, which can be used for studying many different parameters all with one homologous batch of cells. The culture conditions of the cells are well defined and can be changed dependent of the studied problem. In comparison with cellular fractions like microsomes, the intact cell retains many biological system factors: uptake and intracellular distribution of the substrate; generation of cofactors and cosubstrates; interrelationship between metabolic pathways involved in drug metabolism; and competition between endogenous and exogenous substrates (Moldeus, 1987).

However, a major problem of hepatocytes is the rapid loss of metabolic activity during culture, especially those of cytochrome P450. Many researchers have tried to prevent this loss by the use of media supplemented with either certain hormones (Decad *et al*, 1977) or ligands such as metyrapone (Paine, 1990), or culturing hepatocytes in a co-culture with epithelial cells (Guillouzo, 1986) or on extracellular membranes (Schuetz *et al*, 1988). Although some were partly successful to stabilize the total cytochrome P450 level, selective changes were observed in the pattern of the different P450 enzymes during culture. One of the consequences of the rapid loss of cytochrome P450 and its associated catalytic activities is the high demand on the sensitivity and detection limits of several biochemical determinations, when using only a limited amount of cells.

For many years cultured hepatocytes are widely used as a model system in *in vitro* toxicology for the study of e.g. the role of biotransformation in the toxicity of a compound. The cells can be obtained from a number of species, including rat, hamster, rabbit, chicken, etc. There is also limited experience with human liver cells in culture. The use of hepatocytes obtained from different species may lead to a better understanding of of species differences in the toxicity of xenobiotics, thus improving interspecies extrapolation (Blaauboer *et al*, 1990).

In vitro test systems can be divided in three different types: i.e. screening test, adjunct tests and replacement tests (Balls *et al*, 1990). Screening tests are defined to be simple, rapid and inexpensive for use in making preliminary decisions or in setting priorities among large groups of chemicals for selection of further testing, either with intact animals or more sophisticated *in vitro* tests. Adjunct tests are tests conducted in conjunction with animal tests to evaluate toxicity, to elucidate mechanisms of toxicity or to further investigate specific observations without the need to perform additional animal

studies. **Replacement tests** are tests developed with the intent of replacing existing *in vivo* or *in vitro* tests, in all respects, including regulatory acceptance.

Due to the loss of some physiological functions with culture time, such as the decline of biotransformation activities, hepatocyte cultures to date are restricted in their use as a full replacement for *in vivo* situation. On the other hand, several studies indicate that primary cultures of hepatocytes retain their capacity to respond to some P450 inducers by increasing the synthesis of specific mRNAs and proteins and by enhancing associated activities (Elshourbagy *et al*, 1981; Newman and Guzelian, 1982; Steward *et al*, 1985; Bars *et al*, 1989), although the mechanism of gene expression may be on a different level *in vitro* compared to *in vivo* (Silver and Krauter, 1988; Pasco *et al*, 1988). In many of these studies the researchers were focused on the induction of one or a limited number of P450s. Advanced knowledge on the specificity of individual P450 forms towards substrates, now enhances the possibility to determine the P450 profile in more detail.

8. Scope of this thesis

The investigations described in this thesis are primarily concerned with the application of primary cultures of hepatocytes in the determination of the induction potential of cytochrome P450 enzymes. The main objective herein was not to elucidate the mechanism of induction at a molecular level, but to study the changes in P450 dependent activities.

In the first part of the study, methods were developed to determine several P450dependent activities directly in intact hepatocytes (chapter 2) and the effects of modelinducers on changes in P450-dependent activities in cultured rat hepatocytes (*in vitro*) were compared to the changes in the liver from living animals (*in vivo*) treated with the same model inducers (chapter 3).

In the second part (chapter 4, 5, 6 and 7) both *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies are complementarily used to study the enzyme-inducing capacity of Brussels sprouts and more specifically some breakdown products of indole-glucosinolates. Two *in vivo* studies were performed to study time- and dose-related effects of Brussels sprouts and indole-3-carbinol on specific cytochrome P450s as well as phase II enzymes in liver and small intestine of the rat (Chapter 4 and 5). To elucidate which indole metabolite might be responsible for the changes in biotransformation enzymes, *in vitro* studies were used complementarily to these *in vivo* experiments. Regarding the difference in effects of indole-3-carbinol *in vivo* with *in vitro*, special attention was paid to the formation and identification of acid condensation products formed out of indole-3-carbinol in the acid environment of the stomach (chapter 6). Finally, the ability of these compounds to affect several biotransformation enzymes was studied *in vitro* using both rat and monkey hepatocytes (chapter 7). In chapter 8 the results presented in this thesis are discussed.

References

- Ahr HJ, King LJ, Nastainczyk W and Ullrich V, The mechanism of reductive dehalogenation of halothane by liver cytochrome P450. *Biochem Pharmacol* 57: 383-390, 1982.
- Alvares AP, Schilling G, Levin W and Kuntzman R, Studies on the induction of CO-binding pigments in liver microsomes by phenobarbital and 3-methylcholanthrene. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 29: 521-526, 1967.
- Anders MW, Metabolism of drugs by the kidney, Kidney Int 18: 636-647, 1980.
- Ansher SS, Dolan P and Bueding E, Biochemical effects of dithiolthiones. Fd Chem Tox 24: 405-415, 1986.

Atchinson M and Adesnik M, A cytochrome P-450 multigene family: characterization of a gene activated by phenobarbital administration. *J Biol Chem* **258**: 11285-11295, 1983.

- Balls M, Blaauboer B, Brusick D, Frazier J, Lamb D, Pemberton M, Reinhardt C, Robertfroid M, Rosenkranz H, Schmid B, Spielman H, Stammati AL and Walum E, Report and recommendations of the CAAT/ERGATT workshop on the validation of toxicity test procedures. *ATLA* 18: 313-337, 1990.
- Bandiera S, Ryan DE, Levin W and Thomas PE, Age- and sex-related expression of cytochromes P-450f and P-450g in rat liver. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 248: 658-676, 1981.
- Bars RG, Mitchell AM, Wolf CR and Elcombe CR, Induction of cytochrome P-450 in cultured rat hepatocytes: The heterogenous localization of specific isoenzymes using immunochemistry. *Biochem J* 262: 151-158, 1989.
- Bhat G and Padmanaban G, Heme is a positive regulator of cytochrome P-450 gene transcription. Arch Biochem Biophys 264: 584-590, 1988.
- Birt DF, Pelling JC, Pour PM, Tibbels MG, Schweikert L and Bresnick E, Enhanced pancreatic and skin tumorigenesis in cabbage-fed hamsters and mice. *Carcinogenesis* 8: 913-917, 1987.
- Blaauboer BJ, Wortelboer HM and Mennes WC, The use of liver cell cultures derived from different mammalian species in *in vitro* toxicological studies: implementation in extrapolation models? *ATLA* 18: 251-258, 1990.
- Bladeren van PJ, Bruggeman IM, Jongen WMF, Scheffer AH and Temmink JHM, The role of conjugating enzymes in toxic metabolite formation. In *Drug metabolism: from molecules to man*, Benford DJ, Bridges JW and Gibson GG (Eds.), pp. 151-170, Taylor and Francis, London, 1987.
- Bock KW, Lilienblum W, Fischer G, Schirmer G and Bock-Hennig BS, Induction and inhibition of conjugating enzymes with emphasis on UDP-glucuronyltransferases. *Pharmac Ther* 33: 23-27, 1987.
- Bock KW, Lipp H-P and Bock-Hennig BS, Induction of drug-metabolizing enzymes by xenobiotics. *Xenobiotica* 20: 1101-1111, 1990.
- Boyd JN, Babish JG and Stoewsand, Modification by beet and cabbage diets of aflatoxin B_1 -induced rat plasma α -foetoprotein elevation, hepatic tumorigenesis, and mutagenicity of urine. *Fd Chem Tox* **20**: 47-52, 1982.
- Breckenridge A, Enzyme induction in humans. Clinical aspects-an overview. *Pharmac Ther* 33: 95-99, 1987.
- Burchell B, Jackson MR, Coughtrie MWH, Harding D, Wilson S and Bend JR, Molecular characterization of hepatic UDP-glucuronyl transferases. In *Drug metabolism: from molecules to man.* Benford D, Bridges JW and Gibson GG (Eds.), pp. 40-54, Taylor and Francis, London, 1987.
- Chang Y and Bjeldanes LF, Effects of dietary R-goitrin on hepatic and intestinal glutathione S-transferase, microsomal epoxide hydratase and ethoxycoumarin O-deethylase activities in the rat. *Fd Chem Tox* 23: 905-909, 1985.
- Chenery RJ, The utility of hepatocytes in drug metabolism studies. In Progress in Drug Metabolism. Gibson GG (Ed.), Vol 11, pp. 217-265, Taylor and Francis, London, 1988.
- Cheng K-C and Schenkman JB, Purification and characterization of two constitutive forms of rat liver microsomal cytochrome P-450. *J Biol Chem* 257: 2378-2385, 1982.
- Coles B and Ketterer B, The role of glutathione and glutathione transferases in chemical carcinogenesis. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol, 25: 47-70, 1990.

Conney AH, Miller EC and Miller JA, The metabolism of methylated aminoazo dyes. V. Evidence for induction of enzyme synthesis in the rat by 3-methylcholanthrene. *Cancer Res* 16: 450-459, 1956.

Conney AH, Induction of microsomal cytochrome P-450 enzymes. Life Sci 39: 2493-2518, 1986.

- Cresteil T, Jaiswal AK and Eisen HJ, Transcriptional control of human cytochrome P₁-450 gene expression by 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin in human tissue culture cell lines. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **253**: 233-240, 1987.
- Dannan GH, Guengerich FP and Waxman DJ, Hormonal regulation of rat liver microsomal enzymes: role of gonadal steroids in programming, maintenance, and suppression of χ^4 -steroid 5 α -reductase, flavin-containing monooxygenase, and sex-specific cytochromes P-450. *J Biol Chem* **261**: 10725-10735, 1986.
- Decad GM, Hsieh DPH, Byard JL, Maintenance of cytochrome P-450 and metabolism of aflatoxin B_1 in primary hepatocyte cultures. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **78**: 279-287, 1987.
- Dislerath LM, Reilly PEB, Martin MV, Davis GG, Wikinson G and Guengerich FP, Purification and characterization of the human liver cytochrome P-450 involved in debrisoquine 4-hydroxylation and phenacetin O-deethylation, two prototypes for genetic polymorphism in oxidative drug metabolism. *J Biol Chem* 260: 9057-9067, 1985.
- Donato MT, Gómez-Lechón and Castell JV, Effect of xenobiotics on monooxygenase activities in cultured human hepatocytes. *Biochem Pharmacol* 39: 1321-1326, 1990.
- Eling TE, Thompson DC, Foureman GL, Curtis JF and Hughes MF, Prostaglandin H synthase and xenobiotic oxidation. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **30**: 1-45, 1990.
- Elshourbagy NA, Barwick JL and Guzelian PS, Induction of cytochrome P450 by pregnenolone 16α -carbonitrile in primary monolayer cultures of adult rat hepatocytes and in cell-free translation systems. *J Biol Chem* **256**: 6060-6068, 1981.
- Ernster L, DT Diaphorase. Methods Enzymol 10: 309-317, 1967.
- Estabrook RW, Mason IA, Simpson ER, Peterson JA and Waterman MR, The heterologous expression of the cytochrome P450: a new approach for the study of enzymatic activities and regulation. *Adv Enzym Regulat* **31**: 365-383, 1991.
- Evans RM, The steroid and thyroid hormone receptor superfamily. Science 240: 889-895, 1988.
- Fenwick G and Heaney RK, Glucosinolates and their beak-down products in cruciferous crops, foods and feeding stuffs. *Fd Chem* 11: 249-271, 1983.
- Fenwick G, Heaney RK and Mullin WJ, Glucosinolates and their breakdown products in food and food plants. CRC Crit Rev Fd Sci Nutr 18: 123-201, 1983.
- Fevold HR, Regulation of the adrenal and gonadal microsomal mixed function oxygenases of steroid hormone biosynthesis. Ann Rev Physiol 45: 19-36, 1987.
- Garfinkel D, Studies on pig liver microsomes. 1. Enzymic and pigment composition of different microsomal fractions. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 77: 493-509, 1958.
- Gelboin HV, Benzo[a]pyrene metabolism, activation, and carcinogenesis: role and regulation of mixed function oxidases and related enzymes. *Physiol Rev* 60: 1107-1166, 1980.
- Gibson GG, Orton TC and Tamburini PP, Cytochrome P-450 induction by clofibrate. Purification and properties of a hepatic cytochrome P-450 relatively specific for the 12- and 11-hydroxylation of dodecanoic acid (lauric acid). *Biochem J* 203: 161-168, 1982.

Gibson GG and Skett P, Introduction to Drug Metabolism, Chapman and Hall, London, 1986.

- Gonzalez FJ, The molecular biology of cytochrome P450s. Pharmacol Rev 40: 243-288, 1989.
- Gonzalez FJ, Tukey RH and Nebert DW, Structural gene products of the *Ah* locus. Transcriptional regulation of cytochrome P_1 -450 and P_3 -450 mRNA levels by 3-methylcholanthrene. *Mol Pharmacol* 26: 117-121, 1984.
- Graham S, Results of case-control studies of diet and cancer in Buffalo, New York. *Cancer Res (suppl)* 43: 2409s-2413s, 1983.
- Graham S, Dyal H, Swanson M, Mittelman A and Wilkinson G, Diet in the epidemiology of cancer of the colon and rectum. J Natl Cancer Inst 61: 709-714, 1978.

Guengerich FP, Epoxide hydrolase: properties and metabolic roles. Rev Biochem Toxicol 4: 5-30, 1982

Guengerich FP, Effects of nutritive factors on metabolic processes involving bioactivation and detoxication of chemicals. Ann Rev Nutr 4: 207-231, 1984.

- Guengerich FP, Roles of cytochrome P-450 enzymes in chemical carcinogenesis and cancer chemotherapy. *Cancer Res* 48: 2946-2954, 1988.
- Guengerich FP, Polymorphism of cytochrome P-450 in humans. Trends in Pharmacol Sci 10: 107-109, 1989.
- Guengerich FP, Enzymatic oxidation of xenobiotic chemicals. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol 25: 97-153, 1990.
- Guengerich FP, Dannan GA, Wright ST, Martin MV and Kaminsky LS, Purification and characterization of liver microsomal cytochrome P-450: electrophoretic, spectral, catalytic, and immunochemical properties and inducibility of eight isoenzymes isolated from rats treated with phenobarbital or β -naphthoflavone. *Biochem* 21: 6019-6030, 1982.
- Guengerich FP, Martin MV, Beaune PH, Kremers P, Wolff T and Waxman DJ, Characterization of rat and human liver microsomal cytochrome P-450 forms involved in nifedipine oxidation, a prototype for genetic polymorphism in oxidative drug metabolism. *J Biol Chem* 261: 5051-5060, 1986.
- Guillouzo A, Use of isolated and cultured hepatocytes for xenobiotica metabolism and cytotoxicity studies. In *Isolated and cultured hepatocytes* Guillouzo G and Guguen-Guillouzo C, Eds. pp. 313-332, John Libbey, Paris, 1986.
- Hammons GJ, Guengerich FP, Weis CC, Beland FA and Kadlubar FF, Metabolic oxidation of carcinogenic arylamines by rat, dog, and human hepatic microsomes and by purified flavin-containing and cytochrome P-450 monooxygenases. *Cancer Res* **45**: 3578-35585, 1985.
- Haenszel W, Locke FB and Segi M, A case-control study of large bowel cancer in Japan. J Natl Cancer Inst 64: 17-22, 1980.
- Hardwick J, Gonzalez FJ and Kasper CB, Transcriptional regulation of rat liver epoxide, NADPHcytochrome P-450 oxidoreductase, and cytochrome P-450b genes by phenobarbital. J Biol Chem, 258: 8081-8085, 1983.
- Hoensch HP and Schwenk M, Intestinal absorption and metabolism of xenobiotics in humans, In Intestinal Toxicology, Schiller CM (Ed.), pp. 169-192, Raven Press, New York, 1984.
- Holme JA, Søderlund, Christensen T, Trygg B and Bjørnstad C, Modulation of cytotoxic and genotoxic effects of 2-acetylaminofluorene in rat and hamster hepatocytes by 3-methylcholanthrene pre-treatment. *Carcinogenesis* 7: 1561-1567, 1986.
- Ingelman-Sundberg M, Cytochrome P-450 organization and membrane interactions. In Cytochrome P-450: Structure, mechanism, and biochemistry, Ortiz de Montellano PR (Ed.), pp. 119-160, Plenum Press, London, 1986.
- Ishii K, Maeda K, Kamataki T and Kato R, Mutagenic activation of aflatoxin B₁ by several forms of purified cytochrome P-450. *Mutat Res* 174: 85-88, 1986.
- Issemann I and Green S, Activation of a member of the steroid hormone receptor superfamily by peroxisome proliferators. *Nature* 347: 645-650, 1990.
- Jakoby WB, Enzymatic Basis of Detoxication Vol I., Academic Press, London, 1980.
- Jakoby WB, Sekura RD, Lyon ES, Marcus CJ and Wang J-L, Sulfotransferases. In *Enzymatic Basis of Detoxication Vol.II*, WB Jakoby (Ed.), pp. 199-228. Academic Press, London, 1980.
- Jefcoate CR, Cytochrome P-450 enzymes in sterol biosynthesis and metabolism. In Cytochrome P-450: Structure, mechanism, and biochemistry, Ortiz de Montellano PR (Ed.), pp. 387-428. Plenum Press, London, 1986.

Klingenberg M, Pigments of rat liver microsomes. Arch Biochem Biophys 75: 376-386, 1958.

- Kramer WG, Gross DR and Medlock C, Contribution of the lung to total body clearance of meperidine in the dog. J Pharm Sci 74: 569-571, 1985.
- Kumaki K, Jensen NM, Shire JGM and Nebert DW, Genetic differences in induction of cytosol reduced-NAD(P)H:menadione oxidoreductase and microsomal aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase in the mouse. *J Biol Chem* 252: 157, 1977.
- Lalwani ND, Fahl WE and Reddy JK, Detection of a nafenopin-binding protein in rat liver cytosol associated with the induction of peroxisome proliferation by hypolipidemic compounds from human liver. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **116**: 388-393, 1983.

Levin W, Functional diversity of hepatic cytochromes P-450. Drug Metab Disp 18: 824-830, 1990.

Levin W, Thomas PE, Ryan DE and Wood A, Isozyme specificity of testosterone 7α -hydroxylation in rat hepatic microsomes: is cytochrome P-450a the sole catalyst? *Arch Biochem Biophys* **258**: 630-635, 1987

Lu AYH and West SB, Reconstituted mammalian mixed function oxidases: requirements, specificities and other properties. *Pharmacol Ther* **2**: 337-358, 1978.

MacDonald TL, Chemical mechanism of halocarbon metabolism. *CRC Crit Rev Toxicol* **11**: 85-120, 1982. Mannervik B, The isoenzymes of glutathione transferase. *Adv Enzymol* **57**: 357-417, 1985.

- Manousos O, Day NE, Trichopoulos D, Gerovassilis F, Tzonou A and Poluchronopoulou A, Diet and colorectal cancer: a case-control study in Greece. Int J Cancer 32: 1-5, 1971.
- McDanell R, McLean AEM, Hanley AB, Heaney RK and Fenwick G, Chemical and biological properties of indole glucosinolates (glucobrassicins): a review. *Fd Chem Toxic* 26: 59-70, 1988.
- McMillan M, Spinks EA and Fenwick G, Preliminary observations on the effect of dietary Brussels sprouts on thyroid function. *Hum Toxicol* 5: 15-20, 1986.
- Miles JS, Spurr NK, Gough AC, Jowett T, McLaren AW, Brook JD and Wolf CR, A novel human cytochrome P450 gene (P450IIB): chromosomal localization and evidence for alternative splicing. *Nucl Acids Res* 16: 5783-5795, 1988.
- Miller KW and Yang CS, Studies on the mechanism of induction of N-nitrosodimethylamine demethylase by fasting, acetone, and ethanol. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **229**: 483-491, 1984.
- Mode A, Wiersma-Larsson E, Ström A, Zaphiropoulos PG and Gustafsson JA, A dual role of growth hormone as a feminizing and masculizing factor in the control of sex-specific cytochrome P-450 isozymes in rat liver. *J Endocrinol* 120: 311-317, 1989.
- Moldeus P, Comparison of model systems for metabolism. In *Drug metabolism: from molecules to man*. Benford D, Bridges JW and Gibson GG (Eds.), pp. 309-316, Taylor and Francis, London, 1987.
- Morel F, Beaune PH, Ratanasavanh D, Flinois JP, Yang CS, Guengerich FP and Guillouzo A, Expression of cytochrome P-450 enzymes in cultured human hepatocytes. *Eur J Biochem* 191: 437-444, 1990.
- Morrison VM, Burnett AK and Craft JA, Metabolism of 7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene in hepatic microsomal membranes from rat treated with isoenzyme-selective inducers of cytochromes P450. *Biochem Pharmacol* **41**: 1505-1512, 1991.
- Nakajima T, Elovaara E, Park SS, Gelboin HV, Hietanen E and Vainio H, Monoclonal antibody-directed characterization of benzene, ethoxyresorufin and pentoxyresorufin metabolism in rat liver microsomes. *Biochem Pharmacol* 40: 1255-1261, 1990
- National Research Council, Drug, Nutrition and Cancer, pp. 15-19, National Academy Press, Washington, 1982.
- Nebert DW, Adesnik M, Coon MJ, Estabrook RW, Gonzalez FJ, Guengerich FP, Gunsalus IC, Johnson EF, Kemper B, Levin W, Phillips IR, Sato R and Waterman MR, The P450 gene superfamily: recommended nomenclature. *DNA* 6: 1-11, 1987.
- Nebert DW and Gonzalez FJ, P450 genes: structure, evolution, and regulation. Ann Rev Biochem 56: 943-993, 1987.
- Nebert DW, Nelson DR, Adesnik M, Coon MJ, Estabrook RW, Gonzalez FJ, Guengerich FP, Gunsalus IC, Johnson EF, Kemper B, Levin W, Phillips IR, Sato R and Waterman MR, The P450 superfamily: updating and listing of all genes and recommended nomenclature for the chromosomal loci. *DNA* 8: 1-13, 1989.
- Nebert DW, Nelson DR, Coon MJ, Estabrook RW, Feyereisen R, Fujii-Kuriyama Y, Gonzalez FJ, Guengerich FP, Gunsalus IC, Johnson EF, Loper JC, Sato R, Waterman MR and Waxman DJ, The P450 superfamily: update on new sequences, gene mapping, and recommended nomenclature. *DNA Cell Biol* 10: 1-14, 1991.
- Newman S and Guzelian PS, Stimulation of de novo synthesis of cytochrome P450 by phenobarbital in primary non proliferating cultures of adult rat hepatocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **79**: 2922-2926, 1982.
- Noonan PK and Wester RC, Cutaneous biotransformation and some pharmacological and toxicological implications. In *Dermatoxicology*. Marzulli FN and Maibach HI (Eds.), pp. 71-90, Hemisphere Publishing Cooperation, New York, 1983.

- Noordhoek J, Systemic and presystemic drug metabolism in intestinal epithelium. In *Topics in Pharmaceutical Science*, Breimer DD and Speiser P (Eds.), pp. 457-469, Elsevier Science Publishers BV, Amsterdam, 1987.
- Oesch F, Microsomal epoxide hydrolase. In *Enzymatic Basis of Detoxication Vol.II*, WB Jakoby (Ed.), pp. 277-290. Academic Press, London, 1980.
- Omura T and Sato R, A new cytochrome in liver microsomes. J Biol Chem 237: 1375-1376, 1962.
- Omura T and Sato R, The carbon monoxide-binding pigment of liver microsomes. I. Evidence for its hemoprotein nature. J Biol Chem 239: 2370-2378, 1964.
- Ortiz de Montellano PR, Oxygen activation and transfer. In Cytochrome P-450: Structure, mechanism, and biochemistry, Ortiz de Montellano PR (Ed.), pp. 217-271. Plenum Press, London, 1986.
- Owens ID, Genetic regulation of UDP-glucuronyltransferase induction by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon compounds in mice. J Biol Chem 252: 2827-2833, 1977.
- Padmanaban G, Venkateswar V and Rangarajan PN, Haem as a multifunctional regulator, Trends in Biochem Sci 14: 492-496, 1989.
- Paine AJ, The maintenance of cytochrome P450 in rat hepatocyte culture: some applications of liver cell cultures to the study of drug metabolism, toxicity and the induction of the P-450 system. *Chem-Biol Int* **74:** 1-31, 1990.
- Pasco DS, Boyum KW, Merchant SN, Chalberg SC and Fagan JB, Transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation of the genes encoding cytochromes P-450c and P-450d *in vivo* and in primary hepatocyte cultures. *J Biol Chem* 263: 8671-8676, 1988.
- Pickett CB and Lu AYH, Glutathione S-transferases: gene structure, regulation, and biological function. Ann Rev Biochem 58: 743-764, 1989.
- Prochaska HJ, De Long MJ and Talalay P, On the mechanisms of induction of cancer-protective enzymes: a unifying proposal. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 82: 8232-8236, 1985.
- Ramsdell HS and Eaton DL, Species susceptibility to aflatoxin B₁ carcinogenesis: comparative kinetics of microsomal biotransformation. *Cancer Res* **50**: 615-620, 1990.
- Reddy JK, Goel SK, Nemali MR, Carrino JJ. Lafler TG, Reddy MK, Sperbeck SJ, Osumi T, Hashimoto T, Lalwani ND and Rao MS, Transcriptional regulation of peroxisomal fatty acyl-CoA oxidase and enoyl-CoA hydratase/3-hydroxy-CoA dehydrogenase in rat liver by peroxisome proliferators. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 83: 1747-1751, 1986.
- Robertson IGC, Zeiger E and Goldstein JA, Specificity of rat liver cytochrome P-450 isozymes in the mutagenic activation of benzo[a]pyrene, aromatic amines and aflatoxin B₁. *Carcinogenesis* 4: 93-96, 1983.
- Rushmore TR, Favreau LV and Pickett CB, Regulation of glutathione S-transferase and quinone reductase gene expression. In *Drug Metabolizing Enzymes: genetics, regulation and toxicology*. Ingelman-Sundberg M, Gustafsson JA and Orrenius S (Eds.) Proceedings of the VIIIth International Symposium on microsomes and drug oxidations, Stockholm, 1990.
- Ryan DE, Thomas PE, Reik LM and Levin W, Purification, characterization and regulation of five rat hepatic microsomal cytochrome P-450 isoenzymes. *Xenobiotica* 12: 727-744, 1982.
- Ryan DE, Iida S, Wood AW, Thomas PE, Lieber CS and Levin W, Characterization of three highly purified cytochromes P-450 from hepatic microsomes of adult male rats. *J Biol Chem* **259**: 1239-1250, 1984.
- Safe S, Bandiera S, Sawyer T, Zmudzka B, Mason G, Romkes M, Denomme MA, Sparling J, Okey AB and Fujita T, Effects of structure on binding to the 2,3,7,8-TCDD receptor protein and AHH induction-halogenated biphenyls. *Env Health Persp* **61**: 21-33, 1985.
- Schenkman JB, Thummel KE and Favreau LV, Physiological and patho-physiological alterations in rat hepatic cytochrome P-450. Drug Metab Rev 20: 557-584, 1989.
- Schuetz EG and Guzelian PS, Induction of cytochrome P-450 by glucocorticoids in rat liver. II. Evidence that glucocorticoids regulate induction of cytochrome P-450 by a nonclassical receptor mechanism. *J Biol Chem* **259**: 2007-2012, 1984.

- Schuetz EG, Li D, Omiecinski CJ, Muller-Eberhard U, Kleinman HK, Elswick B and Guzelian PS, Regulation of gene expression in adult rat hepatocytes cultured in a basement membrane matrix. *J Cell Physiol* **134**: 309-323, 1988.
- Schuetz EG, Schuetz JD, May B and Guzelian PS, Regulation of cytochrome P-450b/e and P-450p gene expression by growth hormone in adult rat hepatocytes cultured on a reconstituted basement membrane. *J Biol Chem* **265**: 1188-1192, 1990.
- Schuetz EG, Wrighton SA, Barwick JL and Guzelian PS, Induction of cytochrome P-450 by glucocorticoids in rat liver. I. Evidence that glucocorticoids and pregnenolone 16α -carbonitrile regulate *de novo* synthesis of a common form of cytochrome P-450 in cultures of adult rat hepatocytes and in the liver *in vivo*. J Biol Chem 259: 1999-2006, 1984.
- Sesardic D, Pasanen M, Pelkonen O and Boobis AR, Differential expression and regulation of members of the cytochrome P450IA gene subfamily in human tissues. *Carcinogenesis* **11**: 1183-1188, 1990.
- Shimada T and Nakamura SI, Cytochrome P-450-mediated activation of procarcinogens and promutagens to DNA-damaging products by measuring expression of *umu* gene in *Salmonella typhimurium* TA1535/pSK1002. *Biochem Pharmacol* **36**: 1979-1987, 1987.
- Siest G, Batt AM, Fournel-Gigleux S, Galteau MM, Wellman-Bedawska M, Minn A and Cortesec A, Induction of plasma and tissue enzymes by drugs: significance in toxicological studies. *Xenobiotica* 18: 21-34, 1988.
- Silver G and Krauter KS, Expression of cytochromes P-450c and P-450d mRNAs in cultured rat hepatocytes: 3-methylcholanthrene induction is regulated primarily at the post-transcriptional level. *J Biol Chem* 263: 11802-11807, 1988.
- Skett P, Biochemical basis of sex differences in drug metabolism. Pharmac Ther 38: 269-304, 1988.
- Smart RC and Zannoni VG, DT-Diaphorase and peroxidase influence the covalent binding of the metabolites of phenol, the major metabolite of benzene. *Mol Pharmacol* 26: 105-111, 1984.
- Sonderfan AJ, Arlotto MP, Dutton DR, McMillen SK and Parkinson A, Regulation of testosterone hydroxylation by rat liver microsomal cytochrome P-450. Arch Biochem Biophys 255: 27-41, 1987.
- Sones K, Heaney RK and Fenwick G, An estimate of the mean daily intake of glucosinolates from cruciferous vegetables in the UK. J Sci Food Agric 35: 712-720, 1984.
- Song BJ, Gelboin HV, Park SS, Yang CS and Gonzalez FJ, Complementary DNA and protein sequences of ethanol-inducible rat and human P450s: transcriptional control and post-transcriptional regulation of the rat enzyme. *J Biol Chem* **261**: 16689-16697, 1986.
- Srisangnam C, Hendricks DG, Sharma RP, Salunkhe DK and Mahoney AW, Effects of dietary cabbage (*Brassica oleracea L*) on the tumorigenicity of 1,2-dimethylhydrazine in mice. *J Food Safety* **4**: 235-245, 1980.
- Steward AR, Wrighton SA, Pasco DS, Fagan JB, Li D and Guzelian PS, Synthesis and degradation of 3methylcholanthrene-inducible cytochromes P450 and their mRNAs in primary monolayer cultures of adult rat hepatocytes. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **241**: 494-508, 1985.
- Tamburini PP, Mason HA, Bains SK, Makowski RJ, Morris B and Gibson GG, Multiple forms of hepatic cytochrome P-450: purification, characterization and comparison of a novel clofibrate-induced isozyme with other major forms of cytochrome P-450. *Eur J Biochem* **139**: 235-246, 1984.
- Timms C, Schladt L, Robertson L, Rauch P, Schramm H and Oesch F, The regulation of rat liver epoxide hydrolases in relation to that of other drug-metabolizing enzymes. In *Drug metabolism: from molecules to man.* Benford D, Bridges JW and Gibson GG (Eds.), pp. 55-68, Taylor and Francis, London, UK, 1987.
- Vernet A and Siess MH, Comparison of the effects of various flavonoids on ethoxycoumarin deethylase activity of rat intestinal and hepatic microsomes. Fd Chem Toxic 24: 857-861, 1986.
- Vigny P, Brunissen A, Phillips DH, Cooper CS, Hewer A, Grover PL and Sims P, Metabolic activation of 7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene in rat mammary tissue: fluorescence spectral characteristics of hydrocarbon DNA adducts. *Cancer Lett* 26: 51-59, 1985.
- Wang PP, Beaune P, Kaminsky LS, Dannan GA, Kadlubar FF, Larrey D and Guengerich FP, Purification and characterization of six cytochrome P-450 isozymes from human liver microsomes. *Biochemistry* 22: 5375-5383, 1983.
General Introduction

- Watkins PB, Wrighton SA, Schuetz EG, Maurel P and Guzelian PS, Macrolide antibiotics inhibit the degradation of the glucocorticoid-responsive cytochrome P-450p in rat hepatocytes *in vivo* and in primary monolayer culture. *J Biol Chem* 261: 6264-6271, 1986.
- Wattenberg LW, and Loub WD, Inhibition of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon induced neoplasia by naturally occurring indoles. *Cancer Res* 34: 1410-1413, 1978.
- Wattenberg LW, Hanley AB, Barany G, Sparnins VL, Lam LKT and Fenwick G, Inhibition of carcinogenesis by some minor dietary components. In *Diet, Nutrition and Cancer*. Hayashi Y (Ed.), p.13, VNU Science, Tokyo, 1986.
- Waxman DJ, Interactions of hepatic cytochromes P-450 with steroid hormones: regioselectivity and stereoselectivity of steroid metabolism and hormonal regulation of rat P450-enzyme expression. *Biochem Pharmacol* 37: 71-84, 1988.
- Waxman DJ, Attisano C, Guengerich FP and Lapenson DP, Human liver microsomal steroid metabolism: identification of the major microsomal steroid hormone 6β-hydroxylase cytochrome P-450 enzyme. Arch Biochem Biophys 263: 424-436, 1988.
- Waxman DJ, Dannan GA and Guengerich FP, Regulation of rat hepatic cytochrome P-450: age-dependent expression, hormonal imprinting, and xenobiotic inducibility of sex-specific isoenzymes. *Biochemistry* 24: 4409-4417, 1985.
- Waxman DJ and Walsh C, Phenobarbital-induced rat liver cytochrome P-450: purification and characterization of two closely related isozymic forms. J Biol Chem 257: 10446-10457, 1982.
- Whitlock JP, The regulation of gene expression by 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin. Pharmacol Rev 39: 147-161, 1987.
- Williams JB, Lu AYH, Cameron RG and Pickett CB, Rat liver NAD(P)H:quinone reductase. J Biol Chem 261: 5524-5528, 1986.
- Wislocki PG, Miwa GT and Lu AYH, Reactions catalyzed by the cytochrome P-450 system. In *Enzymatic Basis of Detoxication, Vol 1*, pp. 135-182, Jakoby WB (Ed.), Academic Press, London, 1980.
- Wolf CR, Moll E, Friedberg T, Oesch F, Buchmann A, Kuhlmann WD and Kunz HW, Characterization, localization of a novel phenobarbital-inducible form of cytochrome P-450 reductase, glutathione transferase and microsomal epoxide hydrolase. *Carcinogenesis* 5: 993-1001, 1984.
- Wolff T, Distlerath LM, Worthington MT, Groopman JD, Hammons GL, Kadlubar FF, Prough RA, Martin MV and Guengerich FP, Substrate specificity of human liver cytochrome P-450 debrisoquine 4-hydroxylase using immunochemical inhibition and chemical modelling. *Cancer Res* **45**: 2116-2122, 1985.
- Wrighton SA, Campanile C, Thomas PE, Maines SL, Watkins PB, Parker G, Mendez-Picon G, Haniu M, Shively JE, Levin W and Guzelian PS, Identification of a human liver cytochrome P-450 homologous to the major isosafrole-inducible cytochrome P-450 in the rat. *Mol Pharmacol* 29: 405-410, 1986.
- Wrighton SA, Maurel P, Schultz EG, Watkins PB, Young B and Guzelian PS, Identification of the cytochrome P-450 induced by macrolide antibiotics in rat liver as the glucocorticoid-responsive, cytochrome P-450p. *Biochemistry* 24: 2171-2178, 1985.
- Wrighton SA, Thomas PE, Ryan DE and Levin W, Purification and characterization of ethanol-inducible human hepatic cytochrome P-450j. Arch Biochem Biophys 258: 292-297, 1987.
- Yamazoe Y, Shimada M, Maeda M, Kamataki T and Karo R, Specificity of four forms of cytochrome P-450 in the metabolic activation of several aromatic amines and benzo[a]pyrene. *Xenobiotica* 14: 549-552, 1984.
- Yamazoe Y, Shimada M, Murayama N and Karo R, Suppression of levels of phenobarbital-inducible rat liver cytochrome P-450 by pituitary hormone. *J Biol Chem* 262: 7423-7428, 1987.
- Yang CS, Yoo JSH, Ishizaki H and Hong J, Cytochrome P450IIE1: roles in nitrosamine metabolism and mechanisms of regulation. *Drug Metab Rev* 22: 147-159, 1990.
- Ziegler DM, Flavin-containing monooxygenases: catalytic mechanism and substrate specificities. Drug Metab Rev 19: 1-32, 1988.

2732-V

CHAPTER 2

THE ISOENZYME PATTERN OF CYTOCHROME P450 IN RAT HEPATOCYTES IN PRIMARY CULTURE, COMPARING DIFFERENT ENZYME ACTIVITIES IN MICROSOMAL INCUBATIONS AND IN INTACT MONOLAYERS

H.M. Wortelboer¹, C.A. de Kruif¹, A.A.J. van Iersel², H.E. Falke³, J. Noordhoek¹ and B.J. Blaauboer¹

 ¹ Research Institute of Toxicology (RITOX), University of Utrecht
² National Institute of Public Health and Environmental Protection (RIVM), Bilthoven
³ TNO-Toxicology and Nutrition Institute, Zeist The Netherlands

Abstract

Changes in the isoenzyme pattern of cytochrome P450 during culture were investigated in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes, measuring specific enzyme activities in microsomes prepared from cultured cells as well as in intact monolayers. Assays of 7-ethoxyresorufin O-deethylation (EROD), 7-pentoxyresorufin O-depentylation (PROD), aniline 4-hydroxylation (AH) and the specific regioselective hydroxylation of testosterone were used as representatives of the activities of seven isoenzymes of cytochrome P450. The isoenzyme profile expressed as catalytic activities was qualitatively and quantitatively similar in microsomes obtained from freshly isolated hepatocytes in comparison with microsomes obtained from whole livers of untreated rats. There was a relatively high activity in EROD, AH and the oxidation of testosterone at the 7α , 2α , 6β , 16α and 17 sites (androstenedione). During culture, these microsomal enzyme activities declined at a similar rate to ca. 50% of the activities of microsomes prepared from freshly isolated hepatocytes after 24 hr and to 15% after 96 hr. The overall decline of cytochrome P450-dependent activities during culture was not accompanied with gross changes in catalytic profile. Determining the same drug-metabolizing activities directly in intact hepatocyte monolayers revealed a much higher metabolic rate for all measured P450-dependent activities. The profile of the catalytic activities was essentially the same as measured in microsomes prepared from cultured hepatocytes. The relatively low activity towards the 7α site of testosterone measured in intact hepatocytes, however, remained constant during culture. Determination of enzyme activities directly in intact hepatocytes is a convenient way of studying changes in monooxygenase activities of different P450 isoenzymes in vitro.

Biochem Pharmacol 40: 2525-2534, 1990

Introduction

A wide variety of foreign compounds are metabolized by the hepatic biotransformation system. The activity of this system can be altered by many factors, including foreign chemicals. A pivotal role in biotransformation is played by cytochrome P450, a multigenic family of haemoproteins which determine the duration of action of many drugs and play a key role in chemical carcinogenesis and toxicity [1,2]. The isoenzymes differ from each other in substrate specificity and catalytic activity [3]. Detailed description of the isoenzyme pattern of cytochrome P450 is desirable to provide a basis for studies on the monooxygenase-dependent metabolism and the subsequent effects of these biotransformation changes on biological effects of various xenobiotics.

Primary hepatocyte cultures represent a potentially useful model for studies on the effects of induction and different isoenzyme patterns of cytochrome P450 in correlation with toxicity of various compounds [4]. It is well known that the content and catalytic activities of cytochromes P450 decline during culture (see rev. [5]). Several attempts have been made to maintain either the content of cytochrome P450, the associated catalytic activities, or both [5-10]. It is not clear whether the higher P450 levels and/or higher catalytic activities determined in these studies are the result of either stabilization or a more or less selective induction of one or more cytochrome P450 isoenzymes.

Monitoring specific biotransformation activities in addition to immunoblotting is a reliable way of describing changes in the population of cytochrome P450 isoenzymes [11,12]. Burke et al. [13] investigated the selective dealkylation of phenoxazone alkyl derivatives, 7-ethoxyresorufin and 7-pentoxyresorufin, by two specific isoenzymes, viz. P450 1A1 (EROD) and P450 2B1 (PROD). Aniline is 4-hydroxylated mainly by P450 2E1 and P450 1A2 [14]. Furthermore, it has been shown that hydroxylation of testosterone is catalysed by different isoenzymes of cytochrome P450 with a high degree of regio- and stereoselectivity. Testosterone 7α -hydroxylation activity reflects the levels of P450 1A1 [15], 16 β -hydroxylation activity the levels of P450 2C11, and the formation of 6 β -, 15 β - and 18-hydroxy-testosterone reflects the activity of P450 3A [16,17,36].

In the present study we used different techniques to describe the changes in monooxygenase activity of P450 isoenzymes in primary rat hepatocytes during culture. Various specific activities were measured in microsomes prepared from primary cultured hepatocytes. Furthermore, to maintain the interrelationship between metabolic pathways in the intact cell [4,18] and to avoid a possible selective destruction of isoenzymes during microsomal preparation from hepatocytes [19], we developed a more convenient way of determining catalytic activities directly in intact hepatocyte monolayers. The profiles of P450-dependent activities in intact cells as well as in microsomes from cultured cells are compared with the *in vivo* pattern as determined in microsomes prepared from whole liver.

Materials and methods

Materials

Newborn calf serum was purchased from Gibco Europe, Breda, The Netherlands. Testosterone, androstenedione, 11β- and 16α-hydroxytestosterone (11β- and 16α-OHT), Williams' medium E, insulin and hydrocortisone were obtained from Sigma Chemical Co., St Louis, MO, USA. 2α-OHT was a kind gift from Prof D.N. Kirk (Queen Mary College, University of London), 15β- and 12β-OHT were gifts from G.D. Searle and Co., Skokie, IL, USA. 6β-, 7α-, 16β- and 19-OHT were obtained from Steraloids, Wilton, NH, USA. β-Glucuronidase/arylsulphatase (E.C. 3.2.1.31/ E.C. 3.1.6.1) was supplied by Boehringer (Mannheim, FRG). All other chemicals were of analytical grade. The antibodies used in this study were all kind gifts. Monoclonal antibodies against P450 1A1/2, P450 2B1/2, P450 3A were from Dr P.J. Kremers, Université de Liège, Belgium; a polyclonal antibody against P450 2E1 was from Dr I. Johansson, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden; a polyclonal antibody against P450 4A1 was from Dr G.G. Gibson, University of Surrey, Guildford, UK.

Animals

Male Wistar rats (Riv.Tox(M)), RIVM, Bilthoven, The Netherlands), weighing 180 - 250 g, were fed *ad libitum* a TNO-Institute grain-based open-formula diet (TNO-Toxicology and Nutrition Institute, Zeist, The Netherlands) and had free access to drinking water.

Cell isolation and culture

Rat hepatocytes were isolated using the two-step collagenase perfusion technique described by Seglen [20] as modified by Paine *et al.* [21]. The cells were plated on 9 cm tissue culture dishes (Sterilin) at a density of 8×10^6 cells/dish in 10 ml Williams' medium E supplemented with 3% (v/v) newborn calf serum, 1 μ M insulin, 10 μ M hydrocortisone and 50 mg/l gentamycin. Cells were incubated in a humidified atmosphere of air (95%) and CO₂ (5%) at 37°C. After 4 hr in culture, media were replaced. Thereafter, media were refreshed every 24 hr.

Preparation of microsomes

Whole livers: Livers from control animals were perfused with ice-cold saline and homogenized in 0.15 M KCl containing 0.1 mM EDTA using a Potter-Elvehjem glass-teflon homogenizer. Microsomes were prepared by centrifugation (2 x 20 min, 9000 g; supernatant 60 min, 105,000 g). The microsomal pellet was resuspended in Na-phosphate buffer (0.1 M, pH 7.8) containing 0.1 mM EDTA, frozen quickly in liquid N₂ and stored at -70°C.

Cultured hepatocytes: Per treatment group 7 culture dishes were washed in ice-cold PBS and scraped with a rubber policeman in 1 ml PBS/dish. Cells were centrifuged (3 min, 50 g); supernatant was replaced by 2.5 ml 0.15 M KCl containing 0.1 mM EDTA and cells were kept at -70°C until preparation of microsomes. Cells were homogenized on ice by sonication using an MSE 100 W ultrasonic disintegrator.

Sonication for 20 sec appeared to be optimal. After centrifugation for 2 x 20 min at 9000 g the supernatant was centrifuged for 60 min at 105,000 g. The microsomal pellet was resuspended by sonication (20 sec) in 700 μ l 0.1 M Na-phosphate buffer (pH 7.8) containing 0.1 mM EDTA on ice, frozen quickly in liquid N₂ and stored at -70°C. One mg cellular protein yielded *ca*. 75 μ g microsomal protein.

Enzyme assays

Cytochrome P450 and protein

Contents of protein and total cytochrome P450 were determined according to Rutten *et al.* [22] using a double-beam spectrophotometer (Pye Unicam 8800). Total amount of cytochrome P450 could not be determined in homogenized hepatocytes of 72 and 96 hr in culture because of the very low amount of cytochrome P450 in combination with the high levels of turbidity.

Ethoxy- and pentoxyresorufin O-dealkylation (EROD and PROD)

Fluorometric determinations of liver and hepatocyte microsomal 7-ethoxyresorufin O-deethylation (EROD) and 7-pentoxyresorufin O-depentylation (PROD) activities were performed according to the method of Burke *et al.* [23] using a Cobas-Bio centrifugal analyzer, equipped with a spectrofluorimeter. Less than 200 μ g microsomal protein was used in the incubation mixture of 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) with a final volume of 320 μ l. Substrate was added in diluted DMSO (final DMSO concentration 0.1% v/v). Substrate concentrations of 5 μ M were used.

Determinations directly in intact hepatocytes were as follows. Hepatocyte monolayers were washed twice with Hanks' balanced salt solution (HBSS) gassed with carbogen (95% $O_2/5\%$ CO₂ v/v). The incubation was initiated by adding 4 ml HBSS (37°C) containing 5 μ M substrate and 10 μ M dicumarol. Dicumarol was added during incubation to prevent further metabolism of resorufin by the cytosolic enzyme DT-diaphorase [24]. To determine linearity of enzyme activity medium samples of 1 ml each were taken every 5 min during a period of 15 min (EROD) or 20 min (PROD). After dilution (1:1) of the samples with incubation mixture fluorescence was determined using a Kontron SFM 25 fluorometer. The fluorescence of resorufin appeared to be pH-dependent. A stable fluorescence was obtained after addition of 100 μ l 0.1 M NaOH to the 2 ml diluted medium samples to bring the pH above 7.5. *Aniline 4-hydroxylation (AH)*

The AH activity of liver and h

The AH activity of liver and hepatocyte microsomes was determined according to Chhabra *et al.* [25], using an aniline concentration of 15 mM. The reaction was stopped after 45 min at 37°C, by adding 0.5 ml 20% TCA on ice. After centrifugation (5 min, 100 g), the formation of 4-aminophenol was determined spectrophotometrically at 630 nm, according to Imai *et al.* [26].

Determination of aniline 4-hydroxylation in intact hepatocytes using a short incubation time was not possible. The low activity of this reaction resulted in amounts of products below the limit of detection when incubation times comparable with the other measured reactions were used [27].

Testosterone hydroxylation

Determinations in microsomal preparations were carried out in 1 ml incubation mixture containing K-phosphate buffer (50 mM, pH 7.4), MgCl₂ (3 mM), EDTA (1 mM), NADP ⁺ (1 mM), glucose 6-phosphate (5 mM), glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (1 unit/ml), testosterone (250 μ M) and 300-500 μ g microsomal protein. Testosterone was added as methanolic solution (final methanol concentration 2% v/v). Incubation mixture and microsomes were mixed while standing on ice. Reactions were started by heating the mixture in a 37°C water bath and stopped after 15 min by addition of 6 ml ice-cold dichloromethane.

For determinations in intact hepatocytes, monolayers were washed twice with HBSS gassed with carbogen. The reaction was started by adding HBSS (37°C) containing 250 μ M testosterone (added as methanolic solution, final concentration methanol 0.5% v/v) and stopped after 15 min by separating the medium and cooling it on ice. Cells were scraped in ice-cold PBS and both cells and medium were stored at -20°C until extraction.

After extraction of the reaction products present in 1 ml medium or cell suspension with 6 ml dichloromethane, the aqueous phase containing the precipitated protein was removed and dichloromethane was evaporated under a stream of N_2 at room temperature. The residue was dissolved in 130 μ l 50% (v/v) methanol/water.

HPLC analysis of testosterone metabolites

Testosterone metabolites were analysed according to Funae and Imaoka [28]. Analyses were performed on an HPLC system consisting of an LKB 2150 HPLC pump, a Kontron MSI 660 autosampler equipped with a 20 μ l injection loop, an LKB 2151 variable-wavelength monitor and a Pye Unicam LC-XP gradient programmer. Testosterone oxidation products were separated using a Chromsep C18 (200 x 3 mm i.d., particle size 5 μ m) reversed phase column preceded by a 10 mm C18 guard column (Chrompack, Middelburg, the Netherlands). The OHTs were eluted with aqueous solutions of 25% methanol from 0 to 10 min followed by a linear gradient to 40% methanol and 3.5% acetonitrile from 10 to 45 min, at a flow rate of 0.8 ml/min. Column temperature was kept at 50°C. Column effluents were monitored at 254 nm. Metabolites were quantified by comparing their peak areas with those of authentic standards, using a Shimadzu C-R1A Chromatopac integrator. 11 β -OHT was used as internal standard [29].

Western immunoblotting

Separation of microsomal proteins was carried out on a Biorad mini Protean II cell using the sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide (SDS-PAGE) discontinuous system of Laemmli [30]. The resolved proteins were electrophoretically transferred to polyvinylidenedifluoride (PVDF) sheets (Millipore) according to the method of Towbin *et al.* [31] and immunochemically stained using antibodies to specific P450 forms.

Results

Profile of cytochrome P450-dependent activities in microsomes prepared from cultured hepatocytes

To define optimal conditions for microsome preparation from hepatocytes different sonication times were used to homogenize the cells. The amounts of microsomal protein and cytochrome P450 recovered after 2 - 30 sec of sonication are shown in Table 1. No degradation of cytochrome P450 in the form of cytochrome P420 was detected in the spectral measurements. Longer sonication resulted in higher amounts of microsomal protein and cytochrome P450. In all further experiments a sonication time of 20 sec was used, because this time yielded the highest EROD and PROD activity per mg microsomal protein, although the PROD activity per nmol P450 was somewhat less at that time. Recovery of cytochrome P450 in microsomes was ca. 30% as compared to the amount of cytochrome P450 in microsomes and cell homogenates, respectively). Most of the cytochrome P450 got lost in the first 9000 g pellet, probably due to incomplete cell disruption.

conication	protoin	P450	E	EROD PROD		
time (s)	(mg/ml)	(pmol/mg protein)	(pmol/min. mg protein)	(pmol/min. nmol P450)	(pmol/min. mg protein)	(pmol/min. nmol P450)
2	3.70	186.39	37.44	200.86	5.40	28.97
5	4.19	216.06	55.56	257.15	6.56	30.36
10	4.44	235.16	51.54	219.17	6.40	27.22
20	5.67	275.72	62.40	226.32	6.62	24.01
30	6.62	294.52	60.96	206.98	5.96	20.24

Table 1. The effect of sonication time during preparation of microsomes from freshly isolated hepatocytes on the recovery of microsomal protein, cytochrome P450 and two cytochrome P450-dependent catalytic activities.

Data are means of duplicate preparations.

The content of cytochrome P450 and the different catalytic activities in microsomes of freshly isolated hepatocytes were similar to those in microsomal preparations from whole livers of control animals (Fig. 1a-b). There was a relatively high activity towards aniline, a relatively low activity towards 7-ethoxyresorufin, and a negligible activity towards 7-pentoxyresorufin. The major oxidation products formed after testosterone exposure were 16 α -OHT, androstenedione and 2 α -OHT, followed by 6 β -OHT and 7 α -OHT. The formation of 15 β -OHT, 16 β -OHT, and an unknown metabolite with a relative retention time of 0.83 (probably 18-OHT [16]) was negligible.



Fig. 1. Profiles of specific and less specific cytochrome P450-dependent activities in microsomes prepared from whole livers of control animals (a), from freshly isolated cells (b), and from cultured cells after 24 h (c) and 96 h in culture (d). P450, total cytochrome P450 content; E, 7-ethoxy-resorufin O-deethylation; P, 7-pentoxyresorufin O-depentylation; 15 β , the formation of 15 β -OHT; 7 α , 7 α -OHT; 16 β , 16 β -OHT; 2 α , 2 α -OHT; 6 β , 6 β -OHT; 16 α , 16 α -OHT; X, an unknown metabolite with Rf= 0.83; A, androstenedione; AH, aniline 4-hydroxylation. Values represent means ± SD, n = 5 rats *in vivo*, n = 10 rats *in vitro*.

Table 2. Different cytochrome P. in total P450 ire (pmol/mg) ire (pmol/mg) EROD PR 0 343 ± 84 343 \pm 84 3.6 0 343 ± 84 170 \pm 53 2.5 0 343 ± 84 176 \pm 46 1.3 0 1.6 ± 46 156 \pm 65 2.5 0 1.8 136 \pm 65 2.5 0 $0.1.8$ 136 \pm 65 2.5 0 $0.1.8$ 0 1.6 ± 46 136 \pm 65 2.5 0 $0.1.8$ 136 \pm 65 2.5 0 $0.1.8$ 0 2.4 0 0.3 0 0.7 1 0.7	450-dependent activities expressed as percentage of the summation of measured activity in crosomes prepared from primary hepatocytes during culture.	percentage of the sum of measured activity (pmol/min.mg protein	OD 15ß 7α 16ß 2α 6ß 16α X A AH	4 0.3 2.8 0.2 14.6 11.8 21.5 0.9 18.5 25.4 1842	5 0.1 2.5 0.1 13.9 5.4 20.3 0.3 33.1 21.4 1091	1 0.1 2.9 0.0 13.8 4.1 21.7 0.1 32.4 23.5 838	1 0.2 3.3 0.0 14.5 4.7 22.5 0.0 30.8 22.0 ⁵²⁰	1, 0.2 3.7 0.0 14.3 6.3 22.5 0.0 30.2 20.1 312	oreviations see legend Fig. 1. ome P450-dependent activities as percentage of the summation of measured activity, or mg cellular protein in intact monolayers of hepatocytes during culture.	percentage of the sum of measured activity sum of measured activity		10D 153 /a 163 2a 63 16a A A	05 1.3 1.0 1.5 7.3 30.2 14.1 2.2 41.7 1349	9 1.2 1.3 1.2 8.3 16.5 16.1 1.5 51.2 963	0 1.4 1.8 0.4 5.6 7.7 12.3 1.0 68.0 529
Table 2. Different cytochrome P450-dependent a in total P450 percentage in total P450 percentage in total P450 percentage in total P450 percentage in protein) EROD PROD 15B 76 0 343 ± 84 3.6 0.4 0.3 2. 2 170 ± 53 2.5 0.1 0.1 2. 3. 2 156 ± 65 2.5 0.1 0.2 3. 3. 2 156 ± 65 2.5 0.1 0.2 3. 3. 2 156 ± 65 2.5 0.1 0.2 3. 3. 2 156 ± 65 2.5 0.1 0.2 3. 3. Data are means of n=10. For abbreviations see lo nculture expressed per mg cellular pro 4 7 ime in percentage of culture expressed per mg cellular pro 7 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	ctivities expres ed from primar	e of the sum o	x 16B 2c	8 0.2 14	5 0.1 13	9 0.0 13	3 0.0 14	7 0.0 14	sgend Fig. 1. ndent activities ntein in intact m	f the sum of n		α 16β 2	0 1.5 7	3 1.2 8	8 0.4 5
Table 2. Different cytochrome P450-depend in total P450 microsomes p in total P450 perce ire (pmol/mg) EROD PROD 158 0 343 ± 84 3.6 0.4 0.3 2 151 ± 46 1.3 0.1 0.1 0.2 2 151 ± 46 1.8 0.1 0.2 2 151 ± 46 1.8 0.1 0.2 2 156 ± 65 2.5 0.1 0.2 Data are means of n=10. For abbreviations expressed per mg celluli 1 ime in expressed per mg celluli 1 0 24 0.3 0.3 0.5 1.3 24 0.3 0.3 0.5 1.2 24 0.7 1.0 1.4 12	ent activities repared from	ntage of the	7α 16I	2.8 0.5	2.5 0.	2.9 0.0	3.3 0.0	3.7 0.0	see legend Fi dependent ac rr protein in i	ge of the su		/α 16	1.0	1.3	1.8
Table 2. Different cytochromeintotal P450ire(pmol/mg)re(pmol/mg)B70 ± 53 2.52.52.151 ± 46 1.32.5151 ± 46 1.32.5151 ± 46 1.32.5156 ± 65 2.5Data are means of n=10. ForData are means of n=10. Fortime inculturetime inculture(hr)EROD660.3660.7960.7	P450-depend microsomes I	berce	PROD 158	0.4 0.3	0.5 0.1	0.1 0.1	0.1 0.2	0.1 0.2	abbreviations chrome P450 per mg cellul	percenta		PROD 153	0.5 1.3	1.9 1.2	1.0 1.4
Table 2. Differen in total P450 ire (prmol/mg)) protein)) protein) 0 343 ± 84 24 170 ± 53 25 151 ± 46 26 136 ± 65 96 136 ± 65 151 ± 46 151 ± 46 25 151 ± 46 26 156 ± 65 96 136 ± 65 16 170 ± 53 24 24 96 96	t cytochrome		EROD	36	2.5	1.3	1.8	2.5	of n=10. For ifferent cyto expressed			EROD	0.3	0.7	0.7
	Table 2. Differen	e in total P450	rr) protein)	0 343 + 84	24 170 + 53	48 176 + 46	72 151 + 46	96 136 ± 65	Data are means o Table 3. D	time in	culture	(hr)	Φ	24	96

42

Data are means of n=3. For abbreviations see legend to Fig. 1.

Isoenzyme pattern of P450 in cultured rat hepatocytes



Fig. 2. Production of resorufin during EROD and PROD assay in monolayers of hepatocytes. \bigcirc , EROD; \bullet , PROD; values are means \pm SD, each curve representing four different 24 hr old hepatocyte monolayers.

Fig. 3. Production of different metabolites of testosterone in monolayers of hepatocytes. *, 6\mathbf{B}-OHT; \bullet , 16\alpha-OHT; \blacktriangle , 2\alpha-OHT; \blacksquare , androstenedione; values are means of duplicate 24 hr old hepatocyte monolayers.

In immunochemical studies no P450 1A1, P450 2B1/2 and P450 4A1, and only minor amounts of P450IA2, P450 2C11, P450 2E1 and P450 3A could be detected (results not shown). These results show that the procedures for preparation of microsomes from freshly isolated hepatocytes do not alter the P450 isoenzyme profile.

During culture AH activity and the formation of 2α -OHT, 7α -OHT and 16α -OHT declined similarly, showing an average activity of 55% of those measured in freshly isolated hepatocytes after 24 hr, and 18% after 96 hr in culture. A more rapid decline (to ca. 25% of freshly isolated cells) was measured for EROD activity and the formation of 6β-OHT during the first 24 hr in culture. The low levels of apoprotein of P450IA2 and P450 3A in freshly isolated hepatocytes diminished during culture. After 24 hr in culture, the distribution of the measured catalytic activities did not change significantly (Table 2).

Optimal conditions for determination of cytochrome P450-dependent activities in hepatocyte monolayers

For determining the EROD and PROD activities in intact hepatocyte monolayers a substrate concentration of 5 μ M appeared to be optimal (data not shown). EROD activity showed no lag time, while PROD activity revealed a lag time of 7 min. After that time the formation of resorufin was linear for at least 10 min (Fig. 2).

Formation of different hydroxy metabolites of testosterone in intact hepatocytes was linear over a 20 min incubation time (Fig. 3). No difference could be detected in the amount of testosterone metabolites in the media with or without deconjugation (data not shown). Testosterone itself was glucuronidated, but only to a small extent (less than 10%). Therefore, no deconjugation of the media samples had to be performed.

Extraction of reaction products of testosterone from both cells and media after a 15 min incubation period revealed that testosterone metabolites retained within the cells amounted to 9 to 18% of the content in the medium for all metabolites. Therefore, the metabolite pattern in the medium could be regarded as representative of the pattern in the complete incubation. Representative chromatograms of an extract of an monolayer incubation and of an microsomal incubation, both of hepatocytes 24 hr old, are presented in Fig. 4a-b. A mixture of authentic standards is shown in Fig. 4c.



Testosterone hydroxylation: Fig. 4. representative chromatograms of (a) an extract of a microsomal incubation of 24 hr old hepatocytes, (b) an extract of a cellular incubation of a 24 hr old hepatocyte monolayer, and (c) a mixture of authentic standards (Absorbance A_{254}):1, 15 β -OHT; 2, 6β-OHT; 3, 19-OHT; 4, 7α-OHT; 5, 16α-ΟΗΤ; 6, 16β-ΟΗΤ; 7, 12β-ΟΗΤ; 8, 11 β -OHT (internal standard); 9, 2 α -OHT; 10, androstenedione; 11, testosterone; X, unknown metabolite with Rf=0.83. Peaks are appointed only when retention time correlated with a standard.



Fig. 5. Profiles of cytochrome P450dependent activities measured directly in monolayers of cultured hepatocytes after 4 hr (a), 24 hr (b) and 96 hr culture (c). Values represent means \pm SD, n = 3 rats. For abbreviations, see legend to Fig. 1.

Profile of cytochrome P450-dependent activities in hepatocyte monolayers.

Cytochrome P450-dependent activities determined in intact monolayers and expressed per mg cellular protein are shown in Fig. 5. If one compares these activities in microsomes (Fig. 1; activities expressed per mg microsomal protein) with the corresponding activities in monolayers (i.e. prepared from an equal amount of cells), the rate of product formation was 10 times higher in intact cells than in the microsomes, taking into account that in the preparation of microsomes there is a 30% loss of microsomal protein. The metabolic profile, however, appeared to be virtually the same (Fig. 5 vs Fig. 1c-d). Low activities were measured towards the substrates 7-ethoxyresorufin and 7-pentoxyresorufin. Moreover, formation of hydroxy metabolites of testosterone in intact hepatocytes showed the same pattern towards the specific metabolites 15β -OHT, 7α -OHT, 16β -OHT and 2α -OHT as determined in microsomes of cultured hepatocytes. Both the EROD and PROD activities measured in 4 hr old primary cultures (4.3 ± 1.5 and 6.8 ± 1.9 pmol/min per mg cellular protein, respectively) were

lower than in 24 hr old cells (7.0 \pm 1.9 and 18.4 \pm 3.2 pmol/min per mg cellular protein, respectively). In contrast, a high degree of correlation between the decline in formation of testosterone metabolites measured in intact hepatocytes and in microsomes of cells during culture was seen for most of the metabolites of testosterone (r = > 0.938 for all metabolites except 7 α -OHT (r = -0.055) and androstenedione (r = 0.788)). The rapid decline in hydroxylation at the 6 β site of testosterone during the first 24 hr in culture was also seen in intact monolayers, as measured in microsomes from hepatocytes. The change in relative activity in the formation of 6 β -OHT during culture is therefore not due to the preparation of microsomes. The formation of 7 α -OHT and, to a lesser degree, androstenedione determined in intact hepatocytes remained at the same level during culture, which is in contrast to the decline measured in microsomes. As a result, small differences in the distribution of catalytic activities in intact hepatocytes occur during culture (Table 3).

Discussion

In untreated rats isoenzymes of P450 are hard to determine immunochemically because their levels are usually below the detection limit. Although others [11,12] could detect various isoenzymes (e.g. P450 1A1/2, P450 2A1, P450 2B1/2, P450 2C6, P450 2C11, P450 3A1) in untreated animals, we could detect only minor amounts of P450IA2, P450 2C11, P450 2E1 and P450 3A in Riv.Tox(M)-Wistar rats. This is in full agreement with the low content of cytochrome P450 of 85 pmol per mg cellular protein in Riv.Tox(M) rats whereas these levels were 225 and 500 pmol per mg cellular protein other studies [11,12]. Besides differences in strain, the lower content of cytochrome P450 is probably also due to differences in diet. In our study, we chose to feed the rats a semi-synthetic diet which most probably has a low induction potential. Because culture medium is supposed to be free of known inducers, we expect minimal changes in cytochrome P450 isoenzyme profile to occur in culture due to differences in environmental exposure of the cells *in vivo* and *in vitro*.

In cultured hepatocytes spectrally detectable cytochrome P450 is lost more rapidly than immunochemically detectable cytochrome P450 [11,12]. Thus, levels of apoprotein may not directly reflect metabolic activity. In this study we used a broad spectrum of specific catalytic activities of different isoenzymes of cytochrome P450 to describe the profile of isoenzymes in freshly isolated hepatocytes and in liver cells in culture for several days. In agreement with others [5,32], no differences could be detected between cytochrome P450-catalysed activities measured in microsomes prepared from freshly isolated cells and whole livers. Furthermore, monitoring enzyme activities in microsomal preparations of cultured hepatocytes revealed the well-known rapid loss of cytochrome P450 (see rev. [5]), but also a decline of all cytochrome P450-dependent enzyme activities determined.

In contrast to previous suggestions that qualitative changes in the P450 isoenzyme profile with time in culture may occur favouring activity towards P450IA substrates

Isoenzyme pattern of P450 in cultured rat hepatocytes

[5,32,33], no such changes in the profile of cytochrome P450-dependent activities could be detected in our study using e.g. 7-ethoxyresorufin as a substrate [13].

If we consider the battery of determinations as a good representation of total biotransformation activities, a comparison can be made of the distribution of different catalytic activities in the course of culture time (Table 2). During culture the distribution of most catalytic activities appeared to remain constant. However, the formation of 6β -OHT and androstenedione, expressed as a percentage of the summation of determined activities, changed during the first 24 hr in culture, but remained stable from 24 to 96 hr in culture.

It was of interest to determine whether the changes in catalytic activities as measured for the formation of 6β -OHT and androstenedione were due to selective destruction of isoenzymes during microsome preparations. Furthermore, because of the low recovery of cytochrome P450 during preparations of microsomes from hepatocytes (30%), more direct methods of determination of metabolic activities in intact hepatocytes would be desirable. Enzyme assays were developed for EROD, PROD and testosterone hydroxylation without disrupting intact monolayers. The advantages are obvious. Because no disruption of cells is needed, the endoplasmic reticulum remains intact and no possible enzyme damage due to homogenization occurs [34]. Smaller amounts of cells can be used for a single measurement because no cell material is lost during harvesting and microsome preparation. Our results show that the metabolic activities in intact cells were ca. 3 times higher than in microsomes. Furthermore, no extra cofactors are needed [18]. Using only a balanced salt solution and substrate, without extra cofactors, we consider such enzyme assays with intact hepatocytes more representative of the "in vivo" situation. During enzyme assays in intact cells, however, substrates and products should be able to pass the membrane and possible conjugation reactions have to be taken into consideration [4]. In our study, no conjugates of testosterone hydroxy metabolites could be detected in intact hepatocytes while testosterone itself was glucuronidated. Glucuronidation of testosterone metabolites in intact hepatocytes is apparently prevented by competition with the high amount of testosterone in the assay.

The high EROD, PROD and testosterone hydroxylation activities in primary cultured cells as compared with microsomal incubations prepared from cultured cells is remarkable. Whether this is due to enzyme damage and/or disturbance of physiological "routes" for substrates or product release, is not clear. In spite of this difference in metabolic activity, the same rapid decline of catalytic activities during culture was measured in microsomes from cultured hepatocytes as in intact cells. A few discrepancies were seen. After 24 hr in culture the EROD and PROD activities in intact cells were about twice as high as in 4 hr old cultures. Such a difference between catalytic activity in 4 and 24 hr old primary cultures was not seen in the hydroxylation of testosterone. In agreement with our study, Edwards et al. [35] reported the same low activity in ethoxycoumarin deethylation (ECOD) activity in 4 hr old primary cultures as compared to 24 hr old cultures. From 24 to 96 hr in culture, however, the EROD, PROD and ECOD [35] activities decreased at the same rate as all the other activities determined. The low activities measured after 4 hr in culture may be caused by less optimal cellular uptake of this type of substrates immediately after cell attachment because of other processes demanding energy.

The formation of 7 α -OHT in intact cells remained at the same level during culture, indicating no decline of P450 2A1 [15] during culture. This is in remarkable contrast with microsomal incubations derived from cultured cells. Testosterone hydroxylation at the 6 β site is catalysed by several cytochromes P450 when purified, namely P450 1A1, P450IA2, P450 2C9 and P450 3A [2,36]. In microsomes, however, no significant contributions of P450IA and P450 2C9 to 6 β -hydroxylation of testosterone could be detected [36]. Therefore, the decline of 6 β -OHT during the first 24 hr in culture probably does reflects a decrease in P450 3A. The latter is in agreement with a decline of P450 3A apoprotein level during culture. A diminishing level of P450IA2 during culture was also reported by Guengerich [12].

In conclusion, metabolic activities measured in intact cultured hepatocytes are much higher than in microsomal incubations. This is only partly due to a low recovery of cytochrome P450. The unimpaired endoplasmic reticulum, the absence of possible enzyme damage due to homogenization and/or the possible more rapid release of products may contribute to this discrepancy. Thus, measurements of biotransformation activities in intact monolayers can be a convenient and reliable method to determine P450-dependent metabolic profiles.

References

- 1. Nebert DW and Gonzalez FJ, P450 genes: structure, evolution, and regulation. Annu Rev Biochem 56:945-993, 1987.
- 2. Conney AH, Induction of microsomal cytochrome P-450 enzymes. Life Sci 39: 2493-2518, 1986.
- Guengerich FP, Dannan GA, Wright ST, Martin MV and Kaminsky LS, Purification and charac terization of liver microsomal cytochromes P-450: electrophoretic, spectral, catalytic, and immunochemical properties and inducibility of eight isozymes isolated from rats treated with phenobarbital or β-naphthoflavone. *Biochemistry* 21: 6019-6030, 1982.
- Moldeus P, Comparison of model systems for metabolism. In: Drug metabolism: from molecules to man. (Eds. Benford DJ, Bridges JW and Gibson GG), pp. 309-316. Taylor and Francis, London, 1987.
- Guillouzo A, Use of isolated and cultured hepatocytes for xenobiotic and cytotoxicity studies. In: *Isolated and cultured hepatocytes*. (Eds. Guillouzo A and Guguen-Guillouzo C), Chap. 14, pp. 313-332. John Libbey Eurotext Ltd./INSERM, Paris, 1986.
- 6. Engelmann GL, Richardson AG and Fierer JA, Maintenance and induction of cytochrome P-450 in cultured rat hepatocytes. *Arch Biochem Biophys.* 238: 359-367, 1985.
- 7. Dich J, Vind C and Grunnet N, Long-term culture of hepatocytes: effect of hormones on enzyme activities and metabolic capacity. *Hepatology* 8: 39-45, 1988.
- 8. Turner NA and Pitot HC, Dependence of the induction of cytochrome P-450 by phenobarbital in primary cultures of adult rat hepatocytes on the composition of the culture medium. *Biochem Pharmacol* 38: 2247-2251, 1989.
- 9. Paine AJ, Wiliams LJ and Legg RF, Apparent maintenance of cytochrome P-450 by nicotinamide in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes. *Life Sci* 24: 2185-2192, 1979.
- 10. Paine AJ and Hockin LJ, Nutrient imbalance causes the loss of cytochrome P-450 in liver cell culture: formulation of culture media which maintain cytochrome P-450 at *in vivo* concentrations. *Biochem Pharmacol* 29: 3215-3218, 1980.
- Steward AR, Dannan GA, Guzelian PS and Guengerich FP, Changes in the concentration of seven forms of cytochrome P-450 in primary cultures of adult rat hepatocytes. *Mol Pharmacol* 27: 125-132, 1985.

Isoenzyme pattern of P450 in cultured rat hepatocytes

- 12. Guengerich FP, Factors involved in the regulation of the levels and activities of rat liver cytochrome P-450. *Biochem Soc Trans* 12: 68-70, 1984.
- 13. Burke MD, Thompson S, Elcombe CR, Halpert J, Haaparanta T and Mayer RT, Ethoxy-, pentoxy- and benzyloxyphenoxazones and homologues: a series of substrates to distinguish between different induced cytochromes P-450. *Biochem Pharmacol* **34**: 3337-3345, 1985.
- Ryan DE, Iida S, Wood AW, Thomas PE, Lieber CS and Levin W, Characterization of a major form of rat hepatic microsomal cytochrome P-450 induced by isoniazid. J Biol Chem 260: 6385-6393, 1985.
- Levin W, Thomas PE, Ryan DE and Wood AW, Isozyme specificity of testosterone 7α-hydroxylation in rat hepatic microsomes: is cytochrome P-450a the sole catalyst? Arch Biochem Biophys 258: 630-635, 1987.
- Waxman DJ, Ko A and Walsh C, Regioselectivity and stereoselectivity of androgen hydroxylations catalyzed by cytochrome P-450 isozymes purified from phenobarbital-induced rat liver. J Biol Chem 258: 11937-11947, 1983.
- 17. Sonderfan AJ, Arlotto MP, Dutton DR, McMillen SK and Parkinson A, Regulation of testosterone hydroxylation by rat liver microsomal P-450. Arch Biochem Biophys 255: 27-41, 1987.
- Thurman RG and Kauffman FC, Factors regulating drug metabolism in intact hepatocytes. *Pharmacol Rev* 31: 229-251, 1980.
- 19. Wortelboer HM, de Kruif CA, de Boer WI, van Iersel AAJ, Falke HE and Blaauboer BJ, Induction and activity of several isoenzymes of cytochrome P450 in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes, in comparison with *in vivo* data. *Mol Toxicol* 1: 373-381, 1989.
- 20. Seglen PO, Preparation of isolated rat liver cells. In: *Methods in Cell Biology*. (Ed. Prescott DM), Vol XIII, pp. 29-78. Academic Press, New York, 1976.
- 21. Paine AJ, Williams LJ and Legg RF, Determinants of cytochrome P-450 in liver cell cultures. In: *The Liver: Quantitative aspects of structure and function.* (Eds. Preisig R and Bircher J), pp. 99-109. Editio Cantor, Aulendorf, 1979.
- 22. Rutten AAJJL, Falke HE, Catsburg JF, Topp R, Blaauboer BJ, van Holsteijn I, Doorn L and van Leeuwen FXR, Interlaboratory comparison of total cytochrome P-450 and protein determinations in rat liver microsomes. *Arch Toxicol* **61**: 27-33, 1987.
- 23. Burke MD and Mayer RT, Differential effects of phenobarbitone and 3-methylcholanthrene induction on the hepatic microsomal metabolism and cytochrome P-450-binding of phenoxazone and a homologous series of its *n*-alkyl ethers (alkoxyresorufins). *Chem Biol Interact* **45**: 243-258, 1983.
- 24. Lubet RA, Nims RW, Mayer RT, Cameron JW and Schechtman LM, Measurements of cytochrome P-450 dependent dealkylation of alkoxyphenoxazones in hepatic S9s and hepatocyte homogenates: effect of dicumarol. *Mutat Res* 142: 127-131, 1985.
- 25. Chhabra RS, Gram TE and Fouts JR, A comparative study of two procedures used in the determination of hepatic microsomal aniline hydroxylation. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 22: 50-58, 1972.
- 26. Imai Y, Ito A and Sato R, Evidence for biochemically different types of vesicles in the hepatic microsomal fraction. *J Biochem* 60: 417-428, 1966.
- Boot JH, van Holsteijn CWM, Seinen W and Blaauboer BJ, Effects of sulfhydryl reagents on the formation of the aniline metabolite 4-aminophenol and its sulphate and glucuronide conjugates in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes. *Xenobiotica* 19: 1267-1273, 1989.
- 28. Funae Y and Imaoka S, Purification and characterization of liver microsomal cytochrome P-450 from untreated male rats. *Biochem Biophys Acta* **926**: 349-358, 1987.
- 29. Hoeven van der Th, Testosterone oxidation by rat liver microsomes: effects of phenobarbital pretreatment and the detection of seven metabolites by HPLC. *Biochem Biophys Res Comm* 100: 1285-1291, 1981.
- Laemmli UK, Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature (London) 227: 680-685, 1970.
- 31. Towbin H, Staehelin T and Gordon J, Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitrocellulose sheets: procedure and some applications. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* **76**: 4350-4354, 1979.
- 32. Guzelian PS, Bissell DM and Meyer UA, Drug metabolism in adult rat hepatocytes in primary monolayer culture. *Gastroenterology* 72: 1232-1239, 1977.

- Lake BG and Paine AJ, The effect of hepatocyte culture conditions on cytochrome P-450 linked drug metabolizing enzymes. *Biochem Pharmacol* 31: 2141-2144, 1982.
- 34. Howell KE, Devaney E, Gruenberg, Subcellular fractionation of tissue culture cells. Trends Biochem Sci 14: 44-47, 1989.
- 35. Edwards AM, Glistak ML, Lucas CM, Wilson PA, 7-Ethoxycoumarin deethylase activity as a convenient measure of liver drug metabolizing enzymes: regulation in cultured rat hepatocytes. *Biochem Pharmacol* 33: 1537-1546, 1984.
- 36. Waxman DJ, Interactions of hepatic cytochromes P-450 with steroid hormones: regioselectivity and stereoselectivity of steroid metabolism and hormonal regulation of rat P-450 enzyme expression. *Biochem Pharmacol* 37: 71-84, 1988.

Wortelboer, H. Primary hepatocyte cultures as a model system for the determination of induction of biotransf formation enzymes. Utrecht, Rijksuniversiteit, 1991.

3064-V

CHAPTER 3

COMPARISON OF CYTOCHROME P450 ISOENZYME PROFILES IN RAT LIVER AND HEPATOCYTE CULTURES The effects of model inducers on apoproteins and biotransformation activities

H.M. Wortelboer¹, C.A. de Kruif¹, A.A.J. van Iersel², H.E. Falke³, J. Noordhoek¹ and B.J. Blaauboer¹

 ¹ Research Institute of Toxicology (RITOX), University of Utrecht
² National Institute of Public Health and Environmental Protection (RIVM), Bilthoven
³ TNO-Toxicology and Nutrition, Zeist The Netherlands

Abstract

The metabolic profile of seven subfamilies of cytochrome P450 (P450 1A, 2A, 2B, 2C, 2E, 3A, 4A) was studied in rat liver (in vivo) and in primary hepatocyte cultures (in vitro) after treatment with various inducers. The dealkylation of 7-ethoxyresorufin (EROD) and 7-pentoxyresorufin (PROD), aniline 4-hydroxylation and the regio- and stereoselective hydroxylation of testosterone were measured to characterize the isoenzyme pattern in intact hepatocytes and in liver microsomes. Occurrence of isoenzyme apoproteins was determined using Western blotting. Primary cultures of rat hepatocytes retain the capacity to respond to inducers of isoenzymes belonging to six different subfamilies (P450 1A, 2A, 2B, 2C, 3A and 4A). Treatment of cells with β-naphthoflavone revealed a P450-activity profile similar to in vivo, viz. a highly induced EROD (P450 1A1), a small enhancement of testosterone 7\alpha-hydroxylation (P450 2A) and a marked reduction in 2a- and 16a-hydroxylation (P450 2C11). Exposure of cultured cells to phenobarbital resulted in a higher testosterone 16β-hydroxylation (reflecting P450 2B), though to a lesser extent than in vivo. The induction of P450 3A due to both phenobarbital and dexamethasone, as mirrored by 6β- and 15β-hydroxylation of testosterone, was the same in cultured hepatocytes and in vivo. Treatment of cells with clofibric acid resulted in an induction profile similar to the one observed in liver microsomes from clofibrate-treated rats: the apoprotein P450 4A as well as the apoprotein P450 2B1/2 and its associated activities (PROD and testosterone 16β-hydroxylation) were induced. Isoniazid, a known in vivo inducer of P450 2E1 and aniline 4-hydroxylation, did not change any of the determined P450-dependent activities in vitro.

Biochem Pharmacol 42: 381-390, 1991

Introduction

Cytochrome P450 comprises a family of haemoproteins that are involved in the metabolism of a wide variety of endogenous and exogenous compounds. Some forms of this enzyme are present constitutively, whereas others are induced to high levels of expression upon exposure to certain foreign compounds [1-4]. The multigenic superfamily of cytochrome P450 has been categorized into nine different subfamilies according to resemblance between their amino acid and gene sequences [5]. Each subfamily can be characterized by its inducibility [1,2]. For example, P450 1A1 and P450 1A2 are induced by polycyclic hydrocarbons, whereas P450 2B is the major subfamily induced by phenobarbital (PB). Treatment of animals with glucocorticoids like dexamethasone (DEX) results in an induction of a third subfamily, P450 3A. In untreated male rats P450 1A1 and P450 2B are barely detectable whereas relatively high levels of 1A2, 2C6, 2C11, 3A1 and 2E have been found [1,6]. The isoenzymes differ from each other in substrate specificity and catalytic activity [2,7,8]. Therefore, changes in the isoenzyme pattern of cytochrome P450 have major implications for the metabolism and toxicity of many compounds [2].

Primary cultures of hepatocytes are widely used to study various aspects of cytochrome P450 regulation, drug metabolism, and related cytotoxicity [9-11]. Although there is a rapid decline of the basal level of cytochrome P450 during the first 24 hr in culture (for review see Ref. 11), primary cultures of rat hepatocytes retain the capacity to respond to some P450-inducers by increasing the synthesis of specific mRNAs and proteins and by enhancing associated catalytic activities [12-16]. Therefore, primary hepatocyte cultures may be used to study the capacity of various xenobiotic compounds to change the isoenzyme profile and the subsequent effects of these changes on biological processes. A more detailed comparison not only of the major induced forms of P450, but also of the total P450-dependent metabolic profile, is needed in order to establish if primary cultures represent the *in vivo* situation.

Recently, we studied the time-related decrease in culture of several P450 dependent activities and compared the activities as measured in intact monolayers and in microsomes prepared from parallel cultured cells [17]. In the present study we used five different model inducers, known to induce specifically one P450 subfamily (β -naphthoflavone, 1A; phenobarbital, 2B; isoniazid, 2E; dexamethasone, 3A; and clofibrate, 4A) to describe their influences on the metabolic profile of P450 isoenzymes. We compared the induction ratio of the dealkylation of 7-ethoxyresorufin (EROD) and pentoxyresorufin (PROD), and the regio- and stereoselective hydroxylation of testosterone as measured in intact monolayers of hepatocytes and in liver microsomes from *in vivo* treated rats. Western blotting was used to compare enzyme activities to the occurrence of P450 isoenzyme apoproteins.

Materials and methods

Materials

PB and corn oil were obtained from O.P.G. (Utrecht, The Netherlands). Clofibrate (2-(4-chlorophenoxy)-2-methylpropanoic acid ethyl ester, CLOF) was supplied by Centra Farm (Belgium). Isoniazid (INH) and clofibric acid (ethyl-2-(4-chlorophenoxy)-2methylpropionic acid, CLOFA) were purchased from Janssen Chimica (Beerse, Belgium). Newborn calf serum was obtained from Gibco Europe (Breda, The Netherlands). Williams' E medium, \beta-naphthoflavone (BNF), androstenedione, DEX, 11β- and 16αhydroxytestosterone (11 β - and 16 α -OHT) were obtained from the Sigma Chemical Co. (St Louis, MO. U.S.A.). 2a-OHT was a gift from Prof D.N. Kirk (Oueen Mary College, University of London). 15B- and 12B-OHT were gifts from G.D. Searle and Co. (Skokie, IL, U.S.A.), 6B-, 7a-, 16B- and 19-OHT were obtained from Steraloids (Wilton, NH, U.S.A.). All other chemicals were of analytical grade. Monoclonal antibodies towards P450 1A1/2, P450 2B1/2 and P450 3A were kind gifts from Dr P.J. Kremers, Université de Liège, Belgium. A polyclonal antibody towards P450 2E1 was a gift from Dr I. Johansson, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden and a polyclonal antibody towards P450 4A was a gift from Dr G.G. Gibson, University of Surrey, Guildford, U.K. Secondary antibodies were obtained from Dakopatts a/s, Glostrup, Denmark.

Animals

Male Wistar rats (Riv.Tox(M), RIVM, Bilthoven, The Netherlands), weighing 180 - 250 g, were fed a TNO-Institute grain based open-formula diet (TNO-Toxicology and Nutrition Institute, Zeist, The Netherlands) (*ad libitum*) and had free access to drinking water. PB and INH were given as a 0.1% solution in drinking water for 5 and 10 days, respectively. BNF (40 mg/kg) was given by i.p. injection once daily for 4 days in 0.5 ml corn oil. DEX (300 mg/kg) and CLOF (250 mg/kg) were given by gastric intubation once daily for 3 days in 0.5 ml corn oil. Control rats received either corn oil i.p. for 4 days or corn oil p.o. for 3 days or no treatment at all.

Cell isolation and culture

Hepatocytes were isolated from untreated male rats (same strain and diet as in *in vivo* studies) using a two step collagenase perfusion technique [18]. The cells were plated on 6- or 9-cm tissue culture dishes (Sterilin) at a density of 4 or 8 x 10⁶ cells/dish in 4 or 10 ml Williams' E medium, respectively. Media were supplemented with 3% (v/v) newborn calf serum, 1 μ M insulin, 10 μ M hydrocortisone and 50 mg/l gentamycin. Cells were incubated in a humidified atmosphere of air (95%) and CO₂ (5%) at 37°C. After 4 hr in culture, medium was replaced. Thereafter, media were refreshed every 24 hr.

After a total preincubation period of 24 hr, the inducers, suspended or dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), were added to the culture media to give final concentrations of 1.5 mM PB, 50 μ M BNF, 0.6 μ M DEX, 100 μ M INH or 1 mM clofibric acid (CLOFA), the latter being the active analogue of CLOF. An equal amount of DMSO was added to the control cultures (final DMSO concentration 0.1% v/v).

Preparation of microsomes

Whole livers: Livers from control and treated animals were perfused with ice-cold saline and homogenized in 0.15 M KCl containing 0.1 mM EDTA using a Potter-Elvehjem glass-Teflon homogenizer. Microsomes were prepared by centrifugation (2 x 20 min, 9000 g; supernatant 60 min, 105,000 g). The microsomal pellet was resuspended in sodium-phosphate buffer (0.1 M, pH 7.8) containing 0.1 mM EDTA, frozen quickly in liquid N₂ and stored at -70°C.

Cultured hepatocytes: Per treatment group seven 9-cm culture dishes were washed with ice-cold PBS and scraped with a rubber policeman in 1 ml PBS/dish. Cells were centrifuged (3 min, 50 g), the supernatant was replaced by 2.5 ml 0.15 M KCl containing 0.1 mM EDTA and kept at -70°C. Microsomes were prepared as described previously [17].

Biochemical determinations

Cytochrome P450 and protein

Contents of protein and total cytochrome P450 were determined according to Rutten et al. [19].

Ethoxy- and pentoxyresorufin O-dealkylation (EROD and PROD)

Fluorimetric determinations of liver and hepatocyte microsomal EROD and PROD activities were performed according to the method of Burke *et al.* [7] using a Cobas-Bio centrifugal analyser, equipped with a spectrofluorimeter. Less than 200 μ g microsomal protein was used in the incubation mixture of 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) with a final volume of 320 μ l. Substrate was first dissolved in DMSO, diluted 1:10 with buffer, and added to the incubation mixture (final concentration DMSO 0.1% v/v). Substrate concentrations of 5 μ M were used.

Determinations directly in intact hepatocytes were as previously described [17]. In short, hepatocyte monolayers were washed twice with Hanks' balanced salt solution (HBSS) gassed with carbogen (95% O_2 /5% CO_2 , v/v). The incubation was initiated by adding 4 ml HBSS (37°C) containing 5 μ M substrate and 10 μ M dicumarol. Fluorescence was determined after 5 and 15 min (EROD) or 10 and 20 min (PROD) using a Kontron SFM 25 fluorimeter.

Aniline 4-hydroxylation (AH)

The AH activity in liver and hepatocyte microsomes was determined according to Chhabra *et al.* [20], using an aniline concentration of 15 mM. The reaction was stopped after 45 min at 37°C, by adding 0.5 ml 20% TCA on ice. After centrifugation (5 min, 100 g), the formation of 4-aminophenol was determined spectrophotometrically at 630 nm, according to Imai *et al.* [21].

Testosterone hydroxylation

Determinations in microsomal preparations were carried out in 1 ml incubation mixture containing potassium-phosphate buffer (50 mM, pH 7.4), MgCl₂ (3 mM), EDTA (1 mM), NADP⁺ (1 mM), glucose 6-phosphate (5 mM), glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (1 unit/ml), testosterone (250 μ M) and 200-300 μ g microsomal protein. Incubation mixture and microsomes were mixed while standing on ice. Reactions were started by heating the mixture in a 37°C water bath and stopped after 15 min by addition

of 6 ml dichloromethane. Extraction and subsequent analysis of metabolites by HPLC were performed as previously described [17]. 11β -OHT was used as internal standard.

Determinations of testosterone hydroxylation activity directly in intact monolayers were as previously described [17]. In brief, cells were washed twice with HBSS, and incubated with 4 ml HBSS containing 250 μ M testosterone. After 15 min, testosterone and its metabolites were extracted with dichloromethane and subsequently analysed using HPLC.

Gel electrophoresis and immunoblotting

Separation of microsomal proteins was carried out on a Biorad mini Protean II cell applying the sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis discontinuous system of Laemmli [22], using a 4% stacking gel and a 12.5% separating gel (whole livers: 2 μ g microsomal protein/lane; cultured cells: 4 μ g microsomal protein/lane). The resolved proteins were electrophoretically transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) sheets (Millipore) at 30 V overnight according to Towbin *et al.* [23] and immunochemically stained using antibodies directed to P450 1A1/2, P450 2B1, P450 2E, P450 3A1/2 and P450 4A1. PVDF sheets were rinsed in Tris-buffered saline containing 0.3% Tween 20 (TBST) for 5 min, blocked in TBST containing 1% bovine serum albumin for 1 hr at room temperature, and thereafter incubated with primary antibody. After 1 hr, the sheets were washed 5 times in TBST and incubated with either antimouse or anti-rabbit IgG for 1 hr. Both IgG preparations were conjugated with alkaline phosphatase and colour was developed with a mixture of 5-bromo-,4-chloro,3-indole toluidine phosphate and *p*-nitrobluetetrazolium chloride.

Statistical analysis

Results have been expressed as means \pm SD, where appropriate. Statistical analysis was performed by Students' *t*-test, for unpaired samples. The null-hypothesis was rejected at $P \le 0.05$.

Results

In Fig. 1 the change in testosterone 15 β -hydroxylation after exposure to different model inducers during culture is shown as a representative example. In this study *in vitro* induction ratios are based on the activity measured in 96-hr-old intact hepatocytes treated for 72 hr with inducer, compared to the activity in parallel cultured cells treated for 72 hr with DMSO alone.

Fig. 2 shows the elution profiles of testosterone metabolites obtained using liver microsomes from untreated rats (A,C) and intact monolayers of 96-hr-old rat hepatocytes (B,D). In untreated intact cells (Fig. 2B) relatively high levels of androstenedione (peak 9) and relatively low levels of 7α -OHT (peak 3) are formed compared to the activity in liver microsomes from control rats (Fig. 2A). We reported earlier that the testosterone metabolite profile using liver microsomes from untreated rats was similar to the metabolite profile when microsomes prepared from cultured cells were used in the incubation [17]. Treatment with model inducers did not affect the basal differences

between microsomes and intact cells towards the formation of 7α -OHT and androstenedione. As an example, the testosterone metabolite profile after exposure to clofibrate *in vivo* and clofibric acid *in vitro* are shown in Fig. 2C and D. These results indicate that induction ratios can be compared only as calculated from the activity in treated rats and hepatocytes, divided by the corresponding activities in their matching controls.



Fig. 1. Change in 15 β -hydroxylation of testosterone measured in intact hepatocyte monolayers after exposure to vehicle (DMSO) only (**x**), β -naphthoflavone (\triangle), phenobarbital (\bigcirc), clofibric acid (\bullet) and dexamethasone (\Box). After a preincubation of 24 hr, hepatocytes were exposed to the inducing compound for another 72 hr. Data are means \pm SD from three different experiments.

In Fig. 3 an overview is given of the induction ratios of several biotransformation activities *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Table 1 shows semi-quantitative determinations of apoprotein levels of several P450s in microsomes prepared from cultured hepatocytes and whole liver. The original data concerning the P450-dependent activities, including the statistical test results, are given in Table 2 (*in vivo*) and Table 3 (*in vitro*).

P450 induction profiles in vivo and in vitro



Fig. 2. Elution profiles of testosterone metabolites determined in microsomes from rat liver and in intact monolayers of cells. A: *in vivo* control; B, control 96-hr-old hepatocytes; C, *in vivo* rats treated with clofibrate for three days; D, 96-hr-old hepatocytes treated with clofibric acid for 72 hr. Peak identification: 1, 15 β -OHT; 2, 6 β -OHT; 3, 7 α -OHT; 4, 16 α -OHT; 5, 16 β -OHT; 6, 11 β -OHT (internal standard); 7, 2 α -OHT; 8, X, unknown metabolite; 9, androstenedione; 10, testosterone.

Exposure to β -naphthoflavone

Treatment of rats with BNF in vivo resulted in the well-known induction of EROD activity (24-fold; Fig. 3a), related to an enhanced level of P450 1A apoproteins (Table 1). BNF increased the 7α -hydroxylation of testosterone 3.5-fold, but decreased testosterone 2α - and 16α -hydroxylation in the liver. The PROD activity in microsomes from BNFtreated rats was enhanced (3-fold), although no P450 2B1/2 apoprotein levels could be detected (Table 1). Exposure of hepatocyte cultures to BNF resulted in a similarmetabolic profile to the one observed after exposure to BNF in vivo (EROD 24- and 27-fold enhanced, in vivo and in vitro, respectively), though no enhancement of PROD activity was measured in intact monolayers after BNF treatment. In contrast, in microsomes prepared from BNF-treated cells a similar enhancement of PROD activity was measured as in vivo microsomes (results not shown). The characteristic decrease in 2α - and 16α hydroxylation of testosterone after BNF treatment was also seen in vitro. Immunochemical analysis showed the presence of both P450 1A1 and 1A2, although the level of 1A2 is lower in culture than in vivo (Table 1).





Fig. 3. Induction ratios (treated/matching control) of cytochrome P450-dependent activities measured in liver microsomes from rats treated with different inducers *in vivo* and in intact cultured hepatocytes after exposure to the same inducers. a, β -naphthoflavone (BNF); b, phenobarbital (PB); c, dexamethasone (DEX); d, clofibrate (CLOF(A)); e, isoniazid (INH). \square , *in vivo*; \square , *in vitro*. \geq 20 indicates an induction ratio of 20 or higher. For duration of treatment see Materials and Methods. Because of a 16 β -OHT activity below the detection limit in 96-hr-old control cultures, minimal ratios for this activity *in vitro* are given. Legends: E, EROD; P, PROD; AH, aniline 4-hydroxylation, 15 β , 7 α , 16 β , 2 α , 6 β , 16 α , all hydroxymetabolites of testosterone; X, unknown metabolite of testosterone; A, androstenedione.

	control	BNF	PB	DEX	CLOF	INH	
In vivo treatment							
P450 1A1	-	+++	-	-	-	-	
P450 1A2	+	++	-	-	-	+	
P450 2B1/2	-	-	+++	++	++	-	
P450 2E	+	+	+	+	++	+++	
P450 3A	+	-	+	+++	+	-	
P450 4A	-	-	-	-	+++	-	
In vitro treatment							
P450 1A1	-	+++	-	+	+	-	
P450 1A2	±	+	-	-	-	-	
P450 2B1/2	-	-	±	±	+	-	
P450 2E	+	+	+	+	+	+	
P450 3A	±	-	±	+++	±	-	
P450 4A	-	-	-	-	+++	-	

Table 1. Immunochemical detection of apoprotein levels of different P450 isoenzymes, *in vivo* and *in vitro* after treatment with phenobarbital (PB), β-naphthoflavone (BNF), dexamethasone (DEX), clofibrate/clofibric acid (CLOF(A)) and isoniazid (INH).

In vivo, 2 μ g microsomal protein per lane; *in vitro*, 4 μ g microsomal protein per lane; Key: - , isoenzyme not detected; \pm , isoenzyme weakly detected; +, isoenzyme easily detected; ++, isoenzyme strongly detected; +++, isoenzyme very strongly detected.

Exposure to phenobarbital

Treatment of rats with PB caused a large induction of cytochrome P450 2B *in vivo* (Table 1) and resulted in an associated increase in liver microsomal PROD activity and 16 β -hydroxylation of testosterone (67- and 36-fold, respectively; Fig. 3b). EROD activity was enhanced 5-fold, whereas no P450 1A could be detected immunochemically in PB-microsomes (Table 1). The production of 15 β -, 7 α -, 6 β - and 16 α -OHT and an unknown metabolite with a relative retention time towards testosterone of 0.83 (probably 18-OHT [21], to be called X in this text) were all increased after PB treatment. In contrast to PB treatment *in vivo*, exposure of hepatocytes to PB revealed only minor levels of P450 2B1/2 proteins, which was mirrored in low PROD, 16 β - and 16 α -testosterone hydroxylation activities (Fig. 3b). On the other hand PB induced P450 3A apoprotein levels both in cell culture and *in vivo* (Table 1), associated with enhanced production of 6 β -OHT, 15 β -OHT and compound X, the latter two even more enhanced *in vitro* compared to the induction *in vivo*.

	5		non monundan og					
	control	co-ip	co-po	BNF	ЪВ	DEX	CLOF	HNI
P450	372 ± 165	350 ± 23	290 ± 36	879 ± 138*	661 ± 151*	1211 ± 120 [*]	782 ± 54*	417 ± 23
EROD	44 ± 18	110 ± 21*	53 ± 11	2601 ± 389*	241 ± 24*	106 ± 23 *	113 ± 37*	98 ± 46*
PROD	5±3	$11 \pm 2^*$	8 ± 1	$43 \pm 9^{*}$	$322 \pm 109^*$	76 ± 5*	$24 \pm 3^*$	9 + 3*
AH	446 ± 194	633 ± 206	424 ± 83	761 ± 97	580 ± 250	1477 ± 472*	$1055 \pm 94^{*}$	$3206 \pm 790^*$
testostei	one							
15B	9 ± 4	14 ± 7	9 ± 4	14 ± 2	$32 \pm 7^{*}$	541 ± 72*	$34 \pm 14^*$	15 ± 7
7α	76 ± 51	143 ± 77	107 ± 53	$506 \pm 140^{*}$	$237 \pm 93^{*}$	125 ± 47	323 ± 95*	141 ± 50
168	18 ± 6	16 ± 9	10 ± 2	10 ± 3	671 ± 135*	$116 \pm 26^{*}$	81 ± 13 *	20 ± 6
2α	254 ± 57	964 ± 617	551 ± 55*	393 ± 171	287 ± 39	$313 \pm 66^*$	424 ± 112	$963 \pm 239^*$
6ß	223 ± 147	537 ± 85	449 ± 146	923 ± 151*	$1272 \pm 107^{*}$	$4136 \pm 961^*$	1462 ± 701	558 ± 177*
16α	460 ± 108	1554 ± 1025	$927 \pm 110^{*}$	649 ± 278	$1541 \pm 280^{*}$	$708 \pm 84^*$	794 ± 251	$1598 \pm 385^*$
×	19 ± 8	48 ± 2	44 ± 10	$68 \pm 5^{*}$	$139 \pm 21^{*}$	871 ± 137*	$105 \pm 44^*$	55 ± 12*
Andr	529 ± 229	692 ± 252	508 ± 60	481 ± 67	$1142 \pm 265^{*}$	$349 \pm 38^*$	$674 \pm 106^{*}$	760 ± 110

Table 2. Profile of P450-dependent activities in liver from rats treated with different inducers.

Chapter 3

The values are expressed as pmol/min/mg microsomal protein and are means \pm SD (n=3 rats, except control n=5 rats). * $p \le 0.05$ when compared to matching control; Inducers phenobarbital (PB) and isoniazid (INH) compared to control, β -naphthoflavone (BNF) compared to control-ip (co-ip), clofibrate (CLOF) and dexamethasone (DEX) compared to control-po (co-po).

60

	I
ŝ	
ay	
þ	1
\mathfrak{c}	
for	
2	
Cel	
Į	
ŭ	
S	
nc	
·Ľ	
va	
ų	
vit	
2	
'n	
ne	
atr	
ğ	
	1
ter	
af	
\$	j
Le la	
E	
n	
e	
yt	
8	
at	
ep	
h	
at	
L V	
Jar.	
E	
.LC	
1	
Ξ.	
es	
iti	
.>	
Ct	
t o	
SIL	
p	
ē	
ep	
P	
50	
4	
fI	
0	
lle	
ilC	
Ĕ	
3	
ole	
at	
F	

	control 24 hr	control 96 hr	BNF	РВ	DEX	CLOFA	HNI
P450 ^{\$}	170 ± 53	1 36 ± 65	174 ± 3	145 ± 24	170 ± 115	131 ± 116	122 ± 55
EROD	7 ± 2	4 ± 2	$104 \pm 8^*$	$20 \pm 3^*$	$29 \pm 4^*$	$18 \pm 3^*$	6 ± 2
PROD	18 ± 3	5 ± 2	3 ± 1	11 ± 3*	$9\pm 2^*$	$24 \pm 4^{*}$	$2 \pm 1^*$
AH ^{\$}	238 ± 97	64 ± 30	31 ± 2	38 ± 5	70 ± 5	115 ± 6	91 ± 14
testosterone							
153	11 ± 1	7 ± 2	8 ± 2	$54 \pm 20^{*}$	$150 \pm 40^{*}$	25 ± 11	10 ± 2
7α	13 ± 5	10 ± 5	41 ± 10	$23 \pm 8^*$	17 ± 5	16 ± 7	11 ± 4
163	5 ± 2	< 2	< 2	14 土 1	22 ± 2	22 ± 1	< 2
2α	80 ± 7	30 ± 6	$9\pm 3^*$	$20 \pm 5^*$	35 ± 7	$59 \pm 7^{*}$	31 ± 10
63	160 ± 12	41 ± 17	42 ± 11	$245 \pm 99^*$	$682 \pm 221^{*}$	126 ± 63	45 ± 14
16α	155 ± 11	65 ± 6	$29 \pm 5^*$	56 ± 12	$96 \pm 18^*$	$143 \pm 7^{*}$	66 ± 7
×	15 ± 1	5 ± 4	4 ± 1	$71 \pm 31^{*}$	$236 \pm 68^*$	$27 \pm 17^{*}$	4 ± 1
Andr	493 ± 49	360 ± 87	447 ± 104	393 ± 112	305 ± 90	444 ± 38	397 ± 86
				•	1		

Inducers: BNF, β-naphthoflavone; PB, phenobarbital; DEX, dexamethasone; CLOFA, clofibric acid; INH, isoniazid. After a preincubation period of 24 hr, hepatocytes were exposed to the inducing compound for another 72 hr. ⁵ P450 content and aniline 4-hydroxylation (AH) were determined in microsomes prepared from cultured hepatocytes and are both expressed per mg microsomal protein. P450 content in freshly isolated cells was The values are expressed as pmol/min/mg cellular protein and are means \pm SD (n=3 rats). $p \leq 0.05$ when compared to 96-hr-old control hepatocytes; 343 ± 84 pmol/mg microsomal protein.

P450 induction profiles in vivo and in vitro

Exposure to dexamethasone

DEX, an inducer of subfamily P450 3A (Table 1), increased the production of 15B-OHT (63-fold) and compound X (20-fold) in vivo (Fig. 3c). The PROD activity as well as the hydroxylation activity towards the 16β- and the 6β-site of testosterone were highly induced. 10-, 11- and 8-fold, respectively. Immunochemical studies of DEXmicrosomes revealed an induction of both P450 3A and P450 2B apoprotein levels in vivo (Table 1). Treatment of cultured hepatocytes with DEX resulted in a similar induction profile concerning the testosterone metabolites, although the induction ratios of testosterone 6B-hydroxylation and the formation of compound X (50-fold) were higher in vitro compared to the activity in liver after in vivo exposure to DEX (Fig. 3c). Unlike PB, in DEX-treated hepatocytes the production of 16B-OHT was induced to the same extent compared to the induction of this activity in vivo. However, the PROD activity was not enhanced in vitro. A remarkable difference in vivo was found concerning the EROD activity after DEX exposure, since in DEX-treated cells (measured in intact cells as well as in microsomes prepared from these cells) this activity was induced 7-fold, which was consistent with a small but distinct induction of P450 1A1 apoprotein in vitro (Table 1).

Exposure to clofibrate and clofibric acid

Treatment of rats with CLOF resulted in an induction of the apoprotein level of P450 4A, which was not found with any of the other model inducers (Table 1). Moreover, an 8-fold induction of 16β -hydroxylation of testosterone was measured (Fig. 3d), which was associated with a substantial increase in the level of apoprotein P450 2B1 (Table 1). A more modest increase (3- to 4-fold) was determined for PROD, 15β -, 7α - and 6β -OHT activities. Treatment of primary cultures with clofibric acid resulted in a metabolic profile almost similar to the one obtained after exposure *in vivo* (Fig. 3d), and in the same characteristic induction of P450 2B1/2 due to clofibric acid in hepatocyte culture as compared to the induction of this isoenzyme(s) in PB-treated cells (Fig. 4). In agreement, both PROD and testosterone 16β -hydroxylation were enhanced *in vitro* to a similar level as in rat liver after treatment with CLOF. In comparison to DEX exposure, treatment of cells with CLOFA revealed also a small induction of P450 1A1 apoprotein levels (Table 1) and higher EROD activity.

Exposure to isoniazid

Isoniazid increased the rate of aniline 4-hydroxylation (7-fold) in vivo (Fig. 3e). This activity is known to be preferentially catalysed by P450 2E and P450 1A2 [2,22]. Towards testosterone a 2- to 4-fold increase was measured in the production of 2α -OHT, 16 α -OHT, 6 β -OHT and the unknown metabolite X. Both EROD and PROD activities were significantly enhanced (2-fold) as well. However, in isoniazid-treated cells only the EROD activity was increased whereas even a decrease in PROD activity was measured. No enhancement of aniline 4-hydroxylation (Fig. 3e) or P450 2E apoprotein levels (Table 1) could be detected *in vitro*.





Fig. 4. Immunoblot of microsomes prepared from rat liver and cultured hepatocytes, immunochemically stained with anti-P450 2B1/2. Lanes 1-5, liver microsomes from rats treated *in vivo* (2 μ g protein/lane): 1, control; 2, phenobarbital; 3, β -naphthoflavone; 4, isoniazid; 5, clofibrate. Lanes 6-11, microsomes from cultured hepatocytes (4 μ g protein/lane): 6 and 9, 24-hr-old hepatocytes; 7 and 10, 96-hr-old hepatocytes treated with DMSO; 8, 96-hr-old hepatocytes treated with clofibric acid; 11, 96-hr-old hepatocytes treated with phenobarbital.

Discussion

So far, most studies of the effects of inducers on cytochrome P450 *in vitro* have concentrated on the enhancement of one or few specific P450 isoenzymes [13-16]. A direct comparison to study whether the *in vitro* changes of a broad spectrum of P450 activities, due to exposure to various model inducers, mimics the *in vivo* situation, has not been described yet. We used different specific catalytic activities supported with immunochemical detection of P450 apoproteins, to study the change in metabolic profile.

Treatment of rats *in vivo* with BNF, PB, DEX, CLOF and INH resulted in changes in P450 apoprotein pattern and associated catalytic activities which are consistent with data reported by others [2,24-26]. Treatment of hepatocytes with the same model inducers resulted to a large extent in similar metabolic profiles and induction ratios. However some marked differences can be observed.

Exposure of cultured hepatocytes to BNF resulted in a catalytic profile very similar to the *in vivo* profile: a high EROD activity (which is preferentially catalysed by P450 1A1 [7]), a moderate increase of 7 α -hydroxylation (which represents P450 2A [26]) and a decrease in testosterone 2 α - and 16 α -hydroxylation. This decrease to *ca*. 40% of the activity measured in controls (*in vivo* as well as *in vitro*) could only be detected after treatment with BNF. P450 2C11 is known to catalyse testosterone hydroxylation at the 2 α -site and to a lesser extent at the 16 α -site [4]. A decrease of P450 2C11 is also observed in rats after exposure to other P450 1A inducers [1]. These results indicate a

comparable degree of down regulation of P450 2C11 in vivo and in vitro after BNF treatment.

PB is known to increase the de novo synthesis of apocytochrome P450 2B1/2 and P450 3A in rat liver [2,27]. P450 2B1/2 catalyses the conversion of testosterone mainly to 16B-OHT, and to a lesser extent to 16α -OHT and androstenedione [8]. However, in cultured hepatocytes P450 2B1/2 apoprotein levels and associated activities after PB treatment is low compared to the in vivo situation. For many years, several investigators [11,14,27,28] have been concentrating on identifying culture conditions which would permit P450 2B1/2 to be induced in cultured hepatocytes. Recently, Schuetz et al. [29] reported a higher enhancement of P450 2B1/2 mRNA and apoprotein level after PB treatment when hepatocytes were cultured on a reconstituted basement membrane gel. However, no associated activities i.e. formation of 16B-OHT or PROD, were reported. In a preliminary study we could detect a small induction of P450 2B1/2 mRNA levels in PB- and CLOFA-treated cells (8- and 32-fold, respectively; results not shown). Therefore, in addition to the small induction of the apoprotein P450 2B1/2 and an enhancement of the associated enzyme activities (16\beta-hydroxylation of testosterone and PROD), we conclude that cultured hepatocytes do respond to P450 2B inducers, especially CLOFA, with an enhanced level of mRNA, apoprotein and associated enzyme activity, although in the case of PB to a much lower level than in vivo. A recent study of Waxman et al. [30] describes a comparable in vivo level of P450 2B and associated enzymatic activities in PB-treated hepatocytes when cells were cultured for 10 or more davs.

In contrast to the low P450 2B1/2 levels in PB-treated cells, the P450 3A apoprotein level and its associated [4] activities towards the 6β - and 15β - site of testosterone, were induced. P450 3A is also known to catalyse the formation of 18-hydroxytestosterone [31,32]. Based on the enhanced production of compound X after PB and DEX treatment and a comparable relative retention time in a similar HPLC elution profile [31], we deduce that compound X most probably is identical to 18-hydroxytestosterone.

Exposure of cultured hepatocytes to CLOFA resulted in the characteristic enhancement of the P450 4A apoprotein level as observed *in vivo* [3]. Induction of this isoenzyme *in vitro* was also reported by Lake *et al.* [16], who, in addition, determined the corresponding higher activity in 12-hydroxylation of lauric acid. No lauric acid hydroxylation was measured in this study. Beside induction of P450 4A, exposure to CLOF(A) induced almost every P450-dependent activity measured in our study *in vivo* as well as *in vitro*. These results are in contrast with data of Sharma *et al.* [3], who measured a reduced dealkylation of both ethoxyresorufin and benzphetamine in rat liver after treatment with CLOF. However, other investigators [12,16,24] reported the enhancement of several P450 isoenzymes after CLOF treatment which is consistent with our data. The reason for this discrepancy is not clear.

P450 2E is different from many other forms of P450 since it is induced by numerous structurally different compounds [32,33], many of which are known to effectively bind to the enzyme. Eliasson *et al.* [34] reported a maintenance of P450 2E in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes, provided that enzyme ligands (preventing enzyme degradation) are present in the medium. The induction of this isoenzyme *in vivo* is correlated with ligand binding and stabilization of mRNA levels, resulting in higher

protein levels [35]. However, in agreement with our study, no intion of this isoenzyme *in vitro* has been reported yet. Whether the lack of high induction of P450 2B and P450 2E *in vitro* has to be attributed to hormonal disbalance has been the subject of many research [4,27,36,37].

In this study we monitored specific biotransformation activities to study the P450 isoenzyme profile. In this regard the O-dealkylation of 7-ethoxyresorufin is often used as a reflection of the activity of P450 1A1 [7]. However, in control and PB-treated rats the EROD activity (in absence of P450 1A1) is mainly catalysed by two constitutive enzymes, P450 2C11 and P450 2C6 [38]. For this reason, we would emphasize the need of both immunochemical and catalytic activity determinations to study the P450 isoenzyme profile. The 4-fold higher PROD activity in liver microsomes from BNFtreated rats in vivo (in absence of P450 2B), for example, is probably the result of a catalytic activity of P450 1A1 towards this substrate. This is supported by the study of Nakajima et al. [38] who could inhibit PROD activity in liver microsomes from rats treated with 3-methylcholanthrene for 50% with a monoclonal antibody directed towards P450 1A. In contrast, in intact BNF-treated cells no enhancement of PROD activity was measured, whereas in microsomes prepared from similar BNF-treated cells the PROD activity was enhanced to the same level as in vivo. Such discrepancies between the activity in intact cells compared to the same activity in microsomes (prepared from cells) were also found for the formation of 7α -hydroxylation and androstenedione. These results may indicate that changes in substrate accessibility and/or changes in the efficiency for the electron transfer from NADPH P450-reductase to certain P450 isoenzymes are introduced during preparation of microsomes.

In conclusion, in primary rat hepatocytes several isoenzymes of cytochrome P450, namely P450 1A1, 1A2, 2A, 2C, 3A and 4A, can be changed with the same inducing compounds and to the same extent as *in vivo*. The induction of P450 2B1/2 in rat hepatocytes, however, occurs to a much lower level compared to *in vivo*. It should be noted that two distinct ways of regulation could be possible for this isoenzyme because of the different level of induction after PB and CLOF treatment *in vitro*. No induction of P450 2E could be detected in primary hepatocytes. In spite of this incompleteness for some forms of P450 we conclude that primary cultures of hepatocytes can be a useful alternative in studying the changes in biotransformation activities catalysed by the P450 1A, 2A, 2C, 3A and 4A subfamilies as well as the effects on cytochrome P450-mediated cytotoxicity.

Acknowledgements The authors wish to thank Sjef van Asten (IVEG-TNO, Rijswijk, The Netherlands) for mRNA analyses.

References

- Guengerich FP, Cytochrome P-450 enzymes and drug metabolism. In: *Progress in Drug metabolism*. (Eds. Bridges JW, Chasseaud LF and Gibson GG), Vol. 10, pp. 1-54, Taylor and Francis Ltd, London, 1987.
- 2. Conney AH, Induction of microsomal cytochrome P450 enzymes. Life Sci 39: 2493-2518, 1986.
- 3. Sharma R, Lake BG, Foster J and Gibson GG, Microsomal cytochrome P452 induction and proliferation by hypolipidaemic agents in rat liver. *Biochem Pharmacol* 37: 1193-1201, 1988.
- 4. Waxman DJ, Interactions of hepatic cytochromes P-450 with steroid hormones: regioselectivity and stereoselectivity of steroid metabolism and hormonal regulation of rat P450-enzyme expression. *Biochem Pharmacol* 37: 71-84, 1988.
- Nebert DW, Adesnik M, Coon MJ, Estabrook RW, Gonzalez FJ, Guengerich FP, Gunsalus IC, Johnson EF, Kemper B, Levin W, Phillips IR, Sato R and Waterman MR, The P450 gene superfamily: recommended nomenclature. DNA 6: 1-11, 1987.
- Steward AR, Dannan GA, Guzelian PS and Guengerich FP, Changes in the concentration of seven forms of cytochrome P450 in primary cultures of adult rat hepatocytes. *Mol Pharmacol* 27: 125-132, 1984.
- 7. Burke MD, Thompson S, Elcombe CR, Halpert J, Haaparanta T, Mayer RT, Ethoxy-, pentoxy-and benzyloxyphenoxazones and homologues: a series of substrates to distinguish between different induced cytochromes P450. *Biochem Pharmacol* 34: 3337-3345,1985.
- Wood AW, Ryan DE, Thomas PE and Levin W, Regio and stereoselective metabolism of two C-19 steroids by five highly purified and reconstituted rat hepatic cytochrome P-450 isoenzymes. J Biol Chem 258: 8839-8847, 1983.
- Guillouzo A, Use of isolated and cultured hepatocytes for xenobiotic metabolism and cytotoxicity studies. In: *Research in Isolated and Cultured Hepatocytes*. (Eds. Guillouzo A and Guguen-Guillouzo C), Ch. 14, pp. 313-332, Paris: John Libbey Eurotext Ltd./INSERM, 1986.
- 10. Sirica AE and Pitot HC, Drug metabolism and effects of carcinogens in cultured hepatic cells. *Pharmacol Rev* 31:205-228, 1980.
- Paine AJ, The maintenance of cytochrome P-450 in rat hepatocyte culture: some applications of liver cell cultures to the study of drug metabolism, toxicity and the induction of the P-450 system. *Chem-Biol Interact* 74:1-31, 1990.
- Bars RG, Mitchell AM, Wolf CR and Elcombe CR, Induction of cytochrome P-450 in cultured rat hepatocytes: The heterogenous localization of specific isoenzymes using immunochemistry. *Biochem J* 262: 151-158, 1989.
- Elshourbagy NA, Barwick JL and Guzelian PS, Induction of cytochrome P450 by pregnenolone 16αcarbonitrile in primary monolayer cultures of adult rat hepatocytes and in cell-free translation systems. *J Biol Chem* 256: 6060-6068, 1981.
- 14. Newman S and Guzelian PS, Stimulation of de novo synthesis of cytochrome P450 by phenobarbital in primary non proliferating cultures of adult rat hepatocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **79**: 2922-2926, 1982.
- Steward AR, Wrighton SA, Pasco DS, Fagan JB, Li D and Guzelian PS, Synthesis and degradation of 3-methylcholanthrene-inducible cytochromes P450 and their mRNAs in primary monolayer cultures of adult rat hepatocytes. Arch Biochem Biophys 241: 494-508, 1985.
- Lake BG, Gray TJB, Stubberfield CR, Beamand JA and Gangolli SD, Induction of lauric acid hydroxylation and maintenance of cytochrome P-450 content by clofibrate in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes. *Life Sci* 33: 249-254, 1983.
- Wortelboer HM, de Kruif CA, van Iersel AAJ, Falke HE, Noordhoek J and Blaauboer BJ, The isoenzyme pattern of cytochrome P450 in rat hepatocytes in primary culture, comparing different enzyme activities in microsomal incubations and in intact monolayers. *Biochem Pharmacol* 40: 2525-2534, 1990.

P450 induction profiles in vivo and in vitro

- Paine AJ, Williams LJ and Legg RF, Determinants of cytochrome P-450 in liver cell cultures. In: *The Liver: Quantitative aspects of structure and function*. (Eds. Preisig R and Bircher J), pp. 99-109. Editio Cantor, Aulendorf, 1979.
- 19. Rutten AAJJL, Falke HE, Catsburg JF, Topp R, Blaauboer BJ, van Holsteijn I, Doorn L and van Leeuwen FXR, Interlaboratory comparison of total cytochrome P450 and protein determinations in rat liver microsomes. *Arch Toxicol* 61: 27-33, 1987.
- 20. Chhabra RS, Gram TE and Fouts JR, A comparative study of two procedures used in the determination of hepatic microsomal aniline hydroxylation. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 22: 50-58, 1972.
- 21. Imai Y, Ito A and Sato R, Evidence for biochemically different types of vesicles in the hepatic microsomal fractions. *J Biochem* 60: 417-428, 1966.
- 22. Laemmli UK, Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature* 227: 680-685, 1970.
- 23. Towbin H, Staehelin T and Gordon J, Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitrocellulose sheets: procedure and some applications. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **76**: 4350-354, 1979.
- Sonderfan AJ, Arlotto MP, Dutton DR, McMillen SK and Parkinson A, Regulation of testosterone hydroxylation by rat liver microsomal cytochrome P-450. Arch Biochem Biophys 255: 27-41, 1987.
- 25. Lee DW and Park KH, Testosterone metabolism by microsomal cytochrome P-450 in liver of rats treated with some inducers. *Int J Biochem* 21: 49-57, 1989.
- Levin W, Thomas PE, Ryan DE and Wood A, Isozyme specificity of testosterone 7α-hydroxylation in rat hepatic microsomes: is cytochrome P-450a the sole catalyst? Arch Biochem Biophys 258: 630-635, 1987.
- Schuetz EG, Schuetz JD, May B and Guzelian PS, Regulation of cytochrome P-450b/e and P-450p gene expression by growth hormone in adult rat hepatocytes cultured on a reconstituted basement membrane. J Biol Chem 265: 1188-1192, 1990.
- Engelmann GL, Richardson AG and Fierer JA, Maintenance and induction of cytochrome P-450 in cultured rat hepatocytes. Arch Biochem Biophys 238: 359-367, 1985.
- Schuetz EG, Li D, Omiecinsky CJ, Muller-Eberhard U, Kleinman HK, Elswick B and Guzelian PS, Regulation of gene expression in adult rat hepatocytes cultured on a basement membrane matrix. *J Cell Physiol* 134: 309-323, 1988.
- 30. Waxman DJ, Morrissey JJ, Naik S and Jauregui HO, Phenobarbital induction of cytochromes P450: High-level long-term responsiveness of primary rat hepatocyte cultures to drug induction, and glucocorticoid dependence of the phenobarbital response. *Biochem J* 271: 113-119, 1990.
- Waxman DJ, Ko A and Walsh C, Regioselectivity and stereo-selectivity of androgen hydroxylations catalysed by cytochrome P-450 enzymes purified from phenobarbital-induced rat liver. *J Biol Chem* 258: 11937-11947, 1983.
- 32. Ryan DE, Ramanathan L, Iida S, Thomas PE, Haniu M, Shively JE, Lieber CS and Levin W, Characterization of a major form of rat hepatic microsomal cytochrome P-450 induced by isoniazid. J Biol Chem 260: 6385-6393, 1985.
- 33. Miller KW and CS Yang, Studies on the mechanisms of induction of N-nitrosodimethylamine demethylase by fasting, acetone, and ethanol. Arch Biochem Biophys 229: 483-491, 1984.
- Eliasson E, Johansson I and Ingelman-Sundberg M, Ligand-dependent maintenance of ethanolinducible cytochrome P450 in primary rat hepatocyte cultures. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 150: 436-443, 1988.
- Song BJ, Veech RL, Park SS, Gelboin HV and Gonzalez FJ, Induction of rat hepatic N-nitrosodimethylamine demethylase by acetone is due to protein stabilization. J Biol Chem 264: 3568-3572, 1989.
- 36. Yamazoe Y, Shimada M, Murayama N and Kato R, Suppression of levels of phenobarbital-inducible rat liver cytochrome P450 by pituitary hormone. *J Biol Chem* 262: 7423-7428, 1987.
- Hong J, Ning SM, Ma B, Lee M, Pan J and Yang CS, Roles of pituitary hormones in the regulation of hepatic cytochrome P450IIE1 in rats and mice. Arch Biochem Biophys 281: 132-138, 1990.

 Nakajima T, Elovaara E, Park SS, Gelboin HV, Hietanen E and Vainio H, Monoclonal antibodydirected characterization of benzene, ethoxyresorufin and pentoxyresorufin metabolism in rat liver microsomes. *Biochem Pharmacol* 40: 1255-1261, 1990.

Wortelboer, H. Primary hepatocyte cultures as a model system for the determination of induction of biotransformation enzymes. Effects of glucosinolate hydrolsysis products. Utrecht, Rijskuniversiteit, 1991.
CHAPTER 4

THE EFFECTS OF COOKED BRUSSELS SPROUTS ON CYTOCHROME P450 PROFILE AND PHASE II ENZYMES IN LIVER AND SMALL INTESTINAL MUCOSA OF THE RAT

H.M. Wortelboer¹, C.A. de Kruif¹, A.A.J. van Iersel², J. Noordhoek¹, B.J. Blaauboer¹, P.J. van Bladeren³ and H.E. Falke³

¹ Research Institute of Toxicology (RITOX), University of Utrecht
² National Institute of Public Health and Environmental Protection (RIVM), Bilthoven
³ TNO-Toxicology and Nutrition Institute, Zeist The Netherlands

Abstract

Male Wistar rats were given semi-synthetic diets supplemented with 0, 2.5, 5 and 20% cooked Brussels sprouts for 2, 7, 14 or 28 days. The effects on several cytochromes P450 and phase II enzymes (glutathione S-transferase (GST), glucuronyl transferases 1 and 2 (GT1 and GT2) and DT-diaphorase (DTD)) in liver and small intestinal mucosa were investigated. From two days of exposure onwards Brussels sprouts induced the P450 1A2 and - to a lesser extent - P450 1A1 apoprotein levels in the liver, whereas in the small intestine markedly enhanced P450 2B apoprotein levels could be detected. No enhanced P450 3A apoprotein levels were observed. The 5% and 20% sprouts diets increased the intestinal pentoxyresorufin depentylation (PROD, 4.5- to 9-fold) and the hydroxylation of testosterone at the 16 α and 16 β -site (2.6- to 4.2-fold) after two days of exposure. In addition, the 20% sprouts diet also enhanced the intestinal ethoxyresorufin deethylation (EROD) activity (*ca* 5-fold), the hepatic EROD and PROD activities (*ca* 2-fold) and the formation of 6 β -hydroxytestosterone (*ca* 1.6-fold); the formation of 2 α -hydroxytestosterone in the liver was decreased (to *ca* 70% of the control value).

GST activity was induced both in liver (5 and 20% diet) and intestine (20% diet only) throughout the experiment. The 20% sprouts diet enhanced the hepatic DTD and GT1 activities, whereas the GT2 activity was decreased. The induction of DTD in the small intestine after two days (2.5- to 3.2-fold with 5% and 20% sprouts diet, respectively) diminished during the experiment. These results indicate that dietary exposure to cooked Brussels sprouts for a period as short as two days can affect several phase II enzymes and cytochromes P450. P450 2B and P450 1A2 are the predominant forms to be induced in the small intestine and in the liver, respectively.

Fd Chem Toxic (in press)

Introduction

Cruciferous vegetables (especially *Brassica* species e.g. broccoli, Brussels sprouts and cauliflower) have been shown to enhance the activity of biotransformation enzymes in both animals and man [for reviews see 1,2]. The toxicity of many xenobiotics depends *i.a.* on the balance between the rate of formation of reactive metabolites by Phase I enzymes (cytochromes P450, P450) and the rate of their inactivation through conjugation by Phase II enzymes. The alteration in metabolic activity by *Cruciferae* may be responsible for the associated decrease in risk of cancer described in rodent and man [3].

So far, many researches have been focused on changes in ethoxyresorufin O-deethylation, aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylation and/or ethoxycoumarin O-deethylation activities [4-6], all - more or less specifically - representing one subfamily of the P450 forms, i.e. P450 1A (nomenclature according to Nebert *et al.* [7]). Little account has been taken of the fact that other changes in the cytochrome P450 profile may also have a considerable effect on the metabolism of various xenobiotics [8]. Measuring specific activities, i.e. 7-ethoxyresorufin and 7-pentoxyresorufin dealkylation (EROD and PROD) and the regioselective hydroxylation of testosterone, together with immunochemical staining of separate P450 profile in liver and small intestine.

Besides the induction of mixed function oxidase activities, the enhancement of several phase II enzymes such as glutathione S-transferase (GST; EC 2.5.18), UDP-glucuronyl transferase (GT; EC 2.4.1.17) and DT-diaphorase (DTD; NAD(P)H-quinone reductase; EC 1.6.99.2) due to dietary exposure to cruciferous vegetables has been described [4,9,10]. The enhancement of these mainly detoxifying enzyme systems are associated with a decrease in tumorigenesis in a way as reported for e.g. the antioxidants butylated hydroxyanisole and butylated hydroxytoluene [11].

Thus far, in most studies rats were fed a relatively high dose of raw (freeze dried) cabbage during a relatively long period. In the human diet the majority of the cruciferous vegetables are cooked before consuming. Cooking reduces the levels of glucosinolates to ca. 40 % [12], the compounds in *Cruciferae* of which the decomposition products are held responsible for the changes in biotransformation activities [1,10]. In preliminary experiments, however, no decrease in GST and DTD induction ratio could be measured in rats treated with 15% cooked Brussels sprouts (26 days) compared to a diet of 15% raw Brussels sprouts (de Groot, unpublished data). Moreover, in the same study the EROD activity was even enhanced after dietary exposure to cooked sprouts. These results indicate that cooking of cruciferous vegetables may introduce other or perhaps more effective glucosinolate such as indoles, isothiocyanates and goitrins have enzyme-inducing effects [1,10].

The aim of the present study was to investigate the effects of cooked Brussels sprouts on cytochrome P450 profile and several phase II enzymes in rat liver and small intestine, at a level and exposure time more related to the situation for man. For reason of comparison with other studies, both a high level of Brussels sprouts (20%) and long exposure times (14 and 28 days) were incorporated in the experiment.

Materials and methods

Chemicals

Testosterone, 11β- and 16α-hydroxy-testosterone (11β- and 16α-OHT) were obtained from Sigma Chemical Co., St Louis, MO, USA. 2α-OHT was a kind gift from Prof D.N. Kirk (Queen Mary College, University of London), 15β-OHT was a gift from G.D. Searle and Co., Skokie, IL, USA. 6β-, 7α- and 16β-OHT were obtained from Steraloids, Wilton, NH, USA. All other chemicals were of analytical grade. Monoclonal antibodies directed towards P450 1A1/2, P450 2B1/2 and P450 3A were all kind gifts from Dr P.J. Kremers, Université de Liège, Belgium. Secondary antibody (alkaline-phosphatase labeled) was obtained from Dakopatts a/s, Glostrup, Denmark.

Animals and diet

Male Wistar rats (Crl(WI)Br), aged 6 wk, were obtained from Charles River WIGA (Sulzfeld, FRG). Animals were housed in groups of six in stainless steel cages with wirescreen bottom and front. The room temperature was maintained at $21 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C and the relative humidity at 40-70%. A light/dark cycle of 12 hr was maintained and the ventilation rate was *ca* ten air changes/hr. Food and water were available *ad libitum*. Before the experiment all rats were fed a TNO open-formula basal diet for 7 days. Rats were allocated to four diet groups of 24 animals using a computer-generated randomnumber table. At the start of the experiment the mean body weight was *ca* 117 g.

Brussels sprouts (stored under controlled atmospheric conditions, -1°C) were purchased from the grower (Groeneboom, Ridderkerk, The Netherlands) and kept at -20°C afterwards. At intervals of three days Brussels sprouts were defrosted and cooked for 20 min in unsalted water. Due to cooking total glucosinolate levels reduced from ca 7.3 to ca 4.9 mmol/kg (ww) sprouts. Glucosinolates were determined according to the method described by Spinks et al. [13]. Cooked Brussels sprouts were incorporated into a semi-synthetic diet at levels providing 2.5, 5 and 20% of the diet's dry matter. The compositions of the test diets are given in Table 1. The diets were provided as a paste and a comparable consistency of the diets was obtained by supplementation of various amounts of water. The contents of crude protein and crude fibre were equalized by compensating with casein and cellulose. Diets were kept refrigerated at 3°C until new diets were prepared (every three days). Diet and water were provided ad libitum. The body weights of the individual rats were recorded weekly. Food intake was measured daily. After 2, 7, 14, and 28 days rats (six animals per group) were killed by bleeding from the aorta abdominalis under ether anaesthesia. The liver and the proximal 20 cm of the small intestine were collected.

Preparation of microsomes and cytosols

All procedures were performed at temperatures ranging from 0-4°C. Microsomes and cytosol of liver were prepared according to Rutten *et al.* [14]. Livers were homogenized in 3 volumes ice-cold Tris-buffered 1.15% KCl (0.01M Tris-HCl, pH 7.4) using a Potter-Elvehjem glass-teflon homogenizer. After centrifugation for 15 min at

9000 g, the post-mitochondrial fraction was centrifuged for 60 min at 105.000 g. The microsomal pellet was resuspended in Tris buffered 1.15% KCl with an ultra-turrax.

	Concentration (g/kg air-dry diet) Brussels sprouts					
Ingredients	Control	2.5%	5%	20%		
Casein	200	192	183	132		
DL-Methionine	2	2	2	2		
Cellulose	50	46	42	24		
Mineral mix*	40	40	40	40		
Vitamin ADEK prep.**	4	4	4	4		
Vitamin B mixture***	2	2	2	2		
Choline chloride (50%)	4	4	4	4		
Corn-oil	50	50	50	50		
Wheat starch (native)	498	504	511	542		
Wheat starch (pregelat.)	150	131	112	_		
Brussels sprouts (cooked)*	-	205	410	1640		
Water added	1000	900	800	200		

Table 1. Composition of the diets.

* The mineral mixture contained (per gram mix): 399 mg KH₂PO₄, 389 mg CaCO₃, 142 mg NaCl, 58 mg MgSO₄, 5.7 mg FeSO₄.7H₂O, 0.9 mg ZnCl₂, 0.8 mg CuSO₄.5H₂O, 4.6 mg MnSO₄.2H₂O, 0.02 mg CoCl₂.6H₂O, 0.08 mg KCr(SO₄)₂.12H₂O.

** The ADEK vitamin preparation contained (per gram): 939 mg vitamin AD concentrate, containing 2250 IU/g vitamin A and 750 IU/g vitamin D, 15 mg vitamin E, 1.0 mg vitamin K_3 , 45 mg wheat starch.

*** The vitamin B mixture contained (per gram): 2.5 mg thiamine-HCl, 3.0 mg riboflavin, 10 mg pyridoxin-HCl, 12.5 mg niacin, 7.5 mg Ca-panthothenate, 0.075 mg biotin, 0.5 mg folic acid, 0.035 mg vitamin B_{12} , 964 mg ground sucrose.

* The water content of cooked Brussels sprouts was ca. 88%.

Cytosol and microsomal fractions (in portions of 1 ml) were quickly frozen in liquid N₂ and stored at -80°C until use. Microsomes and cytosol of the small intestine were prepared according to Borm *et al.* [15] with modifications as described by Bogaards *et al.* [10]. Briefly, the proximal 20 cm of the small intestine was perfused with ice-cold PBS and subsequently slipped inside out over 3-mm diameter stainless steel pins mounted on a Vibro-mixer. The epithelial cells were released by vibration in PBS containing 5 mM EDTA for 40 min. The cells were repeatedly washed, suspended in 2 ml PBS and sonicated for 10 sec (amplitude 6 μ m). After centrifugation at 2500 g for 20 min, the post-mitochondrial fraction was centrifuged at 105.000 g for 60 min. The microsomal pellet was resuspended in 1 ml PBS with an ultra-turrax. Microsomes and cytosol were quickly frozen in portions of 0.5 ml in liquid N₂ and stored at -80°C.

Enzyme assays

Cytochrome P450 and protein

Contents of protein and total hepatic cytochrome P450 were determined according to Rutten *et al.* [14].

Ethoxy- and pentoxyresorufin O-dealkylation (EROD and PROD)

Fluorimetric determinations of liver and intestinal microsomal 7-ethoxyresorufin O-deethylation (EROD) and 7-pentoxyresorufin O-depentylation (PROD) activities were performed according to the method of Burke *et al.* [16] using a Cobas-Bio centrifugal analyser, equipped with a spectrofluorimeter. Less than 200 μ g microsomal protein was used in an incubation mixture of 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) and NADPH-regenerating system with a final volume of 320 μ l. Substrate was added in diluted dimethyl sulfoxide (final DMSO concentration 0.5% v/v). Substrate concentrations of 5 μ M were used.

Testosterone hydroxylation

Hepatic and intestinal hydroxylation of testosterone was determined as described previously [17]. In short, microsomes (150-400 μ g) were incubated in 1 ml potassium-phosphate buffer (50 mM, pH 7.4) containing 3 mM MgCl₂, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM NADP⁺, 5 mM glucose-6-phosphate, 1 unit/ml glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (EC 1.1.1.49) and 250 μ M testosterone at 37°C. After an incubation of 15 min, the reaction was stopped with 6 ml dichloromethane and metabolites were extracted for HPLC analysis. 11β-OHT was used as an internal standard.

Glucuronyl transferase (GT)

The activity of hepatic UDP-glucuronyl transferase was determined in activated microsomes using 4-chlorophenol as a substrate for GT1 and 4-hydroxybiphenyl as a substrate for GT2 activity [18] according to the method of Mulder and Van Doorn [19] and adapted for a Cobas-Bio centrifugal analyser.

Glutathione S-transferase (GST)

The activity of hepatic and intestinal cytosolic GST was determined with 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene (5 μ M) as a substrate using the spectrophotometric method of Habig *et al.* [20] and adapted for a Cobas-Bio centrifugal analyser.

DT-diaphorase (DTD)

Hepatic and intestinal cytosolic DTD activity was determined according to the method of Ernster [21] on a Cobas-Bio centrifugal analyser. Incubations were carried out in 320 μ l Tris buffer (25 mM, pH 7.5) containing 575 μ M NADH, 6.5 μ M FAD, 0.22% Tween 20, 0.08% BSA, 1-8 μ g cytosolic protein and 65 μ M 2,6-dichlorophenol-indophenol as the substrate. The decrease in absorbance was followed at 600 nm for 3 min with and without 10 μ M dicumarol.

Gel electrophoresis and immunoblotting

Microsomal proteins were separated by sodium dodecyl sulphate poly-acrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and immunoblotted as described previously [22]. The immunoblots were quantified using an ultrascan laser densitometer (LKB) and the results for each sample expressed as arbitrary optical density units per 2 μ g microsomal protein. Liver microsomes prepared from rats treated with β -naphthoflavone, phenobarbital and dexamethasone (for preparation see [22]) were used as positive controls.

Statistical analysis

Data are presented as means \pm SD where appropriate. Statistical differences were determined by one-way analysis of variance, followed by Dunnetts' multiple-comparison test. $P \leq 0.05$ was chosen as indicating significance.

Results

Body weights and food consumption

Body weights and food consumption did not differ significantly among the groups after 2, 7, and 14 days of dietary exposure to cooked Brussels sprouts (Table 2). After 28 days the 20%-sprouts group had a significantly lower body weight than the other groups. Food consumption appeared to be higher in the 20%-sprouts group, though the difference was only significant after one week of exposure. No differences were found in relative liver weight (data not shown).

Duration of Exposure (days)	0%	2.5%	5%	20%				
		Body weight (g) ^s						
0 2 7 14 28	$117.9 \pm 2.9 \\ 137.8 \pm 13.2 \\ 166.1 \pm 10.1 \\ 203.2 \pm 9.3 \\ 276.5 \pm 18.4 \\ Food 4$	$117.9 \pm 2.9 \\ 137.0 \pm 14.9 \\ 165.3 \pm 12.3 \\ 198.0 \pm 13.4 \\ 259.5 \pm 19.4 \\ consumption (q/r)$	$\begin{array}{r} 117.9 \pm 2.9 \\ 137.2 \pm 16.1 \\ 164.7 \pm 18.5 \\ 189.5 \pm 15.9 \\ 253.0 \pm 25.7 \\ \operatorname{rat/dav)^{SS}} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 117.9 \pm \ 2.9 \\ 130.0 \pm 14.9 \\ 164.9 \pm 15.2 \\ 194.0 \pm \ 6.2 \\ 229.5 \pm \ 4.3^{\star} \end{array}$				
2 7	27.9 30.1 ± 2.3	30.9 30.8 ± 2.5	31.3 31.9 ± 2.2	32.1 37.4 ± 2.1*				
14 28	34.8 ± 3.4 39.6 ± 3.6	34.5 ± 2.6 37.6 ± 3.8	34.4 ± 2.5 37.8 ± 2.9	38.7 ± 2.6 41.9 ± 2.8				

Table 2. Mean values of body weight and food consumption of rats fed cooked Brussels sprouts.

^{\$}Body weight values are means \pm SD for groups of six animals (day 0: 24 animals). The values marked with asterisks differ significantly (ANOVA + Dunnett's test) from the control (0%) diet at the same time (* $P \le 0.05$). ^{\$\$}The mean values for food consumption were recorded daily per cage of six animals.

Brussels sprouts and P450 enzyme profile

Cytochrome P450-dependent activities in liver and small intestine

The hepatic EROD and PROD activities were both enhanced after 2 days of exposure in the 20%-sprouts group (Fig. 1; 1.3- and 2.5-fold, respectively), whereas after 14 and 28 days of exposure these activities were also enhanced in the 5%-sprouts group (both 1.6-fold). The 6β -hydroxylation activity towards testosterone was enhanced significantly in livers from rats treated with 20% cooked Brussels sprouts after 14 and 28 days of exposure (1.5- and 1.7-fold; Table 3). A decrease of the 2 α -hydroxylation of testosterone to 70% of the activity in control rats was determined in liver from rats treated with 20% cooked Brussels sprouts after 7, 14 and 28 days of exposure. No differences were detected in the hydroxylation of testosterone at the 7 α , 16 α and 16 β site (Table 3).

The intestinal EROD and PROD activities (Fig. 2) enhanced with increasing dietary levels of Brussels sprouts, but - due to marked inter-individual differences - were only significantly different from the control in the 20%-sprouts group after 2 and 28 days of exposure for the EROD activity (4.1- and 5.6-fold, respectively) and after 7 and 28 days of exposure for the PROD activity (7.5- and 7.2-fold, respectively). The 16β- and 16α-hydroxylation of testosterone were also increased (2.5- and 2.6-fold) after 2 days of exposure to 2.5% cooked Brussels sprouts (Table 4). A higher dose of sprouts enhanced the 16β- and 16α-hydroxylation of testosterone to ca 5.3-fold at day 7. After 28 days, however, these activities were only enhanced in the 20%-sprouts group. The intestinal 6β-hydroxylation of testosterone did not differ among the groups. The formation of 7α- and 2α-OHT in intestinal microsomes was below detection levels (Table 4).

SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting

Western blot analyses were carried out to ascertain whether the observed induction in P450-dependent catalytic activities were accompanied by elevation of specific P450 apoproteins. Indeed, from two days of exposure to cooked Brussels sprouts the hepatic P450 1A2 apoprotein level was markedly induced from 10 to 80 arbitrary optical density units (O.D.) (Fig. 3). The hepatic P450 1A1 (Fig. 3) and 2B1/2 apoprotein levels, however, were only induced in the 20% sprouts group from 10 to 40 and 30 O.D. units, respectively. In the liver of sprouts-fed animals no enhanced P450 3A apoprotein could be detected.

From two days, cytochrome P450 2B1/2 apoprotein was dose-relatedly induced in the mucosa of the small intestine of rats exposed to 2.5%, 5% and 20% sprouts to 13, 20 and 71 O.D. units, respectively (Fig. 4). After 14 days of exposure also low amounts of P450 1A1 (20 O.D. units) could be detected in the intestine of the 20%-sprouts group. The monoclonal antibody towards P450 3A cross-reacted with two other proteins in the small intestine, but the molecular weight of these proteins were both higher than the cytochrome P450 3A apoprotein in liver microsomes of dexamethasone-treated rats (Fig. 5). For both proteins a dose-related induction could be revealed.



Fig. 1. 7-Ethoxyresorufin O-deethylation (EROD) and 7-pentoxyresorufin O-depentylation (PROD) activities in **liver** microsomes of rats fed cooked Brussels sprouts for 2, 7, 14 and 28 days. \square , 0%; \square , 2.5%; \square , 5%; \square , 20% cooked Brussels sprouts. Values marked with asterisks differ significantly (ANOVA + Dunnetts' test) from the corresponding control value (* $P \le 0.05$).

Day	Diet (p	P450 mol/mg protein	6β-ΟΗΤ)	7α-OHT (pm	16α-OHT ol/min/mg prote	16β-ΟΗΤ in)	2α-ΟΗΤ
2	contr 2.5% 5% 20%	850 ± 60 860 ± 90 830 ± 70 $1010 \pm 80^*$	$\begin{array}{c} 1069 \pm 306 \\ 958 \pm 201 \\ 949 \pm 205 \\ 1400 \pm 209 \end{array}$	402 ± 94 419 ± 94 414 ± 129 448 ± 97	$\begin{array}{c} 2216 \pm 658 \\ 2421 \pm 1248 \\ 1973 \pm 1051 \\ 2095 \pm 473 \end{array}$	94 ± 31 93 ± 31 84 ± 14 103 ± 15	$\begin{array}{c} 1317 \pm 400 \\ 1428 \pm 771 \\ 1180 \pm 656 \\ 1180 \pm 318 \end{array}$
7	contr 2.5% 5% 20%	$\begin{array}{c} 1060 \pm 190 \\ 950 \pm 80 \\ 980 \pm 50 \\ 1390 \pm 180 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1120 \pm 366 \\ 963 \pm 100 \\ 853 \pm 165 \\ 1566 \pm 213 \end{array}$	403 ± 120 305 ± 41 330 ± 97 420 ± 70	$\begin{array}{l} 5600 \pm 1488 \\ 3754 \pm 525 \\ 3361 \pm 933 \\ 4092 \pm 225 \end{array}$	193 ± 78 129 ± 19 115 ± 36 179 ± 14	3456 ± 871 2305 ± 319 2079 ± 562 $2444 \pm 167^*$
14	contr 2.5% 5% 20%	$\begin{array}{c} 1080 \pm 70 \\ 990 \pm 90 \\ 1110 \pm 130 \\ 1270 \pm 160^* \end{array}$	812 ± 172 899 ± 159 866 ± 237 $1234 \pm 118^*$	321 ± 94 306 ± 87 390 ± 86 332 ± 778	4939 ± 925 4110 ± 762 3741 ± 1781 3735 ± 779	197 ± 82 157 ± 35 133 ± 79 147 ± 34	$\begin{array}{c} 3113 \pm 511 \\ 2564 \pm 423 \\ 2335 \pm 1047 \\ 2252 \pm 450^* \end{array}$
28	contr 2.5% 5% 20%	$\begin{array}{c} 1070 \pm 50 \\ 1150 \pm 100 \\ 1210 \pm 190 \\ 1240 \pm 120 \end{array}$	775 ± 148 1038 ± 176 1096 ± 227 1359 ± 273*	291 ± 47 279 ± 21 326 ± 64 350 ± 53	4907 ± 569 5394 ± 838 5659 ± 1293 3790 ± 1037	170 ± 39 187 ± 42 216 ± 50 176 ± 57	$\begin{array}{c} 2995 \pm 292 \\ 3232 \pm 476 \\ 3382 \pm 759 \\ 2217 \pm 589^* \end{array}$

Table 3. The effects of dietary exposure to cooked Brussels sprouts on the P450 content and P450-dependent hydroxylation of testosterone in rat liver.

Values are means \pm SD for six determinations. Those marked with asterisks differ significantly (ANOVA + Dunnetts' test) from the corresponding control value (* $P \le 0.05$).

Brussels sprouts and P450 enzyme profile



Fig. 2. 7-Ethoxyresorufin O-deethylation (EROD) and 7-pentoxyresorufin O-depentylation (PROD) activities in microsomes prepared from the small intestine of rats fed cooked Brussels sprouts for 2, 7, and 28 days. \Box , 0%; \boxtimes , 2.5%; \boxtimes , 5%; \boxtimes , 20% cooked Brussels sprouts. Values marked with asterisks differ significantly (ANOVA + Dunnetts' test) from the corresponding control value (* $P \le 0.05$).

Day	Diet	6β-OHT (pm	16α-OHT ol/min/mg pro	16β-OHT tein)	GST (nmol/min. mg protein)	DTD (nmol/min. mg protein)
2	contr	171	51	26	401 ± 108	107 ± 45
	2.5%	174	128	68	487 ± 101	180 ± 101
	5%	222	186	105	495 ± 146	272 ± 111*
	20%	156	211	114	$823 \pm 89^*$	341 ± 95*
7	contr	146	53	29	582 ± 163	67 ± 24
	2.5%	180	75	39	744 ± 179	91 ± 7
	5%	189	141	73	776 ± 58	133 ± 85
	20%	176	277	157	1053 ± 157*	229 ± 209
28	contr	176	68	47	694 ± 116	140 ± 55
	2.5%	149	77	37	581 ± 141	183 ± 156
	5%	161	90	44	707 ± 86	150 ± 54
	20%	120	267	144	1022 ± 162*	212 ± 129

Table 4. The effects of dietary exposure to cooked Brussels sprouts on the P450-dependent hydroxylation of testosterone, glutathione S-transferase and DT-diaphorase in the rat small intestine.

Values are means of duplicate measurements for the hydroxylation of testosterone and means \pm SD for six determinations for GST and DTD. Those marked with asterisks differ significantly (ANOVA + Dunnett's test) from the corresponding control value (* $P \le 0.05$).





Fig. 3. SDS-PAGE immunodetection of P450 1A1/2 apoproteins in liver microsomes prepared from rats treated with 0%, 2.5%, 5% and 20% cooked Brussels sprouts. Liver microsomes prepared from a rat treated with β -naphthoflavone (BNF) were used as a positive control. The immunoblots were quantified with laser densitometry and results are given in arbitrary optical density (O.D.) units. Upper band: P450 1A1: 20%, 39 O.D.; BNF, 865 O.D. Lower band: P450 1A2: 0%, 10 O.D.; 2.5%, 31 O.D.; 5%, 31 O.D.; 20 %, 79 O.D.; BNF, 278 O.D. (Values are means of duplicate measurements).



Fig. 4. SDS-PAGE-in munodetection of P450 2B1/2 apoproteins in microsomes prepared from the small intestine of rats treated with 0%, 2.5%, 5% and 20% cooked Brussels sprouts. Liver microsomes prepared from a rat treated with phenobarbital (PB) were used as a positive control. The immunoblots were quantified with laser densitometry and results are given in arbitrary optical density (O.D.) units. P450 1B1: 2.5%, 13 O.D.; 5%, 20 O.D.; 20%, 71 O.D.; PB, 217 O.D.

Brussels sprouts and P450 enzyme profile



Fig. 5. SDS-PAGE-immunodetection of P450 3A apoprotein in microsomes prepared from the small intestine of rats treated with 0%, 2.5%, 5% and 20% cooked Brussels sprouts. Liver microsomes prepared from a rat treated with dexamethasone (DEX) were used as a positive control. Immunoblots were quantified with laser densitometry and results are given in arbitrary optical density units (O.D.). Upper band: 0%, 27 O.D.; 2.5%, 30 O.D.; 5%, 48 O.D.; 20%, 46 O.D. Lower band: 0%, 18 O.D.; 2.5%, 18 O.D.; 5%, 20 O.D.; 20%, 26 O.D. DEX microsomes: P450 3A, 68 O.D.

Phase II enzymes in liver and intestine

The effects of dietary Brussels sprouts on GST, GT1, GT2 and DTD in the liver are given in Table 5. GST activity was increased after 2 days of exposure to 5% and 20% cooked Brussels sprouts (1.2-fold). This difference increased to 1.5-fold throughout the experiment. The GT1 activity was increased in the 20%-sprouts group after 2 (1.2-fold), 7 (1.6-fold), 14 (1.9-fold) and 28 (2.4-fold) days of exposure. After 28 days, the GT1 activity was also increased in the 2.5%- and the 5%-sprouts group (*ca* 1.4-fold). A decrease to *ca* 75% of the control group in GT2 activity was detected in livers from rats treated with 2.5% and 5% cooked Brussels sprouts during the first week of exposure. In the 20%-sprouts group, however, the GT2 activity was higher than in the control group at day 14 and 28. The DTD activity in the liver was enhanced in rats fed with 20% Brussels sprouts after 2 (1.9-fold) and 28 days (3.5-fold; Table 5).

Intestinal GST activity was significantly increased in rats treated with 20% cooked Brussels sprouts after 2, 7 and 28 days of exposure to 2.1-, 1.8- and 1.5-fold, respectively. Dietary exposure to lower levels of cooked Brussels sprouts did not affect the intestinal GST activity (Table 4). The DTD activity in the small intestine was enhanced at a dose of 5% and 20% cooked Brussels sprouts after two days of exposure (2.5- and 3.2-fold, respectively; Table 4). Longer exposure to these diets resulted in enhanced DTD activities, but the difference towards the control group diminished after 28 days.

Day	Diet	GST (μmol/min. mg protein)	GT1 ^{\$} (nmc mg p	GT1 ^{\$} GT2 ^{\$} (nmol/min. mg protein)	
2	contr 2.5% 5% 20%	$\begin{array}{c} 2.6 \pm 0.3 \\ 2.8 \pm 0.4 \\ 3.0 \pm 0.3^* \\ 3.0 \pm 0.3^* \end{array}$	96 ± 10 101 ± 13 110 ± 12 117 ± 4*	37 ± 3 $32 \pm 2^*$ 39 ± 4 39 ± 4	845 ± 432 858 ± 452 1373 ± 723 1581 ± 311*
7	contr 2.5% 5% 20%	2.0 ± 0.2 2.2 ± 0.2 $2.4 \pm 0.2^*$ $3.0 \pm 0.3^*$	82 ± 14 74 ± 7 74 ± 10 131 ± 27*	38 ± 8 29 ± 3* 29 ± 2* 46 ± 9	$704 \pm 388 \\ 500 \pm 329 \\ 831 \pm 487 \\ 673 \pm 553$
14	contr 2.5% 5% 20%	$\begin{array}{c} 2.1 \pm 0.3 \\ 2.3 \pm 0.2 \\ 2.2 \pm 0.2 \\ 3.1 \pm 0.2^* \end{array}$	43 ± 8 49 ± 6 51 ± 9 80 ± 12*	23 ± 4 24 ± 4 28 ± 3 $32 \pm 4^*$	$\begin{array}{c} 411 \pm 353 \\ 292 \pm 198 \\ 440 \pm 439 \\ 574 \pm 383 \end{array}$
28	contr 2.5% 5% 20%	$\begin{array}{c} 1.9 \pm 0.2 \\ 1.9 \pm 0.2 \\ 2.3 \pm 0.1^{*} \\ 3.0 \pm 0.2^{*} \end{array}$	30 ± 4 40 ± 3* 47 ± 7* 73 ± 7*	19 ± 4 22 \pm 3 24 \pm 6 30 \pm 2*	443 ± 272 534 ± 163 870 ± 264 $1556 \pm 529^*$

Table 5. The effects of dietary exposure to cooked Brussels sprouts on glutathione S-transferase, glucuronyl transferase and DT-diaphorase activities in rat liver.

Values are means \pm SD for six determinations. Those marked with asterisks differ significantly (ANOVA + Dunnetts' test) from the corresponding control value (* $P \le 0.05$). ^s glucuronyl transferase activity was measured towards 4-chlorophenol (GT1) and 4-hydroxybiphenyl (GT2).

Discussion

We have shown that dietary exposure to cooked Brussels sprouts at levels as low as 2.5 and 5% in the diet for only two days can result in markedly induced levels of P450 2B1 in the small intestine and P450 1A2 in the liver. Besides immunochemical detection of apoproteins, we used marker substrates to study the catalytic activities of these and some other forms of P450. In this respect, the selective dealkylation of ethoxyand pentoxyresorufin are used as marker activities for the P450 1A1/2 and P450 2B1/2 enzymes, respectively [16]. The regioselective hydroxylation of testosterone provides the catalytic activities of four P450 enzymes i.e. the formation of 2α -OHT is predominantly catalysed by P450 2C11, 16 β -OHT by P450 2B1 [23,24], 7 α -OHT by P450 2A [25] and 6 β -OHT by P450 3A [26]. In our study, the enhanced EROD activity in the liver from rats exposed to 5% and 20% sprouts corresponds with the higher P450 1A2 and 1A1

Brussels sprouts and P450 enzyme profile

apoprotein levels. The induction of this P450 1A subfamily by both cruciferous vegetables and isolated indoles as measured as arylhydrocarbon hydroxylase activity or EROD was already suggested by others [5,6]. The higher PROD activity, however, was not accompanied by enhanced P450 2B apoprotein levels in the liver. Nakajima et al. [27] reported that in untreated animals the more constitutive enzyme P450 2C11 is highly responsible for the EROD and PROD activities in absence of P450 1A1 and P450 2B1. respectively, indicating that at a low rate these activities are not that specific as generally is assumed. Moreover, it has been shown that in liver microsomes from BNF-treated rats the PROD activity is co-enhanced to 5-fold without induction of P450 2B apoprotein levels [22]. The higher formation of 6β-OHT in the liver of the 20% sprouts group is probably also due to other P450-forms than P450 3A (e.g. P450 1A [26]), because no induction of this P450 apoprotein could be detected. The decreased hydroxylation rate at the 2α site of testosterone in the 20% sprouts group indicates a reduction of P450 2C11, a more constitutive P450 enzyme [26]. A similar coordinated decrease of 2α -OHT in the liver has been reported for other P450 1A1/2 inducers [22,24]. The fact that the formation of 7α -OHT is not influenced by Brussels sprouts, suggests the absence of an effect of these diets on P450 2A in the liver [25].

The induced P450 2B apoprotein level in the small intestine was mirrored by enhanced PROD and formation of 16β-OHT and 16α-OHT, both preferentially catalysed by P450 2B [23]. The higher induction ratio for both EROD and PROD in the small intestine as compared to the induction ratio in the liver is in agreement with previous data from our own laboratory [28] and data reported by others [4,5]. In the present study, however, only very low apoprotein levels of P450 1A1 and 1A2 could be detected in the small intestine. The induction and immunochemical detection of both P450 1A1 as well as P450 2B1 and P450 3A apoproteins in the small intestinal mucosa of rats due to oral exposure to various xenobiotics and dietary components has been described [29-31]. Moreover, Lindeskog et al. [29] described almost complete inhibition of EROD activity in the small intestine from untreated and BNF-treated animals with antibodies raised towards P450 1A1. Whether the 8-fold induction of EROD activity in the small intestine in our study is related to the highly enhanced P450 2B or the only slightly enhanced P450 1A apoprotein (or even other forms of P450) is not clear. A broader range of substrate specificities for P450 enzymes in extrahepatic tissues than in liver was also suggested by Sesardic et al. [32] who reported P450 1A1-immunoinhibition of the O-deethylation of phenacetin in small intestine, whereas no catalytic activity of P450 1A1 towards phenacetin in the liver could be detected. These data emphasize the need to determine both catalytic activities and apoprotein and/or mRNA levels to determine which P450 enzyme could be responsible for the observed changes in metabolic profile.

Along with the enhancement of both P450 1A and P450 2B, the activity of GST and DTD were increased in both liver and small intestine, after a period as short as two days to 5% cooked Brussels sprouts, already. Previously, Bogaards *et al.* [10] reported a linear relationship between the amount of Brussels sprouts and the induction of different subunits of GST, after an exposure of *ca* 4 weeks. In the present study we show a time-related induction of both GST, GT and DTD in the liver. The fact that a third phase II enzyme, GT1, was also enhanced in the liver as a result of dietary exposure to cooked

Brussels sprouts, indicates even more the wide spectrum of enhanced biotransformation pathways after consuming this type of cruciferous vegetable.

In humans frequent ingestion of cruciferous vegetables is associated with a decrease in risk for cancer in the gastro-intestinal tract [33,34]. Feeding animals diets containing either cruciferous vegetables or isolated glucosinolate-breakdown products decreased the tumorigenesis associated with e.g. aflatoxin B₁ and dimethylbenz[a]anthracene [35,36]. The inhibition of carcinogenesis by e.g. antioxidants is highly associated with the induction of phase II enzyme GST (for review see Williams *et al.*, 1989). On the other hand, the markedly enhanced cytochrome P450 catalytic activities in the small intestine may result in increased intestinal first pass clearance of xenobiotics - which has been shown the case for the drug phenacetin [37] - but also for various food compounds coingested within one single meal. In this respect, McDanell *et al.* [38] reported a marked induction of P450 activity (EROD) in the small intestine of rats within 4 to 6 hr after a single meal of 25% Brussels sprouts.

The present study has shown the induction of both phase I and phase II enzymes after only a short exposure to Brussels sprouts. The disturbance in biotransformation activities in the liver but especially in the small intestine could have great consequences for the metabolism of various biologically active compounds.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank Ms A.M. van de Velde, Mrs C. van der Meer, Ms W. Kreuning, and Mr J.F. Catsburg for technical assistance, Ir J. Vuik for the analyses of the glucosinolates and Dr A.P. de Groot for helpful discussions about the diet composition.

References

- 1. McDanell R, McLean AEM, Hanley AB, Heaney RK and Fenwick GR, Chemical and biological properties of indole glucosinolates (glucobrassicins): a review. *Fd Chem Toxic* 26: 59-70, 1988.
- 2. Noordhoek J and Bladeren PJ van, Nutrition and Extrahepatic Metabolism. In *Nutrition, Toxicity and Cancer*, Ed. I Roland, Telford Press, Caldwell, 1991, in press
- Williams DE, Dashwood RH, Hendricks JD.and Bailey GS, Anticarcinogens and tumor promoters in foods. In *Food Toxicology: A perspective on the relative risks*. (Eds SL Taylor and RA Scanlan) pp. 101-150, Marcel Dekker Inc., New York, 1989.
- Salbe AD and Bjeldanes LF, Dietary influences on rat hepatic and intestinal DT-diaphorase activity. Fd Chem Toxic 24: 851-856, 1986.
- 5. Bradfield CA and Bjeldanes LF, Effect of dietary indole-3-carbinol on intestinal and hepatic monooxygenase, glutathione S-transferase and epoxide hydrolase activities in the rat. Fd Chem Toxic 22: 977-982, 1984.
- McDanell R, McLean AEM, Hanley AB, Heaney RK and Fenwick GR, Differential induction of mixed-function oxidase (MFO) activity in rat liver and intestine by diets containing processed cabbage: correlation with cabbage levels of glucosinolates and glucosinolate hydrolysis products. *Fd Chem Toxic* 25: 363-368, 1987.
- 7. Nebert DW, Nelson DR, Coon MJ, Estabrook RW, Feyereisen R, Fujii-Kuriyama Y, Gonzalez FJ, Guengerich FP, Gunsalus IC, Johnson EF, Loper JC, Sato R, Waterman MR and Waxman DJ, The

P450 superfamily: update on new sequences, gene mapping, and recommended nomenclature. DNA Cell Biol 10: 1-14, 1991.

- 8. Conney AH, Induction of microsomal cytochrome P-450 enzymes. Life Sci 39, 2493-2518, 1986.
- 9. Aspry KE and Bjeldanes LF, Effects of dietary broccoli and butylated hydroxyanisole on livermediated metabolism of benzo[a]pyrene. Fd Chem Toxic 21: 133-142, 1983.
- Bogaards JJP, Ommen B van, Falke HE, Willems MI and Bladeren PJ van, Glutathione S-transferase subunit induction patterns of Brussels sprouts, allyl isothiocyanate and goitrin in rat liver and small intestinal mucosa: a new approach for the identification of inducing xenobiotics. Fd Chem Toxic 28: 81-88, 1990.
- 11. Kensler TW, Egner PA, Trush MA, Bueding E and Groopman JD, Modification of aflatoxin B1 binding to DNA in vivo in rats fed phenolic antioxidants, ethoxyquin and a dithiolthione. *Carcinogenesis* 6: 759-763, 1985.
- 12. Vos RH de and Blijleven WGH, The effect of processing conditions on glucosinolates in cruciferous vegetables. Zeitschr Lebensm Unter Forsch 187: 525-529, 1988.
- 13. Spinks EA, Sones K and Fenwick GR, The quantitative analysis of glucosinolates in cruciferous vegetables, oilseed and forage crops using high-performance liquid chromatography. *Fette Seifen AnstrichM* 6: 228-231, 1984.
- Rutten AAJJL, Falke HE, Catsburg JF, Topp R, Blaauboer BJ, Holsteijn I van, Doorn L and Leeuwen FXR van, Interlaboratory comparison of total cytochrome P-450 and protein determinations in rat liver microsomes. Arch Toxicol 61: 27-33, 1987.
- 15. Borm PJA, Koster AS, Frankhuijzen-Sierevogel CJ and Noordhoek J, Comparison of two cell isolation procedures to study in vitro intestinal wall biotransformation in control and 3-methylcholanthrene pretreated rat. *Cell Biochem Funct* 1: 161-167, 1983.
- 16. Burke MD, Thompson S, Elcombe CR, Halpert J, Haaparanta T and Mayer RT, Ethoxy-, pentoxy- and benzyloxyphenoxazones and homologues: a series of substrates to distinguish between different induced cytochromes P-450. *Biochem Pharmacol* 34: 3337-3345, 1985.
- Wortelboer HM, Kruif CA de, Iersel AAJ van, Falke HE, Noordhoek J and Blaauboer BJ, The isoenzyme pattern of cytochrome P450 in rat hepatocytes in primary culture, comparing different enzyme activities in microsomal incubations and in intact monolayers. *Biochem Pharmacol* 40: 2525-2534, 1990.
- 18. Batt AM, Martin N and Siest G, Induction of group-I and group-II UDP-glucuronyltransferase in microsomes from the livers of C57BL/6 mice. *Toxicol Lett* 9: 355-360, 1981.
- Mulder GJ and Doorn ABD van, A rapid NAD*-linked assay for microsomal uridine diphosphate glucuronyltransferase of rat liver and some observations on substrate specificity of the enzyme. *Biochem J* 151: 131-140, 1975.
- 20. Habig WH, Pabst MJ and Jakoby WB, Glutathione S-transferases. The first enzymatic step in mercapturic acid formation. J Biol Chem 249: 7130-7139, 1974.
- Ernster L, DT-diaphorase. In *Methods in Enzymology Vol. 10*. Eds. RW Estabrook and ME Pullman. pp. 309-317. Academic Press, New York, 1967.
- 22. Wortelboer HM, Kruif CA de, Iersel AAJ van, Falke HE, Noordhoek J and Blaauboer BJ, Comparison of cytochrome P450 isoenzyme profiles in rat liver and hepatocyte cultures: the effects of model inducers on apoproteins and biotransformation activities. *Biochem Pharmacol* **42**: 381-390, 1991.
- 23. Wood AW, Ryan DE, Thomas PE and Levin W, Regio and stereoselective metabolism of two C-19 steroids by five highly purified and reconstituted rat hepatic cytochrome P-450 isoenzymes. *J Biol Chem* 258: 8839-8847, 1983.
- 24. Sonderfan AJ, Arlotto MP, Dutton DR, McMillen SK and Parkinson A, Regulation of testosterone hydroxylation by rat liver microsomal P-450. Arch Biochem Biophys 255: 27-41, 1987.
- Levin W, Thomas PE, Ryan DE and Wood AW, Isozyme specificity of testosterone 7α-hydroxylation in rat hepatic microsomes: is cytochrome P-450a the sole catalyst? Arch Biochem Biophys 258: 630-635, 1987.

- Waxman DJ, Interactions of hepatic cytochromes P-450 with steroid hormones: regioselectivity and stereoselectivity of steroid metabolism and hormonal regulation of rat P-450 enzyme expression. *Biochem Pharmacol* 37: 71-84, 1988.
- Nakajima T, Elovaara E, Park SS, Gelboin HV, Hietanen E and Vainio H, Monoclonal antibodydirected characterization of benzene, ethoxyresorufin and pentoxyresorufin metabolism in rat liver microsomes. *Biochem Pharmacol* 40: 1255-1261, 1990.
- 28. Falke HE, Groot AP de and Willems MI, Enzyme activities in intestinal mucosa and liver ofrats fed cauliflower or allylisothiocyanate. In "Proceedings European Food Toxicology II: Interdisciplinary conference on natural toxicants in food", pp. 322-327, Zurich, Switzerland, 1986.
- Lindeskog P, Haaparanta T, Norgard M, Glaumann H, Hansson T and Gustafsson J-A, Isolation of rat intestinal microsomes: partial characterization of mucosal cytochrome P-450. Arch Biochem Biophys 244: 492-501, 1986.
- Watkins PB, Wrighton SA, Schuetz EG, Molowa DT and Guzelian PS, Identification of glucocorticoid-inducible cytochromes P-450 in the intestinal mucosa of rats and man. J Clin Invest 80: 1029-1036, 1987.
- 31. Traber PG, Chianale J, Florence R, Kim K, Wojcik E and Gumucio JJ, Expression of cytochrome P450b and P450e genes in small intestinal mucosa of rats following treatment with phenobarbital, polyhalogenated biphenyls, and organochlorine pesticides. J Biol Chem 263: 9449-9455, 1988.
- 32. Sesardic D, Boobis A and Davies D, Tissue specific inducibility of members of the P450IA gene subfamily in rat and man. In *Xenobiotic Metabolism and Disposition* (Eds. R Kato, R Estabrook and M Cayne) pp. 42-52. Taylor and Francis, Philadelphia, 1989.
- 33. Graham S, Results of case-control studies of diet and cancer in Buffalo, New York. Cancer Res (suppl) 43: 2409-2413, 1983.
- 34. Hirayama T, Diet and Cancer: feasibility and importance of prospective cohort study. In *Diet and Human Carcinogenesis* (Eds. JV Joossens, MJ Hill and J Geboers) pp. 191-198 Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam, 1985.
- 35. Wattenberg LW and Loub WD, Inhibition of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon induced neoplasia by naturally occuring indoles. *Cancer Res* 38: 1410-1413, 1987.
- 36. Boyd JN, Babish JG and Stoewsand GS, Modification by beet and cabbage diets of aflatoxinB1induced rat plasma α -foetoprotein elevation, hepatic tumorigenesis and mutagenicity of urine. Fd Chem Toxic 20: 47-52, 1982.
- 37. Klippert PJM, Littel RJJ and Noordhoek J, *In vivo* O-deethylation of phenacetin in 3-methylcholanthrene pretreated rats: gut wall and liver first-pass metabolism *J Pharmac Exp Therap* **225**: 153-157, 1983.
- McDanell R, McLean AEM, Hanley AB, Heaney RK and Fenwick GR, The effect of feeding Brassica vegetables and intact glucosinolates on mixed-function-oxidase activity in the livers and intestines of rats. Fd Chem Toxic 27: 289-293, 1990.

Wortelboer, H. Primary hepatocyte cultures as a model system fo the determination of induction of biotransformation enzymes. Effects of glucosinalte hydrolysis products. Utrecht, Rijksuniversiteit, 1991.

CHAPTER 5

EFFECTS OF INDOLE-3-CARBINOL ON BIOTRANSFORMATION ENZYMES IN THE RAT *In vivo* changes in liver and small intestinal mucosa in comparison with primary hepatocyte cultures

H.M. Wortelboer¹, E.C.M. van der Linden², C.A. de Kruif¹, J. Noordhoek¹, B.J. Blaauboer¹, P.J. van Bladeren² and H.E. Falke².

¹ Research Institute of Toxicology (RITOX), University of Utrecht ² TNO-Toxicology and Nutrition Institute, Zeist The Netherlands

Abstract

Groups of male Wistar rats were fed semi-synthetic diets containing 0, 200 and 500 mg/kg indole-3carbinol (I3C) for either 2, 7, 14 or 28 days. Two days of exposure I3C already induced P450 enzymes, but the enzyme pattern induced were different in the liver and small intestine. In the liver P450 1A1, 1A2 and 2B1 apoprotein levels were dose-relatedly enhanced, whereas in the small intestine induced levels of P450 2B1, 1A1 but not 1A2 apoprotein were detected. Pentoxy- and ethoxyresorufin dealkylation (PROD and EROD) were dose-relatedly enhanced in liver (5- and 7-fold, respectively) as well as small intestine (8- and 13-fold, respectively) after two days. Testosterone 16α - and 16β -hydroxylation in the small intestine were enhanced (6 to 9-fold) from two days onwards, whereas in the liver these activities were only slightly enhanced from 7 days onwards. Thus, the major forms induced in the liver appear to be P450 1A1, 1A2 and 2B1, whereas in small intestine all effects found are associated with a single P450, namely 2B1.

After two days I3C (500 mg/kg) slightly induced glutathione S-transferase in liver and small intestine. Hepatic glucuronyl transferase (GT1) was induced (*ca.* 1.6-fold) after 7, 14 and 28 days. DT-diaphorase in liver and small intestine was induced from 14 days of exposure to 500 mg/kg I3C (2.7- and 1.5-fold, respectively).

Treatment of rat hepatocytes with indole-3-acetonitrile and 3,3'-diindolylmethane, but not I3C and indole-3-carboxaldehyde, enhanced the EROD activity and halved testosterone 16α - and 2α -hydroxylation. All four indoles slightly induced glutathione S-transferase in cultured hepatocytes. Thus, the *in vitro* studies suggest that the *in vivo* effects of I3C have to be attributed to indole-condensation products, such as 3,3'-diindolylmethane, but not to I3C itself.

Fd Chem Toxic (submitted)

Introduction

The indolylmethyl glucosinolate (glucobrassicin) is a major compound found in cruciferous vegetables such as broccoli, Brussels sprouts, cabbage and cauliflower [1]. Disruption of cells and hydrolysis of glucobrassicin by the plant enzyme myrosinase results in the formation of several indole compounds, among them indole-3-carbinol (I3C), indole-3-acetonitrile, and 3,3'-diindolylmethane [2,3]. Increased intake of cruciferous vegetables is associated with a decreased risk of cancer of the colon, rectum and bladder in man [4]. Feeding rodents a diet supplemented with brassica vegetables or isolated indole glucosinolate hydrolysis products decreased e.g. aflatoxin B_1 -induced liver neoplasia, dimethylbenz[a]anthracene-induced mammary tumorigenesis and benzo[a]pyrene-induced forestomach and lung tumour formation (for review see [3]). This inhibitory effect towards a wide range of carcinogens is thought to be associated with an overall inductive effect on several biotransformation enzymes [5].

Cruciferous vegetables are effective inducers of both phase I (cytochromes P450) and phase II enzymes in rodents and humans [3,6]. Dictary exposure to I3C alone results also in an enhancement of phase I and - to a lesser extent - phase II enzyme activities in the liver and, more pronounced, in the small intestine of rodents [7-10]. So far, in most studies the cytochrome P450 activities associated with the subfamily P450 1A were determined. Now, more and more is known about the diversity of the superfamily of P450 enzymes, among which are four different xenobiotic-inducible families [11]. In a previous study, we studied the P450 pattern in the liver and the small intestine of rats fed cooked Brussels sprouts [12]. P450 1A2 was the predominant form to be induced in the liver, whereas in the small intestine P450 2B1 was induced. Moreover, a decreased hepatic hydroxylation of testosterone at the 2α -site was measured, indicating a decreased level of the constitutive P450-form, P450 2C11 [13]. This latter enzyme is associated with the formation of the reactive metabolite of aflatoxin B, in rat [14]. On the other hand, induction of phase II enzymes e.g. glutathione S-transferase (GST; EC 2.5.18) and DT-diaphorase (DTD; NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase; EC 1.6.99.2) is also correlated with a decrease in tumorigenesis [5,15].

The aim of the present study was to investigate the effects of I3C on the cytochrome P450 profile in liver and small intestine in more detail. Different marker substrates and Western blotting were used to determine the catalytic activities and apoprotein levels of P450 enzymes. In addition, the effects of I3C on several phase II enzymes (GST, DTD and glucuronyl transferases (GT; EC. 2.4.1.17)) were determined. To evaluate which indole-derivative could be responsible for the changes in biotransformation activities primary cultures of rat hepatocytes were treated with I3C, indole-3-acetonitrile (I3A), 3,3'-diindolylmethane (DIM) and indole-3-carboxaldehyde (I3CA, an oxidative metabolite of both I3C and I3A (Van Bladeren, unpublished results)).

Materials and methods

Chemicals

Indole-3-carbinol was obtained from Aldrich Chemical Co., Milwaukee, WI, USA. Testosterone, 11 β - and 16 α -hydroxytestosterone (11 β - and 16 α -OHT) were obtained from Sigma Chemical Co., St Louis, MO, USA. 6 β -, 7 α -, 16 β - and 19-OHT were obtained from Steraloids, Wilton, NH, USA. 2 α -OHT was a kind gift from Prof D.N. Kirk (Queen Mary College, University of London), 15 β -OHT was a gift from G.D. Searle and Co., Skokie, IL, USA. 3,3'-diindolylmethane was a kind gift from Ir J. Vuik (TNO-Toxicology and Nutrition Institute, Zeist, The Netherlands). All other chemicals were of analytical grade. Monoclonal antibodies directed towards P450 1A1/2, P450 2B1/2 and P450 3A were kind gifts from Dr P.J. Kremers, Université de Liège, Belgium. Polyclonal antibodies directed towards P450 2E and P450 4A were kind gifts from Dr I. Johansson (Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden) and Dr G.G. Gibson, University of Surrey, Guildford, UK), respectively. Secondary antibodies (alkaline phosphatase labeled) were obtained from Dakopatts a/s, Glostrup, Denmark.

Animals and diet

Male Wistar rats (Crl:(WI)Br), aged 8 wk, were obtained from Charles River WIGA (Sulzfeld, FRG). Animals were housed in groups of five in stainless steel cages with wire-screen bottom and front. The room temperature was maintained at $21 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C and the relative humidity at 40-70%. A light/dark cycle of 12 hr was maintained and the ventilation rate was *ca*. ten air changes/hr. Food and water were available *ad libitum*. Before the experiment all rats were fed a TNO open-formula basal diet for 7 days. Rats were allocated to three diet groups of 15 animals using a computer-generated random-number table.

Indole-3-carbinol was incorporated into a semi-synthetic diet at levels providing 200 and 500 mg/kg diet. The composition of the test diets are given in Table 1. Diets were kept refrigerated at 3°C until new diets were prepared (every three days). Body weights of the individual rats were recorded weekly. Food intake was measured daily. After 2, 7, 14 and 28 days, respectively, rats were killed by bleeding from the aorta abdominalis under ether anaesthesia. The livers and the proximal 20 cm of the small intestines were collected.

Preparation of microsomes and cytosols

All procedures were performed at temperatures ranging from 0-4°C. Microsomes and cytosol of liver were prepared according to Rutten *et al* [16]. Livers were homogenized in 3 volumes ice-cold Tris-buffered 1.15% KCl (0.01 M Tris-HCl, pH 7.4) using a Potter-Elvehjem glass-Teflon homogenizer. After centrifugation for 15 min at 9000 g, the post-mitochondrial fraction was centrifuged for 60 min at 105,000 g. The microsomal pellet was resuspended in Tris buffered 1.15% KCl with an ultra-turrax. Cytosol and microsomal fractions were quickly frozen in liquid N₂ and stored at -80°C. Microsomes and cytosol of the small intestine were prepared according to Borm *et al* [17] with modifications as described by Bogaards *et al* [18]. Briefly, the proximal 20 cm

of the small intestine was perfused with ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and subsequently slipped inside out over 3-mm diameter stainless steel pins mounted on a Vibro-mixer. The epithelial cells were released by vibration in PBS containing 5 mM EDTA for 40 min. The cells were repeatedly washed, suspended in 2 ml PBS and sonicated for 10 sec (amplitude 6 μ m). After centrifugation at 2500 g for 20 min, the post-mitochondrial fraction was centrifuged at 105.000 g for 60 min. The microsomal pellet was resuspended in 1 ml PBS with an ultra turrax. Microsomes and cytosol were quickly frozen in liquid N₂ and stored at -80°C.

	Cor	Concentration (g/kg diet) Indole-3-carbinol				
Ingredients	Control	200 mg/kg	500 mg/kg			
Casein	130	130	130			
Cellulose	50	50	50			
Mineral mix*	35	35	35			
Vitamin ADEK prep.**	3	3	3			
Vitamin B mixture***	2	2	2			
Corn-oil	50	50	50			
Wheat starch (native)	300	300	300			
Soy-protein isolate	130	130	130			
Sucrose	300	300	300			
Indole-3-carbinol	0	0.2	0.5			

Table 1. Composition of the diets

* The mineral mixture contained (per gram mix): 399 mg KH_2PO_4 , 389 mg CaCO₃, 142 mg NaCl, 58 mg MgSO₄, 5.7 mg FeSO₄.7H₂O, 0.9 mg ZnCl₂, 0.8 mg CuSO₄.5H₂O, 4.6 mg MnSO₄.2H₂O, 0.02 mg CoCl₂.6H₂O, 0.08 mg KCr(SO₄)₂.12H₂O.

** The ADEK vitamin preparation contained (per gram): 939 mg vitamin AD concentrate, containing 2 IU/g vitamin A and 750 IU/g vitamin D, 15 mg vitamin E, 1.0 mg vitamin K_3 , 45 mg wheat starch.

*** The vitamin B mixture contained (per gram): 2.5 mg thiamine-HCl, 3.0 mg riboflavin, 10 mg pyridoxin-HCl, 12.5 mg niacin, 7.5 mg Ca-pantothenate, 0.075 mg biotin, 0.5 mg folic acid, 0.035 mg vitamin B_{12} , 964 mg ground sucrose.

Isolation and culture of hepatocytes

Hepatocytes were isolated from untreated rats and cultured as described previously [19]. After 24 hr in culture, indoles dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) were added to the culture media. The highest non-cytotoxic concentration was used (10 μ g/ml of I3C

Indole-3-carbinol and P450 enzyme profiles

(68 nM), I3CA (69 nM) and DIM (36 nM), respectively and 40 μ g/ml I3A (260 nM)). An equal amount of DMSO was added to the control cultures (final DMSO concentration 0.1% v/v). Media with/without indoles were refreshed every 24 hr. After 48 hr of exposure, cells were harvested, and microsomes and cytosol prepared as described [19].

Enzyme assays

Cytochrome P450 and protein

Contents of protein and total hepatic cytochrome P450 were determined according to Rutten *et al* [16].

Ethoxy- and pentoxyresorufin O-dealkylation (EROD and PROD)

Fluorimetric determinations of the dealkylation of ethoxyresorufin (EROD) and pentoxyresorufin (PROD) were performed according to the method of Burke *et al* [20] using a Cobas-Bio centrifugal analyser equipped with a spectrofluorimeter. Less than 200 μ g microsomal protein was used in an incubation mixture of 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) and NADPH regenerating system in a final volume of 320 μ l. Substrate (final concentration 5 μ M) was added as diluted in DMSO (final DMSO concentration 0.5% v/v).

Testosterone hydroxylation

Hepatic and intestinal hydroxylation of testosterone was determined as described by Wortelboer *et al* [19]. In short, microsomes (150-400 μ g protein) were incubated in 1 ml potassium-phosphate buffer (50 mM, pH 7.4) containing 3 mM MgCl₂, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM NADP⁺, 5 mM glucose-6-phosphate, 1 unit/ml glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (EC 1.1.1.49) and 250 μ M testosterone at 37°C. After an incubation of 15 min, the reaction was stopped with 6 ml dichloromethane and metabolites were extracted for HPLC analysis. 11β-OHT was used as an internal standard.

Glucuronyl transferases (GT)

The activity of GTs were determined in activated hepatic microsomes using 4-chlorophenol as a substrate for GT1 and 4-hydroxybiphenyl as a substrate for GT2 activity [21] according to the method of Mulder and Doorn [22] on a Cobas-Bio centrifugal analyser.

Glutathione S-transferase (GST)

The activity of cytosolic GST was determined with 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene (5 μ M) as substrate using the spectrophotometric method of Habig *et al* [23] adapted for a Cobas-Bio centrifugal analyser.

DT-diaphorase (DTD)

DTD activity was determined according to the method of Ernster [24] on a Cobas-Bio centrifugal analyser. Incubations were carried out in 320 μ l Tris buffer (25 mM, pH 7.5) containing 575 μ M NADH, 6.5 μ M FAD, 0.22% Tween 20, 0.08% BSA, 1-8 μ g cytosolic protein and 65 μ M 2,6-dichlorophenolindophenol as the substrate. The decrease in absorbance was followed at 600 nm for 3 min with and without 10 μ M dicumarol. *Gel electrophoresis and Western blotting*

Microsomal proteins (2 μ g per lane) were separated using a discontinuous sodium dodecyl sulphate poly-acrylamide gel electrophoresis system and subsequently immunoblotted as described previously [19]. The immunoblots were quantified using an

Ultrascan Laser Densitometer (LKB) and the results for each sample are expressed as arbitrary optical density units. Liver microsomes prepared from rats treated with β -naphthoflavone, phenobarbital, dexamethasone, isoniazid and clofibrate were used as positive controls (for preparation see [19]).

Statistical analysis

Data are presented as means \pm SD where appropriate. Statistical differences were determined by a one-way analysis of variance, followed by Dunnetts' multiple-comparison tests. $P \le 0.05$ was chosen to indicate significance.

Results

Body weights and food consumption

Body weights and food consumption did not differ significantly among the groups after exposure to indole-3-carbinol (Table 2). No differences were found in relative liver weight (data not shown).

Duration of exposure (days)		Body weight (g) ^{\$}	Food co	rat/day) ^{\$\$}		
	control	200 mg/kg	500 mg/kg	control	200 mg/kg	500 mg/kg
0	173.9 ± 2.6	174.2 ± 2.6	174.4 ± 2.7			
2	208.7 ± 15.5	209.3 ± 13.2	201.5 ± 9.7	ND	ND	ND
7	230.6 ± 18.9	239.8 ± 14.3	235.9 ± 17.3	22.3	21.7	20.3
14	288.2 ± 21.0	277.0 ± 21.1	271.8 ± 8.5	20.4	19.9	19.3
28	349.6 ± 35.4	353.0 ± 70.7	317.6 ± 34.1	22.2	21.7	21.2

Table 2. Body weights and food consumption of rats fed indole-3-carbinol.

⁸Body weight values are means ± SD for groups of five animals (day 0: 20 animals). ⁸⁵The mean values for food consumption were recorded weekly per cage of five animals. ND = not determined.

Cytochrome P450-dependent activities in liver and small intestine

After 2, 7 and 14 days cytochrome P450 levels in the liver were *ca.* 1.4-fold enhanced in rats fed 500 mg I3C/kg diet (Table 3). After 28 days the cytochrome P450 content was similar in the livers from control rats and I3C-treated rats. The hepatic EROD and PROD activities were both enhanced (6.7- and 5.2-fold, respectively) after 2 days of exposure in rats treated with the highest dose I3C (Fig. 1). Longer dietary exposure to I3C enhanced the EROD activities also in the liver of rats fed 200 mg I3C/kg diet. The induction ratio (treated/control at the same day) for EROD diminished during the experiment (from 5.9 to 3.1-fold). A similar time-related decrease in induction ratio was observed for the PROD activity in livers from rats fed the high dose I3C (from 3.9 to 2.3-fold).

Indole-3-carbinol and P450 enzyme profiles



Fig. 1. The O-dealkylation of 7-ethoxyresorufin (EROD) and 7-pentoxyresorufin (PROD) activities in liver microsomes of rats fed indole-3-carbinol for 2, 7, 14 and 28 days. \Box , control; \boxtimes , 200 mg/kg diet; \boxtimes , 500 mg/kg diet indole-3-carbinol. Values marked with asterisks differ significantly (ANOVA + Dunnett's test) from the corresponding control value (* $P \le 0.05$).

Day n	I3C ng/kg	P450 (pmol/ mg protein)	6β-ΟΗΤ	7α-OHT (pm	16α-OHT ol/min/mg protei	16β-OHT in)	2α-ΟΗΤ
2	0 200 500	600 ± 40 680 ± 90 $790 \pm 80^*$	725 ± 285 969 ± 333 1227 ± 254*	$440 \pm 69 \\ 533 \pm 77 \\ 502 \pm 104$	4599 ± 534 4749 ± 1268 4899 ± 792	120 ± 35 143 ± 67 212 ± 84	2781 ± 299 2840 ± 740 2858 ± 398
7	0 200 500	560 ± 80 720 ± 70* 760 ± 100*	929 ± 131 845 ± 307 1336 ± 327	425 ± 82 372 ± 43 433 ± 53	4210 ± 997 5991 ± 667 5570 ± 1082	110 ± 43 203 ± 42* 287 ± 79*	$2498 \pm 591 \\ 3514 \pm 377^* \\ 3158 \pm 591$
14	0 200 500	$490 \pm 90 \\ 630 \pm 140 \\ 690 \pm 60^*$	606 ± 195 1024 ± 195* 1330 ± 325*	373 ± 45 381 ± 115 510 ± 73	3183 ± 772 3766 ± 1070 4655 ± 1320	86 ± 25 121 ± 31 215 ± 53*	1919 ± 447 2197 ± 610 2576 ± 741
28	0 200 500	840 ± 120 820 ± 120 850 ± 60	1022 ± 395 1345 ± 699 1080 ± 323	476 ± 114 468 ± 101 489 ± 33	5055 ± 1932 7141 ± 1845 6577 ± 1487	143 ± 60 307 ± 127 291 ± 106	3053 ± 1012 4125 ± 954 3632 ± 740

Table 3. The effects of dietary exposure to indole-3-carbinol on P450 content and P450-dependent hydroxylation of testosterone in rat liver.

Values are means \pm SD for five determinations. Those marked with asterisks differ significantly (ANOVA + Dunnetts' test) from the corresponding control value (* $P \le 0.05$).



Fig. 2. The O-dealkylation of 7-ethoxyresorufin (EROD) and 7-pentoxyresorufin (PROD) activities in microsomes prepared from the small intestine of rats fed indole-3-carbinol for 2, 7, 14 and 28 days. \Box , control; \boxtimes , 200 mg/kg diet; \boxtimes , 500 mg/kg diet indole-3-carbinol. Values marked with asterisks differ significantly (ANOVA + Dunnett's test) from the corresponding control value (* $P \le 0.05$).

Day	I3C mg/kg	6β-ΟΗΤ	7α-OHT (pmol/min/i	16α-OHT mg protein)	16β-ОНТ	GST (nmol/min/ mg protein)	DTD (nmol/min/ mg protein)
2	0	50 ± 14	39 ± 13	12 ± 5	7 ± 3	736 ± 187	69 ± 14
	200	86 ± 19	50 ± 16	$113 \pm 75^*$	63 ± 41*	780 ± 225	74 ± 28
	500	72 ± 31	60 ± 19	$72 \pm 40^*$	41 ± 23*	805 ± 99	76 ± 16
7	0	90 ± 71	64 ± 26	30 ± 12	17 ± 6	818 ± 135	73 ± 19
	200	56 ± 12	40 ± 7	37 ± 19	20 ± 8	807 ± 143	77 ± 23
	500	103 ± 74	66 ± 29	157 ± 116*	93 ± 68	874 ± 306	92 ± 22
14	0	74 ± 27	63 ± 16	14 ± 18	7 ± 8	807 ± 204	57 ± 5
	200	79 ± 37	48 ± 18	78 ± 60	44 ± 33	1011 ± 247	69 ± 15
	500	137 ± 40	78 ± 17	304 ± 87*	173 ± 49*	1309 ± 178 [*]	80 ± 12 [*]
28	0	134 ± 43	63 ± 28	42 ± 31	25 ± 20	860 ± 132	92 ± 29
	200	144 ± 50	84 ± 15	120 ± 45*	69 ± 27	1030 ± 202	84 ± 21
	500	89 ± 23	78 ± 10	179 ± 102*	$108 \pm 58^*$	1253 ± 201*	136 ± 811

Table 4. The effects of dietary exposure to indole-3-carbinol on P450-dependent activities, glutathione S-transferase and DT-diaphorase in rat small intestine.

Values are means \pm SD of five determinations. Those marked with asterisks differ significantly (ANOVA + Dunnetts' test) from the corresponding control value (* $P \le 0.05$).



Fig. 3. SDS-PAGE-immunodetection of P450 1A1/2 apoproteins in liver and small intestinal microsomes prepared from rats treated with 0, 200 and 500 mg/kg diet indole-3-carbinol for two days. Liver microsomes prepared from a rat treated with β -naphthoflavone (BNF) were used as a positive control. Immunoblots were quantified with laser densitometry and results of two individual rats are given in arbitrary optical density (O.D.) units. P450 1A1 (upper band): liver 0: < 5 O.D.; 200: 15/25 O.D.; 500: 222/53 O.D.; BNF: 863 O.D.; small intestine 0: < 5 O.D.; 200: 33/37 O.D.; 500: 19/13 O.D. P450 1A2 (lower band): liver 0: <5/8 O.D.; 200: 44/45 O.D.; 500: 86/103 O.D.; BNF: 278 O.D.; small intestine: not detectable.

Testosterone hydroxylation was enhanced at the 6β -site in the liver of rats exposed to 500 mg/kg I3C for 2 days (1.7-fold) and in both dose groups after 14 days (1.7- and 2.2-fold, respectively; Table 3). From one week of exposure the formation of 16β -OHT in liver microsomes from rats fed the highest dose was enhanced, too (to *ca.* 2.5-fold). No differences were detected in the hydroxylation of testosterone at the 7α , 16α and 2α site.

In the small intestine the EROD and PROD activities (Fig. 2) were markedly enhanced from two days onwards in rats exposed to the high dose of I3C (EROD range: 7.8 to 18.2-fold; PROD range 5.5 to 14.4-fold). After two days the intestinal 16 α - and 16 β -hydroxylation of testosterone were also increased even to a higher level in rats fed the low dose of I3C (both *ca.* 9-fold; Table 4) in comparison with rats fed the high dose (*ca.* 6-fold enhancement). The highest levels of both 16 α - and 16 β -hydroxylation of testosterone were determined after 14 days of exposure to 500 mg/kg diet I3C (22- and 25-fold). No differences were observed in intestinal 6 β - and 7 α -hydroxylation of testosterone. The formation of 2 α -OHT in intestinal microsomes was below detection levels (Table 4).

SDS-PAGE and Western blotting

Western blot analyses revealed a dose-related induction of both P450 1A1 and P450 1A2 apoproteins in liver microsomes from I3C-treated rats after two days of exposure (Fig. 3), whereas in the small intestine only the P450 1A1 apoprotein was slightly induced. Immunostaining with a monoclonal antibody directed towards P450 2B1/2 revealed a dose-related induction of P450 2B1/2 apoprotein levels in the liver (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. SDS-PAGE-immunodetection of P450 2B1/2 apoproteins in liver and small intestinal microsomes prepared from rats treated with 0, 200 and 500 mg/kg diet indole-3-carbinol for two days. Liver microsomes prepared from a rat with phenobarbital (PB) were used as a positive control. Immunoblots were quantified with laser densitometry and results of two individual rats are given in arbitrary optical density (O.D.) units. P450 1B1 (lower band): liver 0: < 5 O.D.; 200: 12/24 O.D.; 500: 190/107 O.D.; PB: 604 O.D.; small intestine 0: < 5 O.D.; 200: 35/157 O.D.; 500: 38/35 O.D.

Day	I3C mg/kg	GST (μmol/min/ mg protein)	GT1 (nmo mg pi	GT2 I/min/ rotein)	DTD (nmol/min/ mg protein)
2	0 200 500	1.8 ± 0.2 1.9 ± 0.2 $2.1 \pm 0.1^*$	59 ± 5 58 ± 14 74 ± 11	22 ± 2 23 ± 5 25 ± 3	141 ± 18 181 ± 33 306 ± 149
7	0 200 500	$\begin{array}{c} 1.9 \pm 0.2 \\ 2.2 \pm 0.3 \\ 2.5 \pm 0.3^{*} \end{array}$	45 ± 9 67 ± 17* 74 ± 12*	18 ± 3 22 \pm 4 23 \pm 3	164 ± 75 165 ± 39 510 ± 418
14	0 200 500	2.0 ± 0.5 2.5 ± 0.4 $2.7 \pm 0.3^*$	33 ± 10 48 ± 12 $69 \pm 10^*$	15 ± 6 19 ± 3 22 ± 3	79 ± 14 159 ± 80 219 ± 80 [*]
28	0 200 500	2.1 ± 0.2 2.5 ± 0.2 $2.7 \pm 0.3^*$	33 ± 10 52 ± 13* 60 ± 11*	16 ± 5 19 ± 4 20 ± 41	ND

Table 5. The effects of dietary exposure to indole-3-carbinol on glutathione S-transferase, glucuronyl transferase and DT-diaphorase in rat liver.

Values are means \pm SD for five determinations. Those marked with asterisks differ significantly (ANOVA + Dunnetts' test) from the corresponding control value (* $P \le 0.05$). ND = not determined.

Indole-3-carbinol and P450 enzyme profiles

In the small intestine from rats exposed to 200 mg/kg diet the P450 2B1/2 apoprotein levels seem to be even more induced than in the intestine of rats treated with the highest dose of I3C.In the liver of I3C-fed animals (500 mg/kg diet) P450 3A apoprotein was slightly enhanced (control 120 arbitrary optical density units (O.D.); 200 mg I3C/kg diet: 151 O.D.; 500 mg I3C/kg diet: 176 O.D.). The monoclonal antibody towards P450 3A cross-reacted with two other proteins in the small intestine, both with higher molecular weights than the P450 3A apoprotein in liver microsomes ofdexamethasone-treated rats (results not shown). Exposure of I3C slightly enhanced P450 2E, but not P450 4A apoprotein levels in the liver, whereas these apoproteins could not be detected in microsomes prepared from the small intestine (results not shown).

Phase II enzymes in liver and small intestine

The effects of dietary I3C on GST, GT1, GT2 and DTD activities in the liver are given in Table 5. Hepatic GST activity was increased from 2 days onwards in animals exposed to 500 mg I3C/kg diet (*ca.* 1.3-fold). Both the 200 and the 500 mg/kg-diets increased the GT1 activity in the liver from 7 days onwards (range: 1.5-fold to 2.1-fold). No differences were observed in hepatic GT2 activities. DTD activities were enhanced in the liver from animals fed 500 mg I3C/kg diet, but only significantly different from the control group after 14 days of exposure. Intestinal GST and DTD activities were significantly increased (to *ca.* 1.5-fold) after 14 and 28 days in rats exposed to the highest dose I3C (Table 4).

treatment	EROD	6β-ОНТ р	7α-OHT ercentage	16α-OHT of control (2α-OHT %)	GST
control (DMSO) indole-3-carbinol indole-3-carboxaldehyde indole-3-acetonitrile 3,3'-diindolylmethane	100 182 122 421 2690	100 95 86 141 127	100 100 102 135 171	100 81 84 58 62	100 76 89 48 58	100 163 152 140 129

Table 6: The effects of several indole compounds on P450-dependent and GST activities in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes.

Data from test compounds comprise the results of two individual experiments. In each experiment hepatocytes of minimal six culture dishes were pooled for preparation of microsomes and cytosol. Control values are composed of data from six individual experiments: 100%-values: EROD = 12.3 ± 5.1 ; 68-OHT = 16.4 ± 5.6 ; 7 α -OHT = 14.2 ± 5.9 ; 16α -OHT = 204.1 ± 59.1 ; 2α -OHT = 108.5 ± 8.7 pmol/min/mg protein; GST = 808.5 ± 178.1 nmol/min/mg protein.

Cytochrome P450-dependent and GST activities in cultured hepatocytes

Treatment of cultured hepatocytes with I3C and its oxidative metabolite I3CA resulted in minor changes in P450-dependent hydroxylation of testosterone and EROD activity (Table 6). In contrast, in cells exposed to I3A and DIM enhanced EROD activities were measured (4- and 27-fold, respectively), whereas the 16α - and 2α -hydroxylation of testosterone were decreased to *ca* 55% of the control group. The GST activity was enhanced in cells treated with all four indole-compounds, with the highest induction measured after exposure to I3C (1.6-fold).

Discussion

The data presented in this study indicate changes in several P450 enzymes in liver and small intestine in rats exposed to I3C. Both P450 1A1, 1A2, 2B1 and - to a lesser extent - P450 3A apoproteins were induced in the liver already after two days of exposure. The induction of P450 apoproteins was associated with enhanced EROD and PROD (marker activities for hepatic P450 1A and 2B, respectively [20]) and 16βhydroxylation of testosterone (predominantly catalysed by P450 2B1 [25]). The slightly enhanced P450 3A levels in the liver are mirrored by enhancement of the testosterone 6β -hydroxylation [13]. Since no differences were measured in the formation of 7α -OHT we conclude that I3C exposure does not affect P450 2A, the enzyme which predominantly catalyses testosterone at the 7α -site [26].

In contrast to the variety of effects on P450 enzymes in the liver, the strong enhancement of PROD, as well as of 16α - and 16β -hydroxylation of testosterone in the small intestine is associated with solely one P450, namely P450 2B1 [25]. The higher EROD activity after I3C exposure in the small intestine could also be due to an aspecific catalytic activity of P450 2B1 because only relatively low levels of P450 1A1 apoprotein could be detected. Bradfield & Bjeldanes reported a high induction of AHH activity in the intestine of rats after treatment with 500 mg I3C/kg diet for 10 days [8]. However, no immunochemical data were given in this study. Feeding rats Brussels sprouts for only two days enhanced the EROD activity and P450 2B1 apoprotein levels in the small intestine, whereas no induction of P450 1A1 apoprotein could be detected [12]. Similar discrepancies in substrate-specificity for different P450 forms are more and more revealed. Nakajima et al concluded that in untreated rats the P450 2C11 and 2C6 forms are responsible for the EROD activity in the liver and not cytochrome P450 1A1 [27]. Sesardic et al reported a tissue-dependent difference for the phenacetin O-deethylation, which is specifically catalysed by P450 1A2 in the liver, whereas in extrahepatic tissues from 3-methylcholanthrene treated animals P450 1A1 (in absence of P450 1A2) is the predominant form to catalyses this reaction [28]. In agreement with the induction of P450 2B in the small intestine, Otte et al reported a phenobarbital-like and not a β -naphthoflavone-like induction of the *in vivo* metabolism of antipyrine and metronidazole after dietary exposure of rats to myrosinase treated glucosinolates [29]. Since exposure to cruciferous vegetables and/or I3C are associated with a decrease in

Indole-3-carbinol and P450 enzyme profiles

carcinogenesis, the possible higher bioactivation of xenobiotics due to induction of P450s in the small intestine is of minor importance. In this regard, we propose that a concomitant increase in first-pass elimination of orally dosed carcinogens in the small intestine could result in a reduced exposure at the target site for a wide range of chemically different carcinogens.

In comparison with the effects of cruciferous vegetables I3C alone at dietary levels up to 500 mg/kg diet had only minor effects on phase II enzymes [8,9]. Other glucosinolate breakdown products, such as goitrin and isothiocyanate are shown to be effective inducers of GST, DTD and epoxide hydrolase [18,30]. In our study the highest level of I3C enhanced hepatic and intestinal GST, too, which is in contrast to data reported by Bradfield & Bjeldanes [8]. Furthermore, a pronounced induction of GT1 activity in the liver was observed, which was even higher than the induction of GT1 by dietary exposure to 20% Brussels sprouts [12], a dose which corresponds to ca 200 mg/kg I3C [31]. To our knowledge, this is the first study to describe GT1 induction in rat liver after exposure to I3C *in vivo*, a phenomenon which could be of importance in the elimination of carcinogens.

After 28 days exposure to 500 mg/kg I3C the hepatic EROD and PROD activities decreased and no changes could be detected in hydroxylation of testosterone, whereas in the small intestine the effects seem to increase with time. A possible explanation could be a time-related enhancement of the biotransformation of these indole-compounds in the small intestine thereby reducing the actual exposure of the liver.

However, little is known about the metabolic fate in vivo of I3C and its condensation products in rodents [32]. Bradfield & Bjeldanes were the first to report that I3C administered i.p. did not induce the EROD activity in the liver in contrast to I3C administered orally [33]. However, when I3C was treated with 0.05 M hydrochloric acid (pH 1.5) and the reaction mixture was given i.p. a similar EROD induction was observed as measured after orally administered I3C [33]. Also under more physiological gastric pH levels (pH 2-5) I3C rapidly condensates to several indole-oligomers, among them DIM [34]. Preliminary studies revealed that treatment of rat hepatocytes with either the purified indole-oligomers or a mixture of acid-treated I3C both markedly enhanced the EROD activities [35]. These data correlate well with the fact that I3C in vitro had no effect on P450-dependent activities, whereas exposure of cells to DIM resulted in a strongly enhanced EROD activity and a moderate enhancement of 6β -OHT. The latter two changes were also observed after exposure to I3C in vivo. Furthermore, DIM reduced the 2 α -hydroxylation of testosterone (P450 2C11) in vitro. A similar reduction of this P450 catalytic activity was observed in the liver from rats exposed to Brussels sprouts [12], but not after dietary exposure to I3C. Whether other derivatives of I3C induce 2α hydroxylation of testosterone or other compounds in Brussels sprouts (no I3C derivatives) are responsible for the reduction of this activity remains to be investigated.

Chemical and enzymatic (myrosinase) breakdown of glucobrassicin at lower pH (pH 3-4) results in the formation of I3A and subsequently indole-3-acetic acid [1]. In the results presented here, I3A appeared to be a moderate inducer of EROD, 6 β -OHT and 7 α -OHT *in vitro*. Similar to DIM, a decrease of 2 α -OHT was also measured after I3A treatment *in vitro*. However, it should be noted that a relatively high dose of I3A was administered to cells in comparison with the other indole compounds. I3CA, a major

oxidative metabolite of both I3A and I3C (Van Bladeren, unpublished results), did not markedly affect the P450-dependent activities in vitro.

Since I3C does not induce P450-dependent activities in hepatocyte cultures, while DIM is very effective, it is concluded - in agreement with Bradfield & Bjeldanes [33] - that I3C itself is not the active principal for P450 induction after consumption of I3C or Brussels sprouts. Moreover, the conversion of I3C to acid-condensation products is thought to be essential in order to establish the inductive effects [34]. Dietary exposure to I3C *in vivo* results in the induction of a broad spectrum of P450 enzymes in the liver, while in the intestinal mucosa cells predominantly P450 2B1 is affected. These changes on biotransformation activities are comparable to the effects observed after dietary exposure to Brussels sprouts. However, the acid-condensation products of I3C and/or I3A are only one group of compounds among many others in Brussels sprouts known to affect biotransformation enzymes.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank C. van der Meer, W. Kreuning, A.M. van de Velde and J.F. Catsburg for technical assistance, and W.C. Mennes for critically reading the manuscript.

References

- 1. Heaney RK and Fenwick GR, Identifying toxins and their effects: glucosinolates. In *Natural Toxicants in Food: Progress and prospects* Edited by D.H. Watson, pp. 76-109, Ellis Horwood, New York, 1987.
- 2. Loub WD, Wattenberg LW and Davis DW, Aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase induction in rat tissues by naturally occurring indoles of cruciferous plants. J Natl Canc Inst 54: 985-988, 1975.
- 3. McDanell R, McLean AEM, Hanley AB, Heaney RK and Fenwick GR, Chemical and biological properties of indole glucosinolates (glucobrassicins): a review. *Fd Chem Toxic* 26: 59-70, 1988.
- 4. Graham S, Results of case-control studies of diet and cancer in Buffalo, New York. Canc Res (suppl) 43: 2409-2413, 1983.
- 5. Wattenberg LW, Chemoprevention of Cancer. Canc Res 45: 1-8, 1985.
- 6. Noordhoek J and Bladeren PJ van, Nutrition and Extrahepatic Metabolism. In Nutrition, Toxicity and Cancer, Ed. I. Rowland, Telford Press, Caldwell, in press, 1991.
- 7. Shertzer HG, Indole-3-carbinol and indole-3-acetonitrile influence on hepatic microsomal metabolism. *Tox Appl Pharmacol* 64: 353-361, 1982.
- Bradfield CA and Bjeldanes LF, Effect of dietary indole-3-carbinol on intestinal and hepatic monooxygenase, glutathione S-transferase and epoxide hydrolase activities in the rat Fd Chem Toxic 22: 977-982, 1984.
- Salbe AD and Bjeldanes LF, Dietary influences on rat hepatic and intestinal DT-diaphorase activity. Fd Chem Toxic 24: 851-856, 1986.
- 10. Salbe AD and Bjeldanes LF, Effect of diet and route of administration on the DNA binding of aflatoxin B₁ in the rat. *Carcinogenesis* 10: 629-634, 1989.
- Nebert DW, Nelson DR, Coon MJ, Estabrook RW, Feyereisen R, Fujii-Kuriyama Y, Gonzalez FJ, Guengerich FP, Gunsalus IC, Johnson EF, Loper JC, Sato R, Waterman MR and Waxman DJ, The P450 superfamily: update on new sequences, gene mapping, and recommended nomenclature. DNA Cell Biol 10: 1-14, 1991.

Indole-3-carbinol and P450 enzyme profiles

- 12. Wortelboer HM, Kruif CA de, Iersel AAJ van, Noordhoek J, Blaauboer BJ, Bladeren PJ van and Falke HE, The effects of cooked Brussels sprouts on cytochrome P450 profile and phase-II enzymes in liver and small intestinal mucosa of the rat, 1991b. *Fd Chem Toxic* (submitted), 1991b
- 13. Waxman DJ, Interactions of hepatic cytochromes P-450 with steroid hormones: regioselectivity and stereoselectivity of steroid metabolism and hormonal regulation of rat P450-enzyme expression. *Biochem Pharmacol* 37: 71-84, 1988.
- 14. Ishii K, Maeda K, Kamataki T and Kato R, Mutagenic activation of aflatoxin B₁ by several forms of purified cytochrome P-450. *Mut Res* **174**: 85-88, 1986.
- 15. Talalay P, De Long MJ and Prochaska HJ, Identification of a common chemical signal regulating the induction of enzymes that protect against chemical carcinogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*: 85: 8261-8265, 1988.
- Rutten AAJJL, Falke HE, Catsburg JF, Topp R, Blaauboer BJ, Holsteijn I van, Doorn L and Leeuwen FXR van, Interlaboratory comparison of total cytochrome P-450 and protein determinations in rat liver microsomes. *Archiv Toxicol* 61: 27-33, 1987.
- 17. Borm PJA, Koster AS, Frankhuijzen-Sierevogel AC and Noordhoek J, Comparison of two cell isolation procedures to study *in vitro* intestinal wall biotransformation in control and 3-methylcholanthrene pretreated rats. *Cell Biochem Funct* 1: 161-167, 1983.
- Bogaards JJP, Ommen B van, Falke HE, Willems MI and Bladeren PJ van, Glutathione S-transferase subunit induction patterns of Brussels sprouts, allyl isothiocyanate and goitrin in rat liver and small intestinal mucosa: a new approach for the identification of inducing xenobiotics. *Fd Chem Toxic* 28: 81-88, 1990.
- 19. Wortelboer HM, Kruif CA de, Iersel AAJ van, Falke HE, Noordhoek J and Blaauboer BJ, Comparison of cytochrome P450 isoenzyme profiles in rat liver and hepatocyte cultures: the effects of model inducers on apoproteins and biotransformation activities. *Biochem Pharmacol* **42**: 381-390, 1991a.
- 20. Burke MD, Thompson S, Elcombe CR, Halpert J, Haaparanta T and Mayer RT, Ethoxy-, pentoxy- and benzyloxyphenoxazones and homologues: a series of substrates to distinguish between different induced cytochromes P-450. *Biochem Pharmacol* 34: 3337-3345, 1985.
- 21. Batt AM, Martin N and Siest G, Induction of group-1 and group-2 UDP-glucuronosyltransferase in microsomes from the livers of C57Bl/6 mice. *Toxicol Lett* 9: 355-360, 1981.
- 22. Mulder GJ and Doorn ABD van, A rapid NAD⁺-linked assay for microsomal uridine diphosphate glucuronyltransferase of rat liver and some observations on substrate specificity of the enzyme. *Biochem J* **151**: 131-141, 1975.
- 23. Habig WH, Pabst MJ and Jakoby WB, Glutathione S-transferases. The first enzymatic step in mercapturic acid formation. J Biol Chem 249: 7130-7139, 1974.
- 24. Ernster L, DT-diaphorase. In *Methods in Enzymology Vol. 10.* Edited by P.R. Estabrook and M.E. Pullman. pp.309-317 Academic Press, New York, 1976.
- 25. Wood AW, Ryan DE, Thomas PE and Levin W, Regio and stereoselective metabolism of two C-19 steroids by five highly purified and reconstituted rat hepatic cytochrome P-450 isoenzymes. J Biol Chem 258: 8839-8847, 1983
- Levin W, Thomas PE, Ryan DE and Wood AW, Isozyme specificity of testosterone 7α-hydroxylation in rat hepatic microsomes: is cytochrome P-450a the sole catalyst? Arch Biochem Biophys 258: 630-635, 1987.
- 27. Nakajima T, Elovaara E, Park SS, Gelboin HV, Hietanen E and Vainio H, Monoclonal antibodydirectyed characterization of benzene, ethoxyresorufin and pentoxyresorufin metabolism in rat liver microsomes. *Biochem Pharmacol* **40**: 1255-1261, 1990.
- 28. Sesardic D, Cole KJ, Edwards RJ, Davies DS, Thomas PE, Levin W and Boobis AR, The inducibility and catalytic activity of cytochrome P450c (P450IA1) and P450d (P450IA2) in rat tissues. *Biochem Pharmacol* 39: 499-506, 1990.
- 29. Otte J, Loft S, Sørensen H and Poulsen HE, Influence of Broccoli glucosinolates and products thereof on the metabolism of metronidazole and antipyrine in the rat. In *Proceedings of the First International Conference on Food, Nutrition and Chemical Toxicity*, University of Guildford, Surrey, p1, 1991.

- Chang Y and Bjeldanes LF, Effects of R-goitrin on hepatic and intestinal glutathione S-transferase, microsomal epoxide hydratase and ethoxycoumarin O-deethylase activities in the rat. Fd Chem Toxic 23: 905-909, 1985.
- 31. Sones K, Heaney RK and Fenwick GR, An estimate of the mean daily intake of glucosinolates from cruciferous vegetables in the UK. J Scient Food Agric 35: 712-720, 1984.
- 32. Shertzer HG, Berger ML and Tabor MW, Intervention in free radical mediated hepatotoxicity and lipid peroxidation by indole-3-carbinol. *Biochem Pharmacol* 37: 333-338, 1988.
- 33. Bradfield CA and Bjeldanes LF, Dietary modification of xenobiotic metabolism: contribution of indolylic compounds present in *Brassica oleracea*. J Agric Food Chem 35: 869-900, 1987.
- 34. Kruif CA de, Marsman JW, Venekamp JC, Noordhoek J, Blaauboer BJ and Wortelboer HM, Structure elucidation of acid reaction products of indole-3-carbinol: detection *in vivo* and enzyme induction *in vitro*. Chem-Biol Interact, in press, 1991.
- 35. Wortelboer HM, Kruif CA de, Cassee FR, Falke HE, Iersel AAJ van, Noordhoek J and Blaauboer BJ, Effects of indole derivatives on biotransformation activities in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes. In In Vitro Toxicology: Mechanisms and new technology 8: in press, 1991c.

Wortelboer, H. Primary hepatocyte cultures as a model sytem for the determination of induction of biotransformation enzymes. Effects of glucosinolate hydrolysis products. Utrecht, Rijksuniversiteit, 1991.

CHAPTER 6

STRUCTURE ELUCIDATION OF ACID REACTION PRODUCTS OF INDOLE-3-CARBINOL

Detection in vivo and enzyme induction in vitro

C.A. de Kruif¹, J.W. Marsman², J.C. Venekamp², H.E. Falke², J. Noordhoek¹, B.J. Blaauboer¹ and H.M. Wortelboer¹.

¹ Research Institute of Toxicology (RITOX), Utrecht ² TNO-Toxicology and Nutrition Institute, Zeist The Netherlands.

Abstract

The potency of indole-3-carbinol (I3C) to form condensation products under acidic aqueous conditions was studied. Next to identifying a known dimer, 3,3'-diindolylmethane (DIM), we elucidated the structures of two trimers also found in acid reaction mixtures: 5,6,11,12,17,18-hexahydrocyclonona [1,2-b:4,5-b': 7,8-b''] tri-indole (CTI), and 2,3-bis [3-indolylmethyl] indole (BII). The formation of these indole oligomers was shown to be pH dependent. The highest amounts of DIM and BII were formed in aqueous solutions having a pH value ranging from 4 to 5. No CTI could be detected at pH values above 4.5. In rats that received an oral dose of I3C we could detect DIM and BII in gastric contents, stomach tissue, small intestine and liver. No CTI could be detected *in vivo* after oral exposure to I3C. In *in vitro* experiments, using rat hepatocytes, the cytochrome P450IA1 apoprotein level, 7-ethoxyresorufin O-deethylation activity (EROD) and DT-diaphorase activity (DTD) were markedly enhanced by DIM, CTI as well as BII.

Chem-Biol Interact (in press)

Introduction

Cruciferous vegetables such as cabbage, cauliflower and Brussels sprouts contain a variety of compounds that modulate the carcinogenicity of several chemicals [1-3]. One of these compounds is indole-3-carbinol (I3C)[3]. I3C has been reported to inhibit tumorigenesis in rodents exposed to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons [4,5]. However, enhancement of chemically induced carcinogenesis by I3C has also been reported [6]. It has been postulated that I3C affects chemical carcinogenesis by modulation of Phase I and Phase II biotransformation activities [6-9].

The findings of Bradfield and Bjeldanes [12] indicate that I3C mediates enzyme induction via a series of acid condensation products generated upon introduction of I3C into the acidic environment of the stomach. Oral intubation of rats with I3C led to a significant induction of hepatic 7-ethoxyresorufin O-deethylation activity (EROD). When administered i.p., I3C did not enhance hepatic EROD. An I3C acid reaction mixture, generated upon treatment of I3C with an acidic aqueous solution, enhanced EROD both after i.p. or p.o. dosing. These results were confirmed by experiments in our laboratory: the addition of an I3C acid reaction mixture to cultured hepatocytes resulted in a markedly enhanced EROD activity in these cells, whereas I3C alone did not have such an effect [13].

One of the acid condensation products has been identified as 3,3'-diindolylmethane (DIM) [10,12,14]. It has been suggested that next to DIM a series of linear and cyclic methyleneindole trimers and tetramers are formed [10,12,15,16]. No comprehensive study to the exact structure of these products has been described, however.

Limited data are available on the metabolic fate of I3C *in vivo*. Dashwood *et al* [14] studied the *in vivo* disposition of I3C in the rainbow trout. Following the administration of [5-³H]I3C, radiolabeled species other than the parent compound could be recovered from bile and liver. One of these compounds was identified as DIM. No such studies have been described in mammals.

In the present study we investigated the formation, structure and some biological aspects of a number of acid condensation products of I3C. We report upon the effects of pH on the formation of these condensation products. Analysis and purification of condensation products was performed using HPLC. Mass-spectral and NMR studies were undertaken to elucidate the structure of products formed upon the acid condensation of I3C. The *in vivo* formation of condensation products was studied in rats having received an oral dose of I3C. An *in vitro* experiment, using cultured rat hepatocytes, was performed to examine whether the purified oligomers can individually enhance P450 1A1/2 apoprotein levels, 7-ethoxyresorufin O-deethylation activity (EROD) and DT-diaphorase (NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase; EC 1.6.99.2; DTD) activity.

Materials and methods

Chemicals

Indole-3-carbinol and Williams' medium E were obtained from Sigma Chemical Co., St Louis, MO, U.S.A.. Newborn calf serum was purchased from Gibco Europe, Breda, The Netherlands. All other chemicals were of analytical or HPLC grade. 3,3'-diindolylmethane (DIM) was a kind gift from Ir J. Vuik (TNO-Toxicology and Nutrition Institute, Zeist, The Netherlands). A monoclonal antibody towards P450 1A1/2 was a gift from Dr P.J. Kremers, Université de Liège, Belgium. The secondary antibody was supplied by Dakopatts a/s, Glostrup, Denmark.

Condensation of I3C

An acid reaction mixture was prepared as described by Bradfield and Bjeldanes [12]. Fifty mg I3C, dissolved in 200 μ l DMSO, was added slowly to 50 ml 0.05 M HCl (pH 1.5). After 4-60 min in a shaking water bath at room temperature a sample was taken, diluted 1:1 with acetonitrile and injected into the HPLC.

To investigate the effects of pH on I3C condensation, the pH value of aquadest was adjusted using HCl, resulting in a series of aqueous solutions with pH values ranging from 1.3 to 5.4. The addition of I3C and sample preparation were executed as described above.

HPLC analysis of acid condensation products

Analysis of acid condensation products were performed on an HPLC system equipped with a fraction collector (LKB, Bromma, Sweden). Separations were accomplished using a Lichrosorb 5-RP-18 (250 x 4.6 mm, 1 x i.d.) column preceded by a 10 mm RP guard column (Chrompack, Middelburg, The Netherlands), maintained at ambient temperature. I3C and its oligomers were eluted using a linear gradient from 20% acetonitrile at 0 min to 85% acetonitrile at 30 min, followed by 85% acetonitrile from 30 to 60 min. Flow rate was kept at 1.0 ml/min. Column effluents were monitored at 280 nm. Product formation was quantified by comparing peak areas to those of standards.

Preparative HPLC of acid condensation products

I3C, 1 g dissolved in 4 ml DMSO, was added slowly to 1 1 0.05 M HCl (pH 1.5). The solution was stirred for 60 min and the resulting precipitate was removed by filtration. The residue, comprising a mixture of I3C oligomers was dried at room temperature. The oligomers were dissolved in DMSO at a concentration of 100 mg/ml, of which 100 μ l were repeatedly injected into the HPLC. A steel column (600 x 8.0 mm, l x i.d.) packed with RP-C18, 40 μ M particle diameter (J.T. Baker Chemical Co., Phillipsburg, U.S.A.) was used for separations. The oligomers were eluted using 62% acetonitrile from 0 to 40 min followed by 100% acetonitrile from 40 to 75 min, at a flow rate of 2.5 ml/min. Acetonitrile was removed from collected samples using a rotary vacuum evaporator. Oligomers were extracted from the resulting aqueous phase with dichloromethane. Removal of the dichloromethane *in vacuo* yielded 30 - 50 mg purified products. The first 3 major components as shown in Fig. 1A were purified by this method.

HPLC-MS analysis of acid condensation products

HPLC-MS analyses were performed on a Finnigan MAT TSQ-70 mass spectrometer equipped with a Finnigan MAT thermospray interface (Finnigan MAT, San José, CA, USA). The HPLC system used was as described above. Scans were made from m/z 100 to 800 in 5 s/scan; the source temperature was set at 230°C, the vaporizer temperature at 110°C and the repeller potential at 50 V. Discharge-on ionisation was applied (1 kV).

NMR analysis of purified products

The NMR-spectra were recorded on a 400 MHz Varian Unity 400 spectrometer (Varian, CA, USA), using standard pulse programs. The samples were prepared by dissolving 20-30 mg of the purified fractions in 0.6 ml DMSO-d6 to which tetramethyl silane was added as an internal reference. A 5 mm switchable probe was used. The spectra were recorded at 30°C.

Animals

Male Wistar rats ((Ico:WU), Iffa-Credo, Someren, The Netherlands), weighing 200 - 350 g, were fed *ad libitum* a semisynthetic diet consisting of 13% (w/w) casein, 5% cellulose, 5% corn-oil, 30% wheat starch, 13% soy-protein isolate, 30% sucrose, 3.5% mineral mix, 0.3% vitamin ADEK preparation and 0.2% vitamin B mixture. The animals had free access to drinking water.

Formation of acid condensation products in vivo

Rats were given I3C, suspended in water (pH 7.3), by gavage at a dose of 200 μ mol/kg bodyweight. Control animals received water only. After 1 h the rats were anaesthetized using pentobarbital-sodium (Nembutal, Algin BV, Maassluis, The Netherlands) at a dose of 90 mg/kg bodyweight. Livers were perfused with saline via the portal vein to remove the blood. The stomachs were excised and the contents collected by flushing the tissue with 5 ml PBS. PBS was used to further clean the stomach tissue. The proximal 20 cm of the small intestines were excised and perfused with 10 ml PBS. Tissues and stomach contents were stored at -20°C. Condensation products were extracted from tissues and gastric contents with 2% iso-amylalcohol in dichloromethane. Tissues were minced with scissors and homogenized directly in the extraction solvent using an ultra-turrax. The organic phase was separated by centrifugation (15 min at 1000 g) and evaporated under a stream of N₂ at room temperature. The residue was dissolved in 1 ml acetonitrile, diluted 1:1 with 0.1 M Na-phosphate buffer (pH 7.8) and injected into the HPLC.

Cell isolation and culture

Isolation and culture of rat hepatocytes was performed as described previously [17]. After a total preincubation time of 24 h, cultures were treated for 48 h with indole oligomers, dissolved in DMSO, or with DMSO alone. The final concentration of DMSO was 0.1%.
Acid reaction products of indole-3-carbinol

Preparation of microsomes and cytosol

Microsomes and cytosol were prepared as described previously [17]. Protein contents were determined according to Rutten *et al* [18].

7-Ethoxyresorufin O-deethylation (EROD) and DT-Diaphorase (DTD)

Fluorometric determinations of EROD activities were performed directly in intact hepatocyte monolayers as described by Wortelboer *et al* [17]. DTD was assayed fluorometrically by the reduction of resorufin, basically as described by Spencer and Rifkind [19]. Briefly, reaction mixtures contained 0.05 M Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.5), 15 μ M resorufin (dissolved in DMSO and diluted 250-fold in Tris-HCl), 400 μ M NADPH and 50-100 μ g cytosolic protein in a final volume of 1.0 ml. The decrease in fluorescence of resorufin was monitored at 25°C for at least 3 min using a Kontron SFM 25 fluorescence spectrophotometer (Kontron, Zürich, Switzerland).

Gel electrophoresis and immunoblotting

Microsomal proteins were separated on a Biorad mini Protean II cell by sodium dodecyl sulphate gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE), essentially as described by Laemmli [20]. Following electrophoresis, the proteins were transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride sheets as described by Towbin *et al* [21]. P450 1A1/2 apoproteins were detected using a monoclonal antibody directed towards these isoenzymes.

Results

Condensation of I3C

Fig. 1A shows an elution profile of I3C condensation products obtained by incubating I3C in 0.05 M HCl (pH 1.5) for 60 min. Under these conditions at least 15 products were formed. The first major peak in the chromatogram co-eluted with DIM. The formation of I3C condensation products could not be influenced by saturating reaction mixtures with either O_2 , N_2 or CO_2 . The condensation of I3C proceeded rapidly and irreversibly; the formation of condensation products was complete in 4 min and no changes were observed to occur thereafter. Readjustment of the pH value of the reaction mixture to 7-8, using NaOH, did not result in the loss of I3C condensation products (results not shown).

HPLC-MS and NMR analysis of acid condensation products

A mixture of oligomers prepared by acid treatment of I3C was subjected to HPLC-MS analysis. Major peaks as shown in Fig. 1A exhibited parent ion peaks at m/z 247, 388, 376, 372, 372, 505 and 634. The identity of the first peak, DIM, is confirmed by m/z 247.



Fig. 1. HPLC elution profiles of indole derivatives. (A), I3C in 0.05 M HCl; B, purified components, *ca.* 4 nmol of I3C, DIM, CTI and BII. After oral administration of I3C to rats, indole oligomers could be extracted from gastric contents and tissues: (C), gastric contents; (D), stomach tissue; (E), small intestine; (F), liver. The peak having an R_t value of 32.5 min in Figs. C and D is thought to represent an unknown indole compound. Non-annotated major peaks in Fig. F are of endogenous origin. No peaks interfering with the detection of the indole oligomers were encountered in HPLC analyses of gastric contents and tissues from control rats. The results shown are from one typical experiment out of four. Note: recordings were made at different attenuations as displayed in the top-left corner of each figure.

NMR-analysis was performed to elucidate the structure of products formed upon the acid condensation of I3C. Final results are given in Fig. 2. The ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra of the first major peak as shown in Fig. 1A were identical to those of an authentic sample of 3,3'-diindolylmethane (DIM). The δ H assignments were: 10.71 (H-1, J 2, 3 Hz), 7.12 (H-2, J 2.3 and 0.9 Hz), 7.52 (H-4, J 7.6 and 1.2 Hz), 6.92 (H-5, J 7.6, 7.2 and 1.0 Hz), 7.03 (H-6, J 8.1, 7.2 and 1.2 Hz), 7.32 (H-7, J 8.1 and 1.0 Hz),

Acid reaction products of indole-3-carbinol

4.13 ((-CH₂-), J 0.9 Hz). The δ C assignments were: 20.80, 111.18, 114.11, 117.91, 118.53, 120.62, 122.63, 127.11 and 136.30.The ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra of the second major peak in Fig. 1A showed the same signals as those which have already been reported for 5,6,11,12,17,18-hexahydrocyclonona[1,2-b;4.5-b';7,8-b'']tri-indole (CTI) [22]. Minor differences in observed chemical shifts can be explained by differences in temperature or solvent. The δ H assignments were: 3.94 (1H, J 15 Hz, CH₂), 4.72 (1H, J 15 Hz, CH₂), 6.8-7.0 (2H, ArH), 7.19 (1H, ArH), 7.97 (1H, ArH), 10.73 (1H, NH). The δ C assignments were: 22.03, 108.73, 111.20, 118.22, 119.32, 121.14, 129.46, 135.46 and 135.96.



Fig. 2. Structures of indole derivatives. I3C, indole-3-carbinol; DIM, 3,3'-diindolylmethane; CTI, 5,6,11,12,17,18-hexahydrocyclonona [1,2-*b*:4,5-*b*':7,8-*b*":] tri-indole; BII, 2,3-bis [3-indolylmethyl] indole.

The ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra of the third major peak in Fig. 1A showed the presence of a 2,3 disubstituted indole group, (A), with two indolyl methyl groups, (B) and (C) (Fig. 2D). This structure has been reported previously, though the methylene attachment points were left undetermined [22]. This uncertainty has now been removed by means of HC-correlation spectroscopy; the structure was determined to be 2,3-bis (3-indolylmethyl) indole (BII). The δ H assignments were: A; 7.36 (H-4, J 7.8/1.2), 6.83 (H-5, J 7.8/1.0), 6.92 (H-6, J 1.2), 7.22 (H-7, J 1.0), 10.56 (H-1). B; 7.47 (H-4, J 8.0/1.2), 6.86 (H-5, J 8.0/7.1/1.2), 7.02 (H-6, J 7.1/8.1/1.2), 7.30 (H-7, J 8.1/1.2), 10.64 (H-1), 4.19 (CH₂). C; 7.39 (H-4, J 7.8/1.0), 6.86 (H-5, J 7.8/7.1/1.0), 7.03 (H-6, J 7.1/8.1/1.0), 7.33 (H-7, J 8.1/1.0), 10.81 (H-1), 4.23 (CH₂). The δ C assignments were: 136.30, 136.23, 135.33, 134.69 (C-2, A and C-7a, BC), 128.32, 127.09, 126.86 (C-3a,

ABC), 123.16 (C-2, C), 122.61 (C-2, B), 120.81 (C-6,C), 120.59 (C-6, B), 119.72 (C-6, A), 118.48 (C-4, B), 118.38 (C-4, C), 118.10 (C-4, A), 118.01 (C-5, B), 117.88 (C-5, C), 117.74 (C-5, A), 114.56, 112.07, 109.12 (C-3, ABC), 111.19 (C-7, C), 111.13 (C-7, B), 110.50 (C-7, A), 21.98 (CH2, C), 1971 (CH2, B). Due to the complexity of the ¹H spectrum it was impossible to determine every coupling constant. However, coupling between protons has been verified by means of COSY (Correlation Spectroscopy)spectra, in which the correlation chains clearly marked the resonances of the protons belonging to the moieties A, B and C. The COSY-spectrum also showed a correlation between the amide proton of fragment A and the CH₂ group of fragment C, whereas no correlation has been found between this amide proton and the CH₂-group of fragment B. This leads to the conclusion that fragment C is attached to the 2-position of fragment A. Knowing the proton shifts, the shifts of the proton-bearing carbons in the molecule were easily determined by an HC-correlation spectrum. The identity of the carbon atoms (C-2, C-3, C-3a, C-7a) in the moieties A, B and C, respectively, were not determined; appropriate chemical shifts may be exchanged without affecting the proof of the structure of this compound.

pH dependence of I3C condensation

The formation of oligomers was strongly pH-dependent (Fig. 3). At a pH value below 3 the oligomers DIM, CTI and BII were formed in approximately equal amounts. Incubation of I3C at a pH value above 3 resulted in the formation of larger amounts of DIM and BII and smaller amounts of CTI. At pH values of 4.5 and higher the formation of BII declined. No CTI could be detected to be formed at pH values above 4.5.



Fig. 3. The pH dependence of the formation of DIM, CTI and BII. I3C (340 μ mol) was added to aqueous solutions with pH values ranging from 1.5 to 5.5. After 60 min indole oligomer contents were determined by HPLC. (\Box), 13C; (Δ), DIM; (\odot), CTI; (**x**), BII.

Acid reaction products of indole-3-carbinol

Formation of acid condensation products in vivo

The HPLC profile of indole derivatives extracted from the gastric contents of rats treated orally with I3C (Fig. 1C) was similar to the profile obtained from the acid reaction mixture of I3C (Fig. 1A). No I3C could be detected. A relative abundance of DIM and BII, compared to the other polymers, could be observed in the gastric contents. In a typical experiment, the amounts of DIM and BII recovered from the stomach contents comprise 3.5% and 4.4% (w/w) respectively of the administrated dose of I3C. No peak having an R_t value corresponding to those of CTI could be identified, while an additional major peak with a R_t value of 32.5 min was detected in these samples. In extracts from stomach tissue, small intestine and liver a pattern of I3C oligomers similar to that found in the stomach contents was detected (Fig. 1D-1F). DIM and BII could be identified in all tissues, CTI in none of the tissues.

Enzyme induction in cultured hepatocytes

Exposure of cultured hepatocytes to indole oligomers resulted in a high increase in EROD activity. The EROD activities were enhanced 17.3-, 11.8- and 19.5-fold by DIM, CTI and BII respectively (Fig. 4). Corresponding to this, high levels of P450 1A1 apoprotein were revealed in microsomes prepared from these hepatocytes (Fig. 5).

DT-diaphorase activities towards resorufin were enhanced 2.8-, 2.3- and 3.6-fold by DIM, CTI and BII respectively (Fig. 6).



Fig. 4. 7-Ethoxyresorufin O-deethylation activity (EROD) in rat hepatocytes cultured for 48 h in media supplemented with 25 μ M indole oligomers.



Fig. 5. SDS-PAGE-immunodetection of P450 1A1/2 apoproteins in microsomes prepared from rat hepatocytes cultured for 48 h in media supplemented with 25 μ M indole oligomers. Liver microsomes prepared from a rat treated with β -naphthoflavone (BNF) were used as a positive control.



Fig. 6. DT-diaphorase activity (DTD) in rat hepatocytes cultured for 48 h in media supplemented with 25 μ M indole oligomers.

Discussion

To our knowledge, this paper is the first one to present the chemical structures of I3C acid condensation products other than DIM. These structures were characterized as the methyleneindole polymers CTI and BII. The structures of the trimers CTI and BII have been described before, though as endogenous compounds in the sponge *Pachymatisma johnstoni* [22]. The formation of methylene indole polymers in I3C acid condensation reactions has been suggested previously [12,15,16]. Fong *et al* [10] have presented evidence that next to DIM two oligomers exhibiting parent ion peaks at m/z 386 and 382 are formed in high amounts in I3C acid reaction mixtures. Though the m/z value of 386 corresponds well with the molecular weight of CTI, we did not detect parent ion peaks at m/z 382 in our studies. Interestingly, m/z 505 and 634, as found in our studies, can both be explained by adding the molecular weight of one or more methyleneindole groups (130) to the molecular weight of BII (375). This suggests that further polymerisation proceeds by the addition of methyleneindole groups to the indolylmethyl groups of BII.

The pattern of acid condensation products in the gastric contents of rats after oral intubation of I3C strongly resembled the oligomer pattern obtained after addition of I3C to an aqueous solution with a pH value of 4.5 to 5: in both cases the formation of DIM and BII could be shown to occur readily whereas no CTI could be detected (Figs. 1C and 3). The fact that we could not detect CTI after *in vivo* exposure to I3C can be explained by the pH value of the gastric contents of well-fed rats. The gastric contents of rats fed our diet had pH values ranging from 4.5 to 5.5 (n=3). The pH of gastric juice in an empty stomach may be less than 2, when food enters the stomach the buffers (primarily protein) contained in the food will neutralize the acid [23]. Furthermore, not only the relatively high pH of the gastric contents will inhibit the formation of CTI. The pH value of a 30% (w/v) emulsion of rat diet in 0.05 M HCl is approximately 5.0. When the pH of this emulsion is lowered to 1.5, using HCl, the addition of I3C still does not result in the detection of CTI, though DIM and BII are readily formed (results not shown). Together these results strongly suggest that CTI will not be formed in the stomach. These

findings implicate that an I3C acid reaction mixture, prepared to study I3C-mediated actions, should preferentially be made at a pH value of 4.5, resulting in a mixture of methylene indole oligomers more representative of the mixture generated *in vivo*. The presence of DIM and BII in stomach tissue and small intestine suggests that these compounds are absorbed from the gastrointestinal system. This is confirmed by the presence of DIM and BII in the liver (Fig. 1F).

The potency of orally administered I3C to enhance hepatic EROD activity (P450 1A1) has been well described [12,24]. Bradfield and Bjeldanes [12] demonstrated that this effect could be partly attributed to the action of DIM, formed upon the introduction of I3C into the acidic environment of the stomach. We have shown that other I3C acid condensation products have a similar EROD-inducing capacity (Fig.4). These results are confirmed by the *de novo* synthesis of P450 1A1 apoprotein (Fig.5) in hepatocyte cultures in response to these indole oligomers. An increase in hepatic DTD activity in response to orally administered I3C has been reported by Salbe and Bjeldanes [8]. The increase in DTD activity in hepatocytes exposed to respectively DIM, CTI and BII (Fig.6) indicates that DIM and BII could be responsible for the hepatic DTD induction found after exposure to I3C *in vivo*.

In the rat, DTD activity is coordinately enhanced with cytochrome P450 1A mediated activities by Ah receptor ligands like 3-methylcholanthrene, benzo[a]pyrene and 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin [25,26]. Prochaska and Talalav [27] have demonstrated, using a murine hepatoma cell line, that bifunctional inducers which induce both P450 1A and DTD require Ah receptor binding for their action. Our findings that both EROD and DTD are induced in hepatocytes exposed to indole oligomers suggest that these substances act by means of Ah receptor binding. However, this hypothesis is not in accordance with the work of Gillner et al [28] who reported that DIM does not interact significantly with the Ah receptor. No such data are available for CTI and BII. It is plausible that DIM, CTI and BII are metabolized to high affinity receptor ligands, such as indolo[3,2-b]carbazole, though no such metabolism studies have been described yet.

In conclusion, this study reports the identification of two indole trimers formed in I3C acid reaction mixtures. Both trimers were shown to be potent enhancers of specific biotransformation activities *in vitro*. Identification of BII in the gastro-intestinal tract of I3C treated rats suggests that BII is a major indole condensation product active *in vivo*.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank R.A.M. van der Hoeven and W.M.A. Niessen for performing the HPLC-MS analyses.

References

- 1. Whitty JP and Bjeldanes LF, The effects of dietary cabbage on xenobiotic-metabolizing enzymes and the binding of aflatoxin B₁ to hepatic DNA in rats. *Fd Chem Toxic* 15: 581-587, 1987.
- Aspry KE and Bjeldanes LF, Effects of dietary broccoli and butylated hydroxyanisole on livermediated metabolism of benzo[a]pyrene. Fd Chem Toxic 21: 133-142, 1983.
- 3. McDanell R, McLean AEM, Hanley AB, Heaney RK and Fenwick GR, Chemical and biological properties of indole glucosinolates (glucobrassicins): a review. Fd Chem Toxic 26: 59-70, 1988.
- 4. Wattenberg LW and Loub WD, Inhibition of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon-induced neoplasia by naturally occurring indoles. *Cancer Res* 38: 1410-1413, 1978.
- Dashwood RA, Arbogast DN, Fong AT, Pereira C, Hendricks JD and Bailey GS, Quantitative interrelationships between aflatoxin B₁ carcinogen dose, indole-3-carbinol anti-carcinogen dose, target organ DNA adduction and final tumor response. *Carcinogenesis* 10: 175-181, 1989.
- Pence BC, Buddingh F and Yang SP, Multiple dietary factors in the enhancement of dimethylhydrazine carcinogenesis: main effect of indole-3-carbinol. J Natl Cancer Inst 77: 269-276, 1986.
- 7. Wattenberg LW, Inhibition of neoplasia by minor dietary constituents. *Cancer Res (suppl)* 43: 24485-24535, 1983.
- Shertzer HG, Berger ML and Tabor MW, Intervention of free radical mediated hepatotoxicity and lipid peroxidation by indole-3-carbinol. *Biochem Pharmacol* 37: 333-338, 1988.
- Salbe AD and Bjeldanes LF, Dietary influences on rat hepatic and intestinal DT-diaphorase activity. Fd Chem Toxic 24: 851-856, 1986.
- Sparnins VL, Venegas PL and Wattenberg LW, Glutathione S-Transferase activity: enhancement by compounds inhibiting chemical carcinogenesis and by dietary constituents. J Natl Cancer Inst 68: 493-496, 1982.
- 11. Fong AT, Swanson HI, Dashwood RH, Williams DE, Hendricks JD and Bailey GS, Mechanisms of anti-carcinogenesis by indole-3-carbinol. *Biochem Pharmacol* 39: 19-26, 1990.
- 12. Bradfield CA and Bjeldanes LF, Structure-activity relationships of dietary indoles: a proposed mechanism of action as modifiers of xenobiotic metabolism. J Toxicol Envir Hlth 21: 311-323, 1987.
- 13. Wortelboer HM, de Kruif CA, Cassee FR, Falke HE, van Iersel AAJ, Noordhoek J and Blaauboer BJ, Modifications of xenobiotic metabolism by dietary indoles in rats *in vivo* and *in vitro*, in: M. Ingelman-Sundberg, J.A. Gustafsson and S. Orrenius (Eds.), Drug metabolizing enzymes: genetics, regulation and toxicology, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm p. 211, 1990.
- 14. Dashwood RH, Uyetake L, Fong AT, Hendricks JD and Bailey GS, *In vivo* disposition of the natural anti-carcinogen indole-3-carbinol after po administration to rainbow trout. *Fd Chem Toxic* 27: 385-392, 1989.
- Bergman J, Högberg S and Lindström J-O, Macrocyclic condensation products of indole and simple aldehydes. *Tetrahedron* 26: 3347-3352, 1970.
- 16. Bergman J, Condensation of indole and formaldehyde in the presence of air and sensitizers. A facile synthesis of indolo [3.2-b] carbazole. *Tetrahedron* 26: 3353-3355, 1970.
- Wortelboer HM, Kruif CA de, Iersel AAJ van, Falke HE, Noordhoek J and Blaauboer BJ, The isoenzyme pattern of cytochrome P450 in rat hepatocytes in primary culture, comparing different enzyme activities in microsomal incubations and in intact monolayers. *Biochem Pharmacol* 40: 2525-2534, 1990.
- Rutten AAJJL, Falke HE, Catsburg JF, Topp R, Blaauboer BJ, Holsteijn I van, Doorn L and Leeuwen FXR van, Interlaboratory comparison of total cytochrome P-450 and protein determinations in rat liver microsomes. Archiv Toxicol 61: 27-33, 1987.
- Spencer CB and Rifkind AB, NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase (DT-diaphorase) in chick embryo liver: Comparison to activity in rat and guinea pig liver and differences in co-induction with 7ethoxyresorufin deethylase by 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin. Biochem Pharmacol 39: 327-335, 1990.

Acid reaction products of indole-3-carbinol

- Laemmli UK, Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature 227: 680-685, 1970.
- 21. Towbin H, Staehelin T and Gordon J, Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitrocellulose sheets: procedure and some applications. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **76**: 4350-4350, 1979.
- 22. Raverty WD and Thomson RH, Metabolites from the sponge Pachymatisma johnstoni; L-6-Bromohypaphorine, a new amino-acid (and its crystal structure). J.C.S. Perkin I: 1204-1211, 1977.
- Johnson LR, Regulation of gastric secretion, in: L.R. Johnson (Ed.), Gastrointestinal physiology, The C.V. Mosby Company, Saint Louis, pp. 62-69, 1977.
- 24. Shertzer HG, Indole-3-carbinol and indole-3-acetonitrile influence on hepatic microsomal metabolism. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 64: 353-361, 1982.
- 25. Nims RW, Prough RA and Lubet RA, Cytosol-mediated reduction of resorufin: a method for measuring quinone oxidoreductase. Arch Biochem Biophys 229: 459-465, 1984.
- 26. Gasiewicz TA, Rucci G, Henry EC and Baggs RB, Changes in hamster hepatic cytochrome P-450, ethoxycoumarin O-deethylase, and reduced NAD(P):menadione oxidoreductase following treatment with 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin: Partial dissociation of temporal and dose-response relationships from elicited toxicity. *Biochem Pharmacol* 35: 2737-2742, 1986.
- 27. Prochaska HJ and Talalay P, Regulatory mechanisms of monofunctional and bifunctional anticarcinogenic enzyme inducers in murine liver. *Cancer Res* 48: 4776-4782, 1988.
- Gillner M, Bergman J, Cambillau C, Fernström B and Gustafsson J, Interactions of indoles with specific binding sites for 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin in rat liver. *Mol Pharmacol* 28: 357-363, 1985.

Wortelboer, H.

Primary hepatocyte cultures as a model system for the determination of induction of biotransformation enzymes. Effects of glucosinolates hydrolysis products. Utrecht, Rijksuniversiteit, 1991.

CHAPTER 7

ACID REACTION PRODUCTS OF INDOLE-3-CARBINOL AND THEIR EFFECTS ON CYTOCHROME P450 AND PHASE II ENZYMES IN RAT AND MONKEY HEPATOCYTES

H.M. Wortelboer¹, C.A. de Kruif¹, A.A.J. van Iersel², H.E. Falke³, J. Noordhoek¹ and B.J. Blaauboer¹

 ¹ Research Institute of Toxicology (RITOX), University of Utrecht
² National Institute of Public Health and Environmental Protection (RIVM), Bilthoven
³ TNO-Toxicology and Nutrition Institute, Zeist The Netherlands

Abstract

The effects of three acid condensation products of indole-3-carbinol (I3C), i.e. 3,3'-diindolylmethane (DIM), 5,6,11,12,17,18-hexahydro-cyclonona [1,2-b:4,5-b':7,8-b":] tri-indole (CTI) and 2,3-bis [3-indolylmethyl] indole (BII), on cytochrome P450 (P450) and phase II enzymes were studied in primary cultures of rat and cynomolgus monkey liver cells. In rat hepatocytes all three indole derivatives dose-relatedly induced the ethoxyresorufin O-dealkylation (EROD) activity (to 24-fold) and 7 α -hydroxylation of testosterone (to 4-fold), whereas all three decreased the 16 α - and 2 α -testosterone hydroxylation (DIM to 60%, CTI and BII to a mere 5% of the control cells). Treatment of monkey hepatocytes with DIM and BII enhanced the EROD activity to 6 and 9-fold, respectively. Furthermore, BII decreased the 6 β -hydroxylation of testosterone (to 60% of the untreated cultures) in monkey cells.

Phase II enzymes were also affected. In rat hepatocytes DIM, CTI and BII enhanced DT-diaphorase activity, and DIM and BII the glucuronidation of 1-naphthol. In monkey cells BII only resulted in enhanced DT-diaphorase, and no changes were observed in glucuronidation of 1-naphthol after treatment with either of DIM or BII. The indole derivatives did not affect glutathione S-transferase activity and sulphation of 1-naphthol in either rat or monkey hepatocytes. These results identify two novel acid-condensation products of I3C, CTI and BII as potent compounds in affecting biotransformation in rat as well as in monkey hepatocytes.

Biochem Pharmacol (submitted)

Introduction

The human diet contains a number of compounds that affects the carcinogenic process. Apart from carcinogens our food contains compounds which prevent tumorigenesis, among them minor non-nutrient constituents of vegetables and fruits, such as terpenes, aromatic isothiocyanates, phenols, flavones and indoles [1-3]. Indoles are hydrolysis products of indole-glucosinolates, a group of compounds in cruciferous vegetables (e.g. Brussels sprouts, cabbage and cauliflower) [4]. One of the major hydrolysis products is indole-3-carbinol (I3C). A high consumption of cruciferous vegetables has been related to a decreased risk in carcinogenesis in man [3,4], and a decreased chemically-induced tumorigenesis in laboratory animals [4,5]. In contrast, other studies indicated an enhanced promotor effect of I3C on tumorigenesis in rats [6].

Since many carcinogens are subjected to metabolic activation and inactivation, changing the biotransformation enzyme activities may be an effective means to affect the carcinogenic potential of these xenobiotics. Dietary exposure to cruciferous vegetables or I3C is known to enhance several cytochrome P450 enzymes and other drug-metabolizing enzymes [4,5,7]. Recently, we described the induction of four different P450 forms (P450 1A1, 1A2, 2B1 and 3A) in the liver of rats fed I3C for as short as two days [8]. Accordingly, the dealkylation of ethoxy- and pentoxyresorufin (EROD & PROD), and the 6β -hydroxylation of testosterone were enhanced. Longer exposure to I3C also enhanced several phase II enzymes such as glucuronyl transferase, DT-diaphorase and glutathione S-transferase [8-10].

In an earlier study, Bradfield & Bjeldanes [11] also reported induction of EROD activity in the liver of rats orally exposed to I3C. However, when I3C was given i.p. no enhancement of EROD activity could be measured. The researchers suggested that the conversion of I3C in the acid environment of the stomach was essential for its inducing effects. In a study at our own laboratory treatment of hepatocytes with I3C itself had only minor effects on biotransformation enzymes whereas the dimer 3,3'-diindolylmethane (DIM) and a complete acid-reaction mixture of I3C markedly enhanced the EROD activity [12]. Within this acid-reaction mixture, we identified the chemical structures of two trimers i.e. 5,6,11,12,17,18-hexahydrocyclonona [1,2-b:4,5-b':7,8-b''] triindole (CTI), and 2,3-bis [3-indolylmethyl] indole (BII), in addition to the already known dimer DIM [13].

All three indole derivatives induced cytochrome P450 1A1 and its associated EROD activity [14] in rat hepatocytes [13]. Induction of cytochrome P450 1A1, however, can be related with metabolically activation of pro-carcinogens to reactive intermediates, giving rise to toxicity and carcinogenicity [15]. Since dietary exposure to I3C generally decreases tumorigenesis *in vivo* we were interested to know whether the acid condensation products of I3C are capable in affecting other P450 forms and/or phase II enzymes.

Primary cultures of hepatocytes are a useful alternative in studying the changes in biotransformation activities catalysed by several P450 forms [16-18]. One of the advantages in comparison to *in vivo* studies is that only small amounts of purified compounds are needed to elucidate the inductive capacity of these compounds. Moreover, a comparison of the effects between rat and human hepatocytes can improve human risk

Indole oligomers and enzyme induction in vitro

evaluation. Human cells, however, are not easily available. Hepatocytes from monkey liver might be a good alternative for human hepatocytes [19].

In the present study we investigated the effects of three indole-oligomers - DIM, CTI and BII - on P450 pattern and several phase II enzymes in rat hepatocytes in more detail. In comparison, the effects of I3C, DIM and the trimer BII on biotransformation activities were studied in hepatocytes derived from cynomolgus monkey (*Macaca fascicularis*).

Materials and methods

Materials

Newborn calf serum was obtained from Gibco Europe (Breda, The Netherlands). Indole-3-carbinol, Williams' E medium, androstenedione, 11β- and 16α-hydroxytestosterone (11β- and 16α-OHT) were obtained from the Sigma Chemical Co. (St Louis, MO, U.S.A.). 2α-OHT was a gift from Prof D.N. Kirk (Queen Mary College, University of London). 15β-OHT was a gift from G.D. Searle and Co. (Skokie, IL, U.S.A.), 6β-, 7α- and 16β-OHT were obtained from Steraloids (Wilton, NH, U.S.A.). 3,3'-diindolylmethane (DIM), 5,6,11,12,17,18-hexahydrocyclonona [1,2-b:4,5-b':7,8-b"] tri-indole (CTI), and 2,3-bis [3-indolylmethyl] indole (BII) were purified from an acid-reaction mixture of I3C as described before [13]. All other chemicals were of analytical grade. Monoclonal antibodies towards P450 1A1/2, P450 2B1/2 and P450 3A were kind gifts from Dr P.J. Kremers, Université de Liège, Belgium. Secondary antibodies were obtained from Dakopatts a/s, Glostrup, Denmark.

Animals and cell isolation

Male Wistar rats (Ico:WU, Iffa-Credo, Someren, The Netherlands), weighing 200 - 350 g, were fed *ad libitum* a semisynthetic diet as described previously [8]. The animals had free access to drinking water. Hepatocytes were isolated using a two step collagenase perfusion technique as described before [17]. Cynomolgus monkeys (*Macaca fascicularis*) were bred at the National Institute of Public Health and Environmental Protection (RIVM, Bilthoven, The Netherlands). The monkeys served as donors for kidney cells necessary for the production of the poliomyelitis vaccine. Liver cells were isolated as described by Mennes *et al.* [20].

Cell culture

The cells were plated on 6 or 9 cm tissue culture dishes (Sterilin) at a density of 4 or 8 x 10^6 cells/dish in 4 or 10 ml Williams' E medium, respectively. Media were supplemented with 3% (rats) or 5% (monkeys) newborn calf serum, 1 μ M insulin, 10 μ M hydrocortisone and 50 mg/l gentamycin. Additionally, media of monkey hepatocytes were supplemented with 4 mM CaCl₂ and 4 mM MgCl₂ during the first 4 hr in culture. Cells were incubated in a humidified atmosphere of air (95%) and CO₂ (5%) at 37°.

After 4 hr in culture, media were replaced. Thereafter, media were refreshed every 24 hr. After a total preincubation period of 24 hr, I3C, DIM, CTI and BII dissolved in

dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), were added to the culture media to give a final concentration range of 2.5 to 40 μ M. An equal amount of DMSO was added to the control cultures (final DMSO concentration 0.1% v/v). Monkey hepatocytes were treated with only one concentration of either I3C, DIM or BII (25 μ M).

Biochemical determinations

The leakage of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH, EC 1.1.1.27) was used as an indication for cell viability. The LDH activity was measured according to Bergmeyer *et al.* [21]. Microsomes and cytosol were prepared, and protein contents were determined both as described previously [22]. Determinations of 7-ethoxyresorufin deethylation (EROD) and hydroxylation of testosterone were performed directly in intact hepatocyte monolayers as described by Wortelboer *et al.* [22]. Glutathione S-transferase (GST) activity was measured in cytosol with 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene (5 μ M) as a substrate using the spectrophotometric method of Habig *et al.* [23]. DT-diaphorase (DTD) activity was assayed fluorimetrically by the reduction of resorufin, as described previously [13].

Glucuronyl transferase (GT) and sulformasferase (ST) activities were measured directly in intact hepatocyte monolayers. Cells were washed twice with Hanks balanced



salt solution (HBSS) and incubated with 250 μ M 1-naphthol in HBSS at 37° in a humidified atmosphere of air (95%) and CO₂ (5%) at 37°. After 25 and 50 min samples of one ml were taken and stored at -20°C. Media were centrifuged (5 min, 300 g) and 1-naphthylglucuronides and 1-naphthyl-sulphates were analysed by HPLC according to Redegeld et al [24] with some modifications. Chromsep C18 RP column A (200 x 3 mm, 1. x i.d., Chrompack, Middelburg, The Netherlands) was used for separations. Products were eluted with a mixture of 17.5% acetonitrile in 10 mM KH₂PO₄, pH 2.5 at a flow rate of 1.0 ml/min, giving a typical elution profile as shown in Fig. 1. Column effluents were monitored fluorimetrically using an excitation wavelength of 290 nm and an emission wavelength 330 nm. Metabolites were quantified by comparing peak areas with those of authentic standards.

Fig. 1: HPLC elution profile of 1-naphthyl-conjugates (1-NG: glucuronide and 1-NS: sulphate) in medium from intact monolayers of control rat hepatocytes incubated with 250 μ M 1-naphthol for 50 min. X1 and X2 are unidentified.

Indole oligomers and enzyme induction in vitro

Gel electrophoresis and immunoblotting

Microsomal proteins (2 μ g protein) were electrophoretically separated using a Biorad mini Protean II cell by sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE), and subsequently immunoblotted as described [17]. P450 1A1/2, P450 2B1/2 and P450 3A apoproteins were detected using monoclonal antibodies directed towards these isoenzymes.

Statistical analysis

Results have been expressed as means \pm SD, where appropriate. Statistical analysis was performed by Students' *t*-test, for unpaired samples ($P \le 0.05$).

Results

Effects of indole derivatives on P450 enzymes in rat hepatocytes

Incubation of rat cells with the indole-derivatives up to 40 μ M did not result in significant loss of cell viability as measured by LDH-leakage (results not shown). All three acid-condensation products of I3C enhanced the EROD activity dose-relatedly (Fig. 2A). At a concentration of only 3 μ M and upwards a significant enhancement of EROD could be detected. At a concentration as high as 40 μ M, however, the EROD enhancement due to CTI exposure was less than with DIM and BII (Fig. 2A). Both the trimers markedly decreased the 2 α - and 16 α -hydroxylation of testosterone to a mere 5% of the control cultures (Fig. 2B, Table 1). No competitive inhibition of the 2 α - and 16 α -hydroxylation of testosterone could be detected when microsomes of untreated rats were



Fig. 2: EROD activity and testosterone 2α -hydroxylation (2α -OHT) in intact monolayers of primary rat hepatocytes treated with DIM (\bullet), CTI (\bigcirc), and BII (\triangle) for 48 hr. Data are means \pm SD (n = 3 experiments).

				9			
Treatment μg/ml μM			15β-ΟΗΤ	7α-OHT (pmol/mir	6β-ΟΗΤ		
Control		7.0 ± 0.5	6.1 ± 2.1	nd	167.9 ± 5.9	33.3 ± 1.9	
DIM	1	(4.1)	7.6 ± 1.6	11.5 ± 5.4	nd	164.9 ± 5.9	36.5 ± 7.6
	3	(12.2)	8.5 ± 2.1	15.1 ± 6.7*	nd	137.7 ± 9.9*	38.6 ± 7.9
	6	(24.4)	$12.1 \pm 0.5^{*}$	22.4 ± 9.9*	nd	$105.2 \pm 5.1^*$	$44.0 \pm 5.3^{*}$
	10	(40.7)	11.9 ± 2.7*	28.2 ± 12.4*	nd	77.1 ± 11.0*	$53.3\pm8.8^{\star}$
СТІ	1	(2.6)	10.6 ± 3.3	15.4 ± 7.4	nd	67.9 ± 24.9*	37.4 ± 13.7
	3	(7.8)	7.3 ± 1.2	$14.7 \pm 5.9^*$	nd	$17.5 \pm 4.8^{*}$	33.7 ± 11.5
	6	(15.5)	7.0 ± 2.5	$17.3 \pm 8.8^{*}$	nd	$8.6 \pm 3.5^{*}$	27.9 ± 12.9
	10	(25.8)	$4.3 \pm 0.3^{\star}$	$15.5 \pm 3.3^{*}$	nd	$6.2 \pm 2.1^*$	$18.0 \pm 3.6^{*}$
	15	(38.7)	$5.3\pm2.6^{\star}$	$20.1 \pm 4.0^*$	nd	$4.5 \pm 1.6^{*}$	$\textbf{22.9} \pm \textbf{4.8}^{\textbf{\star}}$
BII	1	(2.7)	9.7 ± 1.4*	12.4 ± 6.5	nd	139.0 ± 19.0*	34.9 ± 6.7
	3	(8.0)	$8.8 \pm 2.1^{*}$	17.2 ± 8.1*	nd	87.9 ± 25.2*	34.4 ± 12.2
	6	(16.0)	$9.2 \pm 1.5^{*}$	21.7 ± 7.5*	nd	$40.1 \pm 11.1^{*}$	37.7 ± 7.9
	10	(26.7)	9.9 ± 2.8	25.4 ± 13.2	nd	$17.1 \pm 3.5^*$	$34.6\pm\ 6.5$
	15	(40.0)	6.7 ± 1.9	$20.4 \pm 7.6^*$	nd	$6.4 \pm 2.5^{*}$	$\textbf{22.6} \pm \textbf{8.0}^{\textbf{\star}}$

Table 1. Testosterone hydroxylation in intact monolayers of rat hepatocytes after exposure to different acid-reaction products of indole-3-carbinol.

Values represents means \pm SD of three experiments. * $P \leq 0.05$ when compared to control. After a preincubation period of 24 hr, hepatocytes were exposed for another 48 hr to DMSO alone (control), 3,3'-diindolylmethane (DIM), 5,6,11,12,17,18-hexahydro-cyclonona [1,2-b:4,5-b':7,8-b'':] tri-indole (CTI) and 2,3-bis [3-indolylmethyl] indole (BII). nd = not detectable.

incubated with both testosterone and BII or CTI (results not shown). Treatment of cells with DIM diminished this hydroxylation of testosterone, but only to *ca* 40% of the control cells. All three acid-condensation products enhanced the 7 α -hydroxylation of testosterone (to *ca* 4-fold; Table 1), whereas the hydroxylation at the 15 β - and 6 β -site were slightly enhanced in cells exposed to DIM and BII (1.5-fold), but decreased in cells exposed to CTI (0.6-fold). Western blotting revealed enhanced P450 1A1, but not of 1A2, 2B1/2 and 3A apoprotein levels in cells treated with DIM, CTI or BII (results not shown).

Effects of indole derivatives on P450 enzymes in monkey hepatocytes

The basal P450-dependent activities in 72 hr-old monkey hepatocytes differed from the activities measured in rat hepatocytes. The basal EROD activity was about 4-fold higher than in rat hepatocytes. Also the hydroxylation at the β -site of testosterone was markedly higher (30-fold) in DMSO-treated monkey hepatocytes. In contrast, the

hydroxylation at the 2α -site was very low, and the formation of 7α -OHT could not be detected in these 72 hr-old monkey hepatocytes.



Fig. 3: EROD activity and testosterone 6 β -hydroxylation (6 β -OHT) in intact monolayers of primary monkey hepatocytes treated with I3C, DIM, and BII for 48 hr. Data are means \pm SD. * $P \leq 0.05$ compared to cells treated with DMSO alone (n = 3 experiments).

Treatment	(μM)	15β-OHT (pmol/mii	7α-OHT n/mg cellula	16α-OHT r protein)	16β-ОНТ	2α-ΟΗΤ
Control I3C DIM BII	- (25) (25) (25)	$\begin{array}{r} 40.0 \pm \ 4.4 \\ 35.0 \pm 10.8 \\ 40.8 \pm 12.3 \\ 21.8 \pm \ 2.0^* \end{array}$	nd nd nd	$\begin{array}{c} 14.6 \pm 5.3 \\ 12.0 \pm 1.7 \\ 12.6 \pm 4.7 \\ 11.5 \pm 5.0 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	6.7 ± 0.6 6.2 ± 1.8 7.2 ± 2.0 $5.1 \pm 1.0^*$

Table 2. Testosterone hydroxylation in intact monolayers of monkey hepatocytes after exposure to indole-3-carbinol and two acid-condensation products of indole-3-carbinol.

Values represents means \pm SD of three experiments. * $P \leq 0.05$ when compared to control. After a preincubation period of 24 hr, hepatocytes were exposed for another 48 hr to DMSO alone (control), 25 μ M indole-3-carbinol (I3C), 3,3'-diindolylmethane (DIM) and 2,3-bis [3-indolylmethyl] indole (BII). nd = not detectable.

Exposure of monkey hepatocytes to I3C for 48 hr had no effect on EROD and testosterone hydroxylation (Fig. 3; Table 2). The dimer DIM enhanced the EROD activity to 6-fold the activity in cells treated with DMSO alone, but no changes were observed in the hydroxylation of testosterone. In contrast, exposure to BII enhanced the EROD activity to 9-fold in monkey cells (Fig. 3A), whereas the formation of several metabolites of testosterone (15 β -, 6 β -, 16 β -, 2 α -OHT and androstenedione) was reduced (Fig. 3B; Table 2).

Phase II enzymes in rat and monkey hepatocytes

In rat liver cells the indole derivatives enhanced the DTD activity dose-relatedly to 3.5-, 2.6- and 5.7-fold in DIM, CTI and BII treated cells, respectively (Fig. 4A). The glucuronidation of naphthol in intact rat cells was enhanced by treatment with all three indoles, although a higher concentration of CTI and BII diminished these effects (Fig. 5A). No effects of the acid-condensation products of indole-3-carbinol were observed in rat cells on the GST activity (Fig. 4B) and sulphation of 1-naphthol (Fig. 5B).



Fig. 4: DT-diaphorase (DTD) and glutathione S-transferase (GST) activity in cytosol of rat hepatocytes treated with DIM (\bullet), CTI (\bigcirc), and BII (\triangle) for 48 hr. Data are means \pm SD, n = 3 experiments.

Indole oligomers and enzyme induction in vitro



Fig. 5: Glucuronidation (GT) and sulphation (ST) of 1-naphthol in intact monolayers of primary rat hepatocytes treated with DIM (\bullet), CTI (\bigcirc), and BII (\triangle) for 48 hr. Data are means \pm SD, n = 3 experiments.



Fig. 6: DTD activity (DTD) and glutathione S-transferase activity (GST) in cytosol of cultured monkey hepatocytes, treated with I3C, DIM, and BII, respectively (48 hr). * $P \le 0.05$ compared to cells treated with DMSO alone (n = 3 experiments).





Fig. 7: Glucuronidation (GT) and sulphation (ST) of 1-naphthol in intact monolayers of primary monkey hepatocytes, treated with I3C, DIM, and BII, respectively (48 hr). * $P \le 0.05$ compared to cells treated with DMSO alone (n = 3 experiments).

In monkey hepatocytes treated with DMSO alone the glucuronidation and sulphation of 1-naphthol, and the DTD activity did not differ from similarly treated rat hepatocytes. In contrast, the basal GST activity was twofold higher in monkey hepatocytes compared with control rat hepatocytes. Treatment of monkey hepatocytes with 25 μ M BII resulted in enhanced DTD activity (2-fold; Fig. 6A). No changes were observed in GST, and glucuronidation and sulphation of 1-naphthol after treatment of monkey cells with either I3C, DIM or BII (Fig. 6B; Fig 7).

Discussion

Treatment of rat hepatocytes with the acid-condensation products of indole-3carbinol resulted in a P450 pattern comparable to the pattern observed after treatment with the known inducer β -naphthoflavone [17]. Apart from a high induction of EROD, the indole derivatives DIM, CTI and BII markedly decreased the formation of 2 α -OHT and 16 α -OHT in rat hepatocytes. In the rat at least five P450 enzymes hydroxylate testosterone at the 16 α site, namely 2B1, 2C11, 2B2, 2C7 and 2C13, the latter three at a rate one-tenth of that observed with 2B1 and 2C11 [25,26]. In untreated rats the levels of P450 2B1 apoproteins are very low and the testosterone 16α -hydroxylation is predominantly attributable to 2C11 [26]. The comparable effects of the indoles on the 2α -hydroxylation of testosterone, the latter specifically catalysed by P450 2C11 [25,26], indicates that hydroxylation at both the 2α - and 16α - site of testosterone can be attributed to the constitutive 2C11. A reduction of P450 2C11 is also described after exposure to other inducers of the P450 1A subfamily ranging from 80 to 40% [15]. The trimers CTI and BII, however, decreased the formation of 2α - and 16α -OHT to barely detectable levels. A marked down-regulation of the constitutive P450s *in vivo* was also reported for the antioxidants butylhydroxytoluene and butylhydroxyanisole, although these compounds do not induce P450 1A1 [27].

All three indole derivatives increased the 7α -hydroxylation of testosterone in rat hepatocytes, which is predominantly catalysed by P450 2A [28]. A similar enhancement of this activity is observed when rat hepatocytes are treated with β -naphthoflavone [17]. The unaffected 16 β -hydroxylation of testosterone indicates no effect of the indole derivatives on P450 2B [26]. In rat liver 6 β - and 15 β -hydroxylation of testosterone are both specifically catalysed by P450 3A [26]. However, in the present study no differences could be detected in P450 3A apoprotein levels and it is therefore not clear which P450(s) is (are) associated with the minor changes in testosterone 6 β - and 15 β -hydroxylation due to treatment with the indole-derivatives.

Less data are available on the different P450 forms in monkey liver. So far, a few studies have shown the high similarity between monkey and human P450s [29,30]. P450 enzymes in human liver belong to the subfamilies P450 1A, 2C, 2D, 2E, 3A and 4A [31]. Not P450 2C, but 3A is a major constitutive enzyme in human liver, which has a high catalytic activity towards the $\beta\beta$ site of testosterone [32], which was also observed in the present study. The hydroxylation of other sites of testosterone was minimal and probably not specifically related to different P450 forms [32]. On the other hand, the dealkylation of ethoxyresorufin is catalysed by the P450 1A subfamily in both rat and human hepatocytes, although in human liver mainly the P450 1A2 form is detectable [33]. In agreement with rat hepatocytes [8], I3C itself had no effects on any of the measured biotransformation activities in monkey hepatocytes. The enhancement of EROD due to exposure to BII, and an overall decrease in testosterone hydroxylation are in agreement with the effects observed in monkey hepatocytes treated with the P450 1A1 modelinducer, β -naphthoflavone (Mennes, unpublished results).

Treatment of hepatocytes with the acid condensation products of I3C selectively affected phase II enzymes. In a previous study [13], we reported enhancement of DTD activity in rat cells after exposure to 25 μ M of either DIM, CTI or BII. Here, we report a clearly dose-related enhancement of DTD and GT activities in rat hepatocytes treated with BII and DIM. The selective inhibition of BII at concentrations above 15 μ M, may indicate a competition between the substrate 1-naphthol and BII (or its metabolites) for the GT enzyme. A similar selective inhibition was measured for DIM and EROD activity at a concentration above 15 μ M. The mechanisms behind these decrease in enzymatic activities are not clear.

Several studies suggest a concomitantly induction of P450 1A1 and phase II enzymes, such as DTD and GT by planar aromatic structures via binding of the inducer

to a cytosolic receptor, the Ah receptor [34,35]. In this respect, the mechanism by which the indole derivatives elicit their broad effects on biotransformation enzymes might be under control of this Ah receptor. Gillner *et al* [36], however, reported a relatively low binding affinity of DIM to the Ah-receptor, in contrast to the high binding affinity of β -naphthoflavone, and of a more planar indole, indolo[3,2-*b*]carbazole. Metabolism of DIM to a compound more capable in binding to the Ah receptor has been suggested [36]. Despite its planar structure, CTI does not fit into the assumed rectangle which has been suggested to account for the binding of high-affinity ligands to the Ah receptor [37]. However, no Ah binding affinities of the trimers itself and/or possible metabolites are determined in this study. In addition, the differential induction of GT and DTD indicates that other mechanisms than the Ah receptor are probably involve, too [34].

Exposure of rats to I3C in vivo is correlated with marked changes in biotransformation activities in liver and small intestinal mucosa [4,8,9,10]. As I3C exposure is associated with a decreased tumour formation induced by a variety of chemically distinct compounds [2,4], it has been postulated that an increased first-pass metabolism in the gastro-intestinal tract could result in a reduced absorption of the precarcinogen [8,38]. In addition, enhanced detoxication of precarcinogens by either phase I or phase II enzymes in the liver and/or other target organs has also been suggested [1,2]. In this respect, the effects of indole derivatives on changes in P450 profile as well as on DTD strengthen the latter hypothesis. Many anticarcinogens such as phenolic antioxidants and 1,2-dithiol-3-thiones induce the DTD activity [39]. Moreover, the last few years the contribution of many individual P450s, including constitutive P450s, in the formation of the proximate carcinogenic is studied in more detail. For example, aflatoxin B_1 and dimethylbenz[a]anthracene, both compounds often used to show the anticarcinogenic effects of cruciferous vegetables and I3C in vivo [2,4,38], are metabolically activated by the constitutive P450 forms of the subfamily P450 2C, whereas P450 1A1 enhances the formation of the non-mutagenic metabolite [40,41]. However, the effects of indole-derivatives on both cytochrome P450 profile and several phase II enzymes, makes it possible that conditions may exist in which enhancement of carcinogenesis may occur. Furthermore, the formation of tumours is a multi stage process and apart from metabolic activation other factors such as species-difference and tissuespecific expression biotransformation enzymes in target organs can all affect the ultimate risk of tumour formation.

In general, our study identifies the acid condensation products of I3C, DIM, CTI and BII, as potent modulators of several biotransformation activities. The fact that similar effects are observed in rat as well as in monkey hepatocytes indicate that these indole oligomers could be of importance for humans, too. However, the relevance of these changes in biotransformation on the modulation of carcinogenesis by indoles remains to be established.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank A. Timmerman for surgical assistance and in situ perfusion of the monkey livers.

References

- 1. Wattenberg LW, Chemoprevention of Cancer. Cancer Res 45: 1-8, 1985.
- Williams DE, Dashwood RH, Hendricks JD and Bailey GS, Anticarcinogens and tumor promoters in foods. In *Food Toxicology: A perspective on the relative risks* (Eds. Taylor SL and Scanlan RA) pp. 101-150, Marcel Dekker Inc., New York, 1989.
- 3. Graham S, Results of case-control studies of diet and cancer in Buffalo, New York. Cancer Res (suppl) 43: 2409-2413, 1983.
- 4. McDanell R, McLean AEM, Hanley AB, Heaney RK and Fenwick GR, Chemical and biological properties of indole glucosinolates (glucobrassicins): a review. *Fd Chem Toxic* 26: 59-70, 1988.
- 5. Noordhoek J and Bladeren PJ van, Nutrition and Extrahepatic Metabolism. In Nutrition, Toxicity and Cancer (Ed. Rowland I) Telford Press, Caldwell, in press, 1991.
- 6. Pence BC, Buddingh F and Yang SP, Multiple dietary factors in the enhancement of dimethylhydrazine carcinogenesis: main effect of indole-3-carbinol. J Natl Cancer Inst 77: 269-276.
- 7. Wortelboer HM, Kruif CA de, Iersel AAJ van, Noordhoek J, Blaauboer BJ, Bladeren PJ van & Falke HE, The effects of cooked Brussels sprouts on cytochrome P450 profile and phase-II enzymes in liver and small intestinal mucosa of the rat. *Fd Chem Toxic* (submitted), 1991.
- 8. Wortelboer HM, Linden E van der, Kruif CA de, Noordhoek J, Blaauboer BJ, Bladeren PJ van & Falke HE (1991) Effects of indole-3-carbinol on biotransformation enzymes in the rat: *in vivo* changes in liver and small intestinal mucosa in comparison with primary hepatocyte cultures. *Fd Chem Toxic* (submitted), 1991.
- Bradfield CA and Bjeldanes LF, Effect of dietary indole-3-carbinol on intestinal and hepatic monooxygenase, glutathione S-transferase and epoxide hydrolase activities in the rat Fd Chem Toxic 22: 977-982, 1984.
- 10. Salbe AD and Bjeldanes LF, Dietary influences on rat hepatic and intestinal DT-diaphorase activity. Fd Chem Toxic 24: 851-856, 1986.
- Bradfield CA and Bjeldanes LF, Structure-activity relationships of dietary indoles: a proposed mechanism of action as modifiers of xenobiotic metabolism. J Toxicol Envir Health 21: 311-323, 1987.
- 12. Wortelboer HM, Kruif CA de, Cassee FR, Falke HE, Iersel AAJ van, Noordhoek J and Blaauboer BJ, Effects of indole derivatives on biotransformation activities in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes. In *In Vitro Toxicology: Mechanism and new technology* 8, in press, 1991.
- 13. De Kruif CA, Marsman J, Venekamp JC, Falke, HE, Noordhoek J, Blaauboer BJ, and Wortelboer HM, Structure elucidation of acid reaction products of indole-3-carbinol; detection *in vivo* and enzyme induction *in vitro*. *Chem-Biol Interact* in press, 1991.
- 14. Burke MD, Thompson S, Elcombe CR, Halpert J, Haaparanta T & Mayer RT, Ethoxy-, pentoxy- and benzyloxyphenoxazones and homologues: a series of substrates to distinguish between different induced cytochromes P-450. *Biochem Pharmacol* 34: 3337-3345, 1985.
- 15. Ioannides C and Parke DV, The cytochrome P450 I gene family of microsomal hemoproteins and their role in the metabolic activation of chemicals. *Drug Metab Rev* 22: 1-85, 1990.
- Guillouzo A, Use of isolated and cultured hepatocytes for xenobiotic metabolism and cytotoxicity studies. In: *Research in Isolated and Cultured Hepatocytes*. (Eds. Guillouzo A and Guguen-Guillouzo C), pp. 313-332, Paris: John Libbey Eurotext Ltd./INSERM, 1986.
- Wortelboer HM, Kruif CA de, Iersel AAJ van, Falke HE, Noordhoek J and Blaauboer BJ, Comparison of cytochrome P450 isoenzyme profiles in rat liver and hepatocyte cultures: the effects of model inducers on apoproteins and biotransformation activities. *Biochem Pharmacol* 42: 381-390, 1991.
- Paine AJ, The maintenance of cytochrome P-450 in rat hepatocyte culture: some applications of liver cell cultures to the study of drug metabolism, toxicity and the induction of the P-450 system. *Chem-Biol Interact* 74: 1-31, 1990.
- Blaauboer BJ, Wortelboer HM and Mennes WC, The use of liver cell cultures derived from different mammalian species in *in vitro* toxicological studies: implementation in extrapolation models? *ATLA* 18: 251-258, 1990.

- Mennes WC, van Holsteijn CWM, Timmerman A, Noordhoek J and Blaauboer BJ, Biotransformation of scoparone used to monitor changes in cytochrome P450 activities in primary hepatocyte cultures derived from rats, hamsters and monkeys. *Biochem Pharmacol* 41: 1203-1208, 1991.
- 21. Bergmeyer HU, Bent E and Hess B, Lactic dehydrogenase. In *Methods of enzymatic analysis* Edited by Bergmeyer HU, Verlag Chemie GmbH, Weinheim, pp. 736-743, 1965.
- 22. Wortelboer HM, de Kruif CA, van Iersel AAJ, Falke HE, Noordhoek J and Blaauboer BJ, The isoenzyme pattern of cytochrome P450 in rat hepatocytes in primary culture, comparing different enzyme activities in microsomal incubations and in intact monolayers. *Biochem Pharmacol* 40: 2525-2534, 1990.
- 23. Habig WH, Pabst MJ and Jakoby WB, Glutathione S-transferases. The first enzymatic step in mercapturic acid formation. J Biol Chem 249: 7130-7139, 1974.
- 24. Redegeld FAM, Hofman GA and Noordhoek J, Conjugative clearance of 1-naphthol and disposition of its glucuronide and sulfate conjugates in the isolated perfused rat kidney. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 244: 263-267, 1988.
- 25. Wood AW, Ryan DE, Thomas PE and Levin W, Regio and stereoselective metabolism of two C-19 steroids by five highly purified and reconstituted rat hepatic cytochrome P-450 isoenzymes. *J Biol Chem* 258: 8839-8847, 1983.
- Waxman DJ, Interactions of hepatic cytochromes P-450 with steroid hormones: regioselectivity and stereoselectivity of steroid metabolism and hormonal regulation of rat P450-enzyme expression. *Biochem Pharmacol* 37: 71-84, 1988.
- 27. Yang CS, Strickhart FS and Woo GK, Inhibition of the mono-oxygenase system by butylated hydroxyanisole and butylated hydroxytoluene. *Life Sci* 15: 1497-1505, 1974.
- Levin W, Thomas PE, Ryan DE and Wood AW, Isozyme specificity of testosterone 7α-hydroxylation in rat hepatic microsomes: is cytochrome P-450a the sole catalyst? Archiv Biochem Biophys 258: 630-635, 1987.
- 29. Komori M, Kikuchi O, Sakuma T, Funaki J, Kitada M and Kamataki T, High similarity between monkey and human P-450: cDNA cloning and expression of monkey liver P-450. In: *Proc VIIIth International Symposium on Microsomes and Drug oxidations*, p74, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, 1990.
- Dalet-Beluche I, Boulenc X, Combalbert J, Maurel P and Bonfils C, Purification and characterization of three P450 isoenzymes related to IIA, IIC and IIIA gene families from baboon liver. In: Proc VIIIth International Symposium on Microsomes and Drug oxidations, p221, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, 1990.
- Nebert DW, Nelson DR, Coon MJ, Estabrook RW, Feyereisen R, Fujii-Kuriyama Y, Gonzalez FJ, Guengerich FP, Gunsalus IC, Johnson EF, Loper JC, Sato R, Waterman MR & Waxman DJ, The P450 superfamily: update on new sequences, gene mapping, and recommended nomenclature. DNA Cell Biol 10: 1-14, 1991.
- 32. Waxman DJ, Attisano C, Guengerich FP and Lapenson DP, Human liver microsomal steroid metabolism: identification of the major microsomal steroid hormone 6β-hydroxylase cytochrome P-450 enzyme. Archiv Biochem Biophys 263: 424-436, 1988.
- Morel F, Beaune PH, Ratanasavanh D, Flinois JP, Yang CS, Guengerich FP and Guillouzo A, Expression of cytochrome P-450 enzymes in cultured human hepatocytes. *Eur J Biochem* 191: 437-444, 1990.
- 34. Prochaska HJ and Talalay P, Regulatory mechanisms of monofunctional and bifunctional anticarcinogenic enzyme inducers in murine liver. *Cancer Res* 48: 4776-4782, 1988.
- 35. Bock KW, Lipp H-P, Bock-Hennig BS, Induction of drug-metabolizing enzymes of xenobiotics. *Xenobiotica* 20: 1101-1111, 1990.
- 36. Gillner M, Bergman J, Cambillau C, Fernström B and Gustafsson J, Interactions of indoles with specific binding sites for 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin in rat liver. *Mol Pharmacol* 28: 357-363, 1985.
- 37. Gillner M, Fernström B, Gustafsson JA, Bergamn J and Cambillau C, A new structure-affinity relationship for TCDD receptor binding. *Chemosphere* 15: 1673-1680, 1986.

Indole oligomers and enzyme induction in vitro

- 38. Salbe AD and Bjeldanes LF, Effect of diet and route of administration on the DNA binding of aflatoxin B₁ in the rat. *Carcinogenesis* 10: 629-634, 1989.
- 39. De Long MJ, Prochaska HJ and Talalay P, Induction of NAD(P)H:quinone reductase in murine hepatoma cells by phenolic antioxidants, azo dyes, and other chemoprotectors: A model system for the study of anticarcinogens. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 83: 787-791, 1986.
- 40. Ishii K, Maeda K, Kamataki T and Kato R, Mutagenic activation of aflatoxin B₁ by several forms of purified cytochrome P-450. *Mutat Res* 174: 85-88, 1986.
- Morrison VM, Burnett AK and Craft JA, Metabolism of 7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene in hepatic microsomal membranes from rats treated with isoenzyme-selective inducers of cytochromes P450. Biochem Pharmacol 41: 1505-1512, 1991.

CHAPTER 8

GENERAL DISCUSSION

Biotransformation of xenobiotics may influence the toxicity of several xenobiotics. Changes in activities of biotransformation enzymes may therefore drastically affect the subceptibility of organisms to these chemicals. Compounds with widely distinct chemical structures have been shown to be either potent inducers or inhibitors of biotransformation enzymes. Through the intake of diet, drugs and air, organism are exposed to many different compounds. Knowledge of the effects of all these various chemicals on biotransformation enzymes is only limited. Generally, the induction potential of chemicals is determined via exposure of living animals (mainly rodents) to a chemical. Per one single compound and concentration a minimum of three animals (mainly rodents) are treated with the test chemical for several days. Subsequently biotransformation enzyme activities are measured in cellular fractions derived from the liver and, if required, other organs. To reduce the number of animals in such tests, and to decrease the level of distress to the animals, *in vitro* models with primary cultures of hepatocytes may offer a good alternative for at least part of these animal studies.

The main objective in this thesis is the application of primary hepatocyte cultures to determine the potential of compounds to change cytochrome P450 enzymes. Simple and convenient methods were developed to determine P450-dependent catalytic activities directly in intact monolayers (chapter 2). Thereafter inducers known to be effective *in vivo* were used to "validate" the *in vitro* model system (chapter 3). In the last four chapters the *in vitro* model was applied, complementarily to *in vivo* studies, to investigate the effects of a major breakdown product of glucosinolates, i.e. indole-3-carbinol (I3C) on the activities of biotransformation enzymes. In this chapter the most important results will be highlighted and generally discussed.

I. Changes in cytochrome P450 enzyme pattern in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes

As indicated in the Introduction and specified in chapter 2, the total cytochrome P450 content but also the individual forms rapidly decrease during primary culture of rat hepatocytes. In contrast to previous suggestions that qualitative changes in the P450 profile may occur during culture, in favour of P450 1A1, no gross changes in the P450-dependent catalytic profile was observed in our study. A possible explanation is the use of more specific substrates to define the P450 profile in more detail.

One of the main advantages of using hepatocytes over the living animal is the fact that cells isolated from one liver can be divided over many experimental units, and as such can be used to test several chemicals and/or concentrations. Generally cellular fractions (microsomes and cytosol) are prepared from cultured cells to study specific catalytic enzyme activities. However, due to a very low recovery (30%) of cytochrome P450, and an overall decline of cytochrome P450 during culture, relatively high amounts

of cells were needed to determine P450-dependent catalytic activities. Simple and convenient methods were developed to determine the P450-dependent catalytic activities directly in intact monolayers of hepatocytes. A major advantage of using intact cells over cellular fractions is the study of enzymatic reactions under physiological microconditions. Therefore, we consider these enzyme assays in intact cells more representative to the "*in vivo*" situation, although the uptake and transport, and possible conjugation reactions should be taken into consideration.

In chapter 3 several inducers known to be effective in vivo were chosen to study changes in the P450 pattern in primary hepatocyte cultures. It appeared that in such cultures several P450 enzyme activities (i.e. 1A1/1A2, 2A, 3A and 4A) can be elevated with the same inducing compound and to the same extent as in vivo, while decrease of P450 2C could also be detected. The induction of P450 2B1/2 by phenobarbital (PB), however, as measured at the level of mRNA, protein and activity (PROD and 16βhydroxylation of testosterone) occurs at a much lower level than in vivo. A similar low induction of this P450 form and associated activities were observed when cells were treated with 22'44'55'hexachlorobiphenyl, which is another potent inducer of P450 2B1/2 in vivo (Jansen, unpublished results). In contrast, clofibrate induced the P450 2B1/2 catalytic activity (PROD and 16 β -OHT) to a similar level in vivo as in vitro. PB (known to induce GST in vivo) enhanced the GST activity in vitro, too (Jansen, unpublished results), indicating a selective effect of PB on P450 2B1/2. Several attempts were made to affect the induction of P450 2B, using either serum-free media, low oxygen pressure. additional haem, or an additional minor concentration of P450 1A1-inducer, but none were successful (Wortelboer, unpublished results).

The results indicate that primary cultures of rat hepatocytes cultured on plastic retain the capacity to respond to PB induction, however, in the case of P450 2B1/2 to a much lesser extent than *in vivo*. The fact that clofibrate does induce P450 2B1/2 *in vitro* to a similar level as *in vivo* suggests a selective mechanism of regulation for this P450 enzyme by the moderate inducer clofibrate compared to the more potent inducers PB and 22'44'55'hexachlorobiphenyl.

Another P450 enzyme which could not be induced in primary rat hepatocytes cultured on plastic, is P450 2E. The induction of this isoenzyme *in vivo* is correlated with ligand binding and stabilization of mRNA levels, which subsequently results in higher protein levels (Song *et al*, 1989). The reason for the lack of induction of this P450 form *in vitro* is not clear.

Recently, promising new findings have been reported for the induction of P450 2B1/2 and 2E in hepatocytes when cultured on different matrices. Treatment of hepatocytes cultured on an extracellular tumour matrix (Matrigel) in serum-free Williams E medium with PB or ethanol enhanced apoprotein levels as well as the catalytic activities of P450 2B or P450 2E, respectively (Sinclair *et al*, 1990; Sinclair *et al*, 1991). No direct comparisons were made with induction *in vivo*, but the enhancement of the P450 2B-associated catalytic activity (pentoxyresorufin dealkylation) in cells treated with PB was very high (*ca* 30-fold; Sinclair *et al*, 1990) in comparison with our system. The P450 2E apoprotein levels as well as its associated catalytic activity could be induced when cells cultured on matrigel were treated with ethanol. Matrigel is a mixture of

General Discussion

components extracted from the Engelbreth-Holm-Swarm tumour. The tumour has to be passaged and maintained in *ca* 10-week-old mice (Schuetz *et al*, 1988). Therefore, such a procedure does not fit into an *in vitro* approach directed towards a reduction in animal distress. Furthermore, the extraction of the tumour is very laborious and time consuming, and therefore no satisfying solution for a "rapid" (cheap) screening test for induction.

Another method is to pre-coat dishes with a matrix which is commercially available, i.e. Vitrogen (type 1 collagen). Sinclair *et al* (1990) reported an enhancement of pentoxy-resorufin dealkylation (*ca* 25-fold) in hepatocytes treated with PB from 48 to 96 hr after isolation. To date no data are available whether P450 2E is inducible in hepatocytes cultured on Vitrogen. Waxman *et al* (1990) prolonged the viability of hepatocytes for a full 5 weeks, when cells were cultured on Vitrogen-coated plates into a serum-free modified Chee's medium (for composition see Waxman *et al*, 1990). Exposure of cells to PB enhanced P450 2B apoprotein levels and associated activities up to levels nearly as high as those achieved in PB-induced rat liver *in vivo*.

A totally different approach to extending functionality of cultured hepatocytes is the use of co-cultures of primary hepatocytes with rat liver epithelial cells (Guguen-Guillouzo *et al*, 1983). Although the life time of the primary cultures was extended and total cytochrome P450 could be maintained at higher levels than in conventional cultured cells, the enhancement of P450 2B-associated activities in co-cultured cells treated with PB compared to untreated cells was still very low (Rogiers *et al*, 1990). The supporting cell culture in this system is not an established cell line and the cells have to be isolated once in a while. For this reason, the use of epithelial-like cell lines would be favoured. The effects of several cell-lines in co-culture with hepatocytes are currently under investigation (Kuri-Harcuch and Mendoza-Figueroa, 1989; Donato *et al*, 1990a; Donato *et al*, 1990b). However, up to now, the induction of P450 2B in these co-cultures is limited too (Donato *et al*, 1990b).

From the foregoing it is obvious that many laboratories are involved in studying the problem of the low induction of P450 2B and P450 2E *in vitro*. Further research on the regulation of the expression of these genes, and additional efforts to search for better culture conditions would add further useful information.

We conclude that up to now primary cultures of hepatocytes cultured on plastic can not be used as a complete "replacement test", in replacing *in vivo* induction studies (Balls *et al* 1990). Despite this incompleteness of the *in vitro* model today, hepatocyte cultures can be used as a "screening test" for the induction and suppression of P450 1A1, 1A2, 2A, 2C11, 3A and 4A: i.e. a simple and rapid test useful for making preliminary decisions among large groups of chemicals in the selection for further testing, either with intact animals or more-sophisticated *in vitro* tests. For example, to study the induction potential and/or induction potency of chemicals for P450 1A1, as in the case of e.g. PCDDs and PCDFs, primary cultures of rat hepatocytes are currently used to study doseresponse relationships of these compounds. To reduce the amount and distress of animals in laboratory experiments ("reduction" and "refinement"), primary cultures of liver cells may be used wherever possible in conjunction with a limited number of *in vivo* studies.

II. Application of the in vitro model complementarily to in vivo studies: The effects of indole-3-carbinol (I3C) on biotransformation enzymes

In the second part of this thesis the *in vitro* model is applied in the study of the effects of some important food constituents. Cruciferous vegetables have been shown to enhance the activity of biotransformation enzymes in both animals and man. These vegetables contain appreciable amounts of glucosinolates which upon hydrolysis yield various substances. The breakdown products of the indole glucosinolates, e.g. indole-3-carbinol are associated with marked changes in biotransformation enzyme activities, but in addition can markedly affect tumour formation.

In chapter 4 and 5 we studied the time- and dose-related effects of cooked Brussels sprouts and one of the major hydrolysis products of indole-glucosinolates, i.e. I3C, on the changes in biotransformation enzymes in rat liver and small intestine in vivo. Two days of exposure to 5% Brussels sprouts as well as 200 mg/kg (0.02%) I3C already changed several biotransformation enzymes. The common effect of both Brussels sprouts and I3C is the enhancement of P450 2B apoprotein levels and associated activities in the small intestine. Recently, Vang et al (1991) reported a comparable enhancement of P450 2B apoprotein levels in the colon tissue of rats exposed to a diet containing 10% broccoli. On the other hand, markedly different effects between the vegetable as a whole and I3C were also observed. In the liver Brussels sprouts predominantly affected P450 1A2, whereas I3C affected both P450 1A1 and 1A2; Brussels sprouts (from 5% upwards) enhanced both GST, GT1, and DTD (the latter over 3-fold in the small intestine), whereas only the high dose of I3C (500 mg/kg diet) affected phase II enzymes. These results stress the effects of other constituents of Brussels sprouts. For instance, goitrins and dithiolthiones are both known to affect predominantly the phase II enzymes, especially GST and DTD (Chang and Bjeldanes, 1985; Ansher et al, 1986).

In contrast to the effects of I3C *in vivo*, treatment of hepatocytes with I3C resulted only in minor changes in biotransformation activities. On the other hand, 3,3'-diindolylmethane (chapter 5) and acid-treated I3C (Wortelboer *et al*, 1991) markedly induced P450 1A1 and EROD activity *in vitro*. Therefore, we studied the condensation of I3C under acidic conditions (chapter 6). I3C is rapidly converted to several oligomers of methylene-indole. Next to the dimer 3,3'-diindolylmethane (DIM) two other major products (trimers) were formed. The chemical structures could be elucidated using nuclear magnetic resonance: the cyclic trimer 5,6,11,12,17,18-hexahydro-cyclonona [1,2-b:4,5b':7,8-b''] tri-indole (CTI) and the non-cyclic trimer 2,3-bis [3-indolylmethyl] indole (BII). The condensation of I3C is pH-dependent and CTI could not be detected at a pH > 4.5. Treatment of rats with I3C by gavage confirmed the formation of DIM and BII in the stomach, though CTI could not be detected. The latter is probably due to the relatively high pH of the rat stomach (pH 4-6), in comparison with the pH of the human stomach. Therefore, it seems likely that at least all three indole oligomers are to be formed out of I3C in the human stomach.

To determine whether DIM, CTI and BII have the potential to change biotransformation enzyme activities, we studied these effects in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes (chapter 7). All three indole derivatives induced P450 1A1 and DTD activities, BII being the most potent one. On the other hand, the formation of 2α - and 16α -hydroxytestosterone was markedly suppressed (to a mere 5% of the activities in

General Discussion

untreated cells). Since we did not have the disposal of highly specific antibodies directed towards P450 2C11, no apoprotein levels of this P450 form could be measured. However, we suggest that the decrease in the formation of 2α and 16α hydroxylation is attributable to a down regulation of the male constitutive P450 2C11. In vivo, however, dietary exposure to I3C did not decrease the hepatic hydroxylation of testosterone at either the 2α or the 16 α site (chapter 5). Differences in concentration of the effective compound *in vivo* and *in vitro* may explain these differences. Furthermore, I3C exposure *in vivo* also induced the hepatic P450 2B1 apoprotein levels (chapter 5). P450 2B1 also hydroxylates testosterone at the 16 α site (Wood *et al*, 1983) and therefore could mask a possible decrease in P450 2C11.

An important feature of *in vitro* models is that cultured cells can be used to improve interspecies extrapolation, e.g. in comparing the effects of compounds in rat liver cells with human liver cells. However, due to the increasing number of liver transplantations, human liver is only rarely available for cell isolation. As an alternative to human liver cells, we used hepatocytes derived from cynomolgus monkey liver (*Macaca fascicularis*) to study the effects of I3C, DIM and BII on biotransformation enzymes (chapter 7). I3C did not affect any biotransformation activity measured in monkey hepatocytes. Although the overall effect was lower in monkey cells compared to the effects in rat cells, BII enhanced both EROD as well as DTD activities. Furthermore, BII decreased the 6β -hydroxylation of testosterone, which is predominantly catalysed by the human constitutive P450 form, P450 3A. These results, in addition to the probable formation of these indole-derivatives due to low pH in the human stomach, indicate that the acid condensation of I3C could be of importance for humans, too.

The question arises whether the levels used in the *in vivo* studies are comparable to the human intake of indoles via the consumption of cruciferous vegetables. In this respect, the mean daily intake of indolylmethyl glucosinolate has been estimated to be 7 mg/person from cooked cruciferous vegetables (Sones *et al*, 1984). Assuming a daily consumption of 500 g total dry substance, a daily ingestion of 7 mg glucobrassicin would represent 1.4% of the dry matter of the total diet. In the studies presented in this thesis we used 0.02% and 0.05% I3C. In addition, a daily consumption of 150 g cooked Brussels sprouts (with a dry matter content of 15%) would represent 4.5% of the dry matter of the total diet. The results presented in this thesis indicate that a diet of 2.5% cooked Brussels sprouts already induced P450 2B apoprotein in the small intestine. Clearly, the levels used in this study could be those normally encountered in the human diet.

An increased consumption of either cruciferous vegetables or I3C by rats is generally associated with a decreased risk of tumorigenesis induced by a wide variety of precarcinogens, such as aflatoxin B_1 , benzo[a]pyrene, 7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene (McDanell *et al*, 1988; Salbe and Bjeldanes, 1989). On the other hand, enhanced tumorigenesis in cabbage-fed animals has also been reported for 1,2-dimethylhydrazine (Srisangnam *et al*, 1980) and *N*-nitrosobis-(2-oxopropyl)amine (Birt *et al*, 1987). The results in chapter 4 and 5 indicate that Brussels sprouts and I3C do not have a common change in biotransformation activities which may affect the carcinogenic process. In this respect, exposure to Brussels sprouts have a profound effect on P450 2B, GST and DTD

activities in the small intestine, which may result in a higher first pass elimination of chemicals in the small intestine, thereby reducing the absorption of the chemical in the blood. Interestingly, in both studies in which enhancement of tumorigenesis has been reported the pre-carcinogens were administrated subcutaneously (instead of orally), thereby bypassing the gastrointestinal tract. The enhancement of hepatic GST and DTD are both in favour of detoxifying route of pre-carcinogens.

In the case of I3C, however, the effects on intestinal P450 activities are relatively low in comparison to the activities measured after dietary exposure of Brussels sprouts, and more selective mechanisms can not be ruled out. For example, the enhancement of DTD activity is observed with several other compounds known to decrease the risk of chemically-induced tumorigenesis, such as BHA and BHT (Benson et al, 1980), and dithiolthiones (De Long et al 1986). In addition, changes in the P450 profile in favour of the detoxication of the precarcinogen could affect the carcinogenic potential, too. In this regard, a high induction of P450 1A1 in the liver as observed after I3C treatment is often correlated with a potential higher risk of bioactivation of precarcinogens (Ioannides and Parke, 1990). However, in many other studies exposure to P450 1A1 inducers in vivo decreased chemically- induced tumorigenesis, in contrast to a higher bioactivation and associated higher DNA-adduct formation or mutagenicity using cellular fractions, e.g. microsomes (Williams et al, 1989; McKillop et al, 1991). Nevertheless, the fact that I3C affects both cytochrome P450 and several phase II enzymes, may explain that conditions can exist in which enhancement of carcinogenesis may occur. Furthermore, carcinogenesis is a multi-stage process and many additional factors different from bioactivation may affect the formation of tumours.

In conclusion, the results described in this thesis clearly illustrate the wide applicability of primary cultures of hepatocytes in induction studies. Apart from the use of this *in vitro* model in "screening tests", primary hepatocyte cultures can be used as "adjunct tests": i.e. tests in conjunction with *in vivo* tests, to elucidate possible mechanisms of toxicity or to further investigate specific observations. However, further research is needed to improve the applicability of cultured hepatocytes as an *in vitro* model with regard to the induction and regulation of all P450 forms.

References

- Ansher SS, Dolan P and Bueding E, Biochemical effects of dithiolthiones. Fd Chem Toxic 24: 405-415, 1986.
- Balls M, Blaauboer B, Brusick D, Frazier J, Lamb D, Pemberton M, Reinhardt C, Robertfroid M, Rosenkranz H, Schmid B, Spielman H, Stammati AL and Walum E, Report and recommendations of the CAAT/ERGATT workshop on the validation of toxicity test procedures. *ATLA* 18: 313-337, 1990.
- Benson AM, Hunkeler MJ and Talalay P, Increased NAD(P)H:quinone reductase by dietary antioxidants: possible role in protection against carcinogenesis and toxicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 77: 5216-5220, 1980.
- Birt DF, Pelling JC, Pour PM, Tibbels MG, Schweickert L and Bresnick E. Enhanced pancreatic and skin tumorigenesis in cabbage-fed hamsters and mice. *Carcinogenesis* 8: 913-917, 1987.
- Chang Y and Bjeldanes LF, Effects of dietary *R*-goitrin on hepatic and intestinal glutathione S-transferase, microsomal epoxide hydratase and ethoxycoumarin O-deethylase activities in the rat. *Fd Chem Toxic* 23: 905-909, 1985.

General Discussion

- De Long MJ, Dolan P, Santamaria AB and Bueding E, 1,2-dithiol-3-thione analogs: effects on NAD(P)H:quinone reductase and glutathione levels in murine hepatoma cells. *Carcinogenesis* 7: 977-980, 1986.
- Donato MT, Castell JV and Gómez-Lechón, Co-cultures of hepatocytes with epithelial-like cell lines: expression of drug-biotransformation activities by hepatocytes. *Cell Biol Toxicol* 7: 1-14, 1991.
- Ioannides C and Parke DV, The cytochrome P450 I gene family of microsomal hemoproteins and their role in the metabolic activation of chemicals. *Drug Metab Rev* 22: 1-85, 1990.
- McDanell R, McLean AEM, Hanley AB, Heaney RK and Fenwick GR, Chemical and biological properties of indole glucosinolates (glucobrassicins): a review. Fd Chem Toxic 26: 59-70, 1988.
- McKillop D and Case DE, Mutagenicity, carcinogenicity and toxicity of β -naphthoflavone, a potent inducer of P448. *Biochem Pharmacol* **41**: 1-7, 1991.
- Rogiers V, Vandenberghe Y, Callaerts A, Verleye G, Cornet M, Mertens K, Sonck W and Vercruysse A, Phase I and phase II xenobiotic biotransformation in cultures and co-cultures of adult rat hepatocytes. *Biochem Pharmacol* 40: 1701-1706, 1990.
- Salbe AD and Bjeldanes LF, Effect of diet and route of administration on the DNA binding of aflatoxin B_1 in the rat. *Carcinogenesis* 10: 629-634, 1989.
- Schuetz EG, Li D, Omiecinski CJ, Muller-Eberhard U, Kleinman Hk, Elswick B and Guzelian PS, Regulation of gene expression in adult rat hepatocytes cultured on a basement membrane matrix. *J Cell Physiol* **134**: 309-323, 1988.
- Schuetz EG, Schuetz JD, May B and Guzelian PS, Regulation of cytochrome P-450b/e and P-450p gene expression by growth hormone in adult rat hepatocytes cultured on a reconstituted basement membrane. J Biol Chem 265: 1188-1192, 1990.
- Sinclair PR, Bement WJ, Haugen SA, Sinclair JF and Guzelian PS, Induction of cytochrome P-450 and 5aminolevulinate synthase activities in cultured rat hepatocytes. *Cancer Res* 50: 5219-5224, 1990.
- Sinclair JF, McCaffrey J, Sinclair PR, Bement WJ, Lambrecht LK, Wood SG, Smith L, Schenkman JB, Guzelian PS, Park SS and Gelboin HV, Ethanol increases cytochrome P450IIE, IIB1/2 and IIIA in cultured rat hepatocytes. Arch Biochem Biophys 284: 360-365, 1991.
- Sones K, Heaney RK and Fenwick GR, An estimate of the mean daily intake of glucosinolates from cruciferous vegetables in the UK. J Sci Food Agric 35: 712-720, 1984.
- Song BJ, Veech RL, Park SS, Gelboin HV, and Gonzalez FJ, Induction of rat hepatic Nnitrosodimethylamine demethylase by acetone is due to protein stabilization. J Biol Chem 264: 3568-3572, 1989.
- Srisangnam C, Hendricks DG, Sharma RP, Salunkhe DK and Mahony AW, Effects of dietary cabbage (*Brassica oleracea* L.) on the tumorigenicity of 1,2-dimethylhydrazine in mice. J Fd Safety 4: 235-245, 1980.
- Vang O, Jensen H and Autrup H, Induction of cytochrome P-450IA1, IA2, IIB1, IIB2 and IIE1 by broccoli in rat liver and colon. *Chem-Biol Interact* 78: 85-96, 1991.
- Waxman DJ, Morrissey JJ, Naik S and Jauregui HO, Phenobarbital induction of cytochromes P-450: high level long-term responsiveness of primary hepatocyte cultures to drug induction, and glucocorticoid dependence of the phenobarbital response. *Biochem J* 271: 113-119, 1990.
- Williams DE, Dashwood RH, Hendricks JD and Bailey GS, Anticarcinogenesis and tumor promotors in foods. In *Food Toxicology: A perspective on the relative risks* Taylor SL and Scanlan RA (Eds.) Marcel Dekker Inc., New York, 1989.
- Wood AW, Ryan DE, Thomas PE and Levin W, Regio and stereoselective metabolism of two C-19 steroids by five highly purified and reconstituted rat hepatic cytochrome P-450 isoenzymes. J Biol Chem 258: 8839-8847, 1983.
- Wortelboer HM, de Kruif CA, Cassee FR, Falke HE, van Iersel AAJ, Noordhoek J and Blaauboer BJ, Effects of indole derivatives on biotransformation activities in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes. In *In Vitro Toxicology: Mechanisms and new technology* **8**, in press, 1991.

Wortelboer, H.

Primary hepatocyte cultures as a model system for the determination of induction of biotransformation enzymes. Effects of glucosinolate hydrolysis products.

Utrecht, Rijksuniversiteit, 1991.



Samenvatting voor "niet-vakgenoten"

Mens en dier krijgen dagelijks vele natuurlijke en door de mens gemaakte stoffen binnen via voedsel, inademen van vervuilde lucht, geneesmiddelen enz. Het merendeel van deze lichaamsvreemde stoffen (xenobiotica) wordt in ons lichaam via de stofwisseling dusdanig veranderd (biotransformatie), zodat deze stoffen gemakkelijk worden uitgescheiden via urine, faeces en uitgeademde lucht. Het belangrijkste orgaan waarin deze omzetting van stoffen plaatsvindt is de lever, maar ook in de darm, nieren, longen en huid kunnen lichaamsvreemde stoffen omgezet worden. Bij de biotransformatie zijn verschillende enzymen betrokken.

In hoofdstuk 1 van dit proefschrift wordt een overzicht gegeven van de belangrijkste enzymen (cytochroom P450, conjugatie enzymen, DT-diaphorase) die bij de biotransformatie van lichaamsvreemde stoffen betrokken zijn. De omzetting van stoffen gebeurt vaak in twee stappen: de lichaamsvreemde stof wordt eerst veranderd door cytochroom P450 enzymen (fase I) om dan vervolgens door conjugatie enzymen veranderd te worden (fase II) zodat het gevormde produkt het lichaam gemakkelijk kan verlaten.

Er zijn echter ook stoffen bekend die in ons lichaam door dezelfde enzymen omgezet kunnen worden tot schadelijke produkten (ook wel bioactivatie genoemd). De gevormde giftige produkten (toxische metabolieten) kunnen beschadiging aan weefsel en DNA geven, waardoor o.a. tumoren kunnen ontstaan. In het algemeen worden deze toxische metabolieten weer verder gebiotransformeerd door enzymen tot inactieve (= niet toxische) produkten, zodat geen schade aan weefsels kan ontstaan. Het zal duidelijk zijn dat een toxisch effect dan ook afhangt van de balans tussen de bioactivatie en inactivatie.

Er zijn echter ook stoffen bekend die de hoeveelheid en snelheid van deze biotransformatie enzymen (cytochroom P450, conjugatie enzymen) kunnen veranderen. Onderzoek heeft aangetoond dat niet alleen allerlei geneesmiddelen en giftige stoffen zoals PCBs, dioxines etc. de aktiviteit van deze enzymen kunnen veranderen, maar ook allerlei stoffen die in onze voeding voorkomen. De consequentie van deze veranderingen kan zowel gunstig als ongunstig zijn. Als bijvoorbeeld de hoeveelheid en snelheid van "activerende" enzymen verhoogd wordt, dan zal het duidelijk zijn dat de kans op vorming van giftige produkten groter zal zijn en er een grotere kans op het ontstaan van kanker zal zijn. Echter, als bijvoorbeeld de hoeveelheid en snelheid van "inactiverende" enzymen verhoogd wordt dan kan dit een beschermende werking hebben tegen kankerverwekkende stoffen, omdat de giftige produkten sneller weggevangen worden. Het is juist de balans tussen deze activering en inactivering die de toxiciteit van vele verbindingen bepaalt.

We weten eigenlijk van ontzettend veel stoffen nog niet of ze de snelheid van deze enzymen kunnen veranderen. Tevens weten we ook nog niet waarom de ene mens wel en de andere mens geen kanker krijgt. Wel is langzamerhand duidelijk dat factoren zoals dieet, roken, bepaalde geneesmiddelen etc. het risico op het krijgen van kanker kunnen beïnvloeden. De beïnvloeding van dit soort stoffen op de balans van activerende en inactiverende enzymen kan hierin een grote rol spelen.

Dit proefschrift

Om te onderzoeken of een stof in staat is om fase I en/of fase II enzymen te veranderen worden vaak ratten gebruikt als proefdier model voor de mens. Nadat de dieren een aantal dagen een bepaalde stof hebben gekregen, wordt vervolgens de lever (en eventueel andere organen) uit het dier gehaald, zodat de activiteit van de enzymen in de organen gemeten kan worden. Per dier kan je zo slechts één stof en één concentratie uittesten. Dit soort onderzoek kost veel dieren en kan bij bepaalde stoffen pijnlijk en belastend zijn voor het dier. Een alternatief hiervoor is om cellen uit de lever van één dier te isoleren (ca 500 miljoen cellen) en deze over plastic kweekbakjes te verdelen (4 miljoen per bakje), zodat elk bakje met een andere stof en/of concentratie getest kan worden.

In de eerste twee hoofdstukken zijn experimenten beschreven waarin vergeleken wordt of de levercellen (*in vitro*) precies hetzelfde reageren als het gehele dier (*in vivo*) op stoffen waarvan bekend is dat ze de enzymaktiviteit kunnen beinvloeden. Tevens konden zo allerlei bepalingsmethoden aangepast worden zodat ook de lage enzymaktiviteit in maar een klein aantal cellen toch goed gemeten kon worden. Het is gebleken dat het *in vitro* systeem voor een aantal belangrijke vormen van cytochroom P450 een goed alternatief kan zijn voor *in vivo* onderzoek, echter niet voor alle vormen. Tot nu toe is het dan ook alleen bruikbaar als aanvulling op *in vivo* onderzoek, om het mechanisme verder uit te zoeken van stoffen waarvan *in vivo* al enigszins duidelijk is wat ze doen.

Een voorbeeld van zo'n onderzoek is de studie naar de effecten van het eten van kool (o.a. spruitjes), en meer specifiek van één stof in deze groenten (indole-3-carbinol) op veranderingen in enzymaktiviteit in de lever en de darm (laatste vier hoofdstukken). Waar mogelijk werd het onderzoek met proefdieren (*in vivo*) aangevuld met onderzoek in levercellen (*in vitro*). Uit de experimenten kwam naar voren dat de stof indole-3-carbinol door de zure omgeving in de maag omgezet wordt tot vervolgprodukten. Het bleek dat niet de stof indole-3-carbinol de activiteit van enzymen verandert, maar de zure produkten van deze stof.

In toxicologisch onderzoek wordt veelal de rat als proefdier gebruikt. Op basis van deze onderzoeksgegevens worden conclusies en normen geformuleerd voor de mens. Steeds meer ervaring wordt verkregen in het isoleren en in cultuur brengen van cellen uit organen van verschillende diersoorten. Hierdoor wordt het mogelijk om directe vergelijkende studies te doen tussen verschillende diersoorten, inclusief de mens. Door de enorme toename van orgaantransplantaties is het moeilijk om aan menselijke levercellen te komen, maar een goed alternatief zijn de levercellen van een aap. Op het Rijks Instituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieuhygiëne moet tweewekelijks een aap opgeofferd worden voor het bereiden van het polio-vaccin. Hiervoor worden de niercellen gebruikt; andere organen (ogen, schildklier, maag etc.) worden eveneens gebruikt voor onderzoek in verschillende laboratoria. In dit onderzoek is gebruik gemaakt van de levercellen van de aap. De sterke effecten van de zure produkten van indole-3-carbinol op de enzymaktiviteiten in de levercellen van de rat vinden we in grote lijnen, maar dan bij andere enzymen, ook terug in de levercellen van de aap.
De consequentie van de veranderingen in enzymaktiviteiten kunnen, zoals al eerder aangegeven, zowel gunstig als ongunstig zijn. Studies naar de effecten van deze veranderingen op bijvoorbeeld tumorvorming of orgaanschade zijn voor proefdieren zeer belastend en vanwege de duur van de proef voor veel laboratoria te kostbaar. Om dergelijke vragen verder deels met behulp van levercellen te kunnen onderzoeken in plaats van in proefdieren, zullen nog aanvullende (met name gevoelige) methodes ontwikkeld moeten worden.

Curriculum vitae

Heleen Wortelboer werd op 17 mei 1958 te Den Helder geboren. In 1976 behaalde zij het gymnasium- β diploma aan het R.K. Lyceum Sancta Maria te Haarlem. Twee en een half jaar is zij werkzaam geweest als radio-diagnostisch laborante in het R.K. Ziekenhuis Maria Stichting te Haarlem. In 1979 begon zij aan de studie Biologie aan de Vrije Universiteit te Amsterdam, waar de bijvakken Plantenoecologie (Prof. Dr. W.H.O. Ernst) en Dierfysiologie/Endocrinologie (Prof. Dr. J.J. Joosse) werden gevolgd. Binnen het hoofdvak Toxicologie (Prof. Dr. W. Seinen) is onderzoek gedaan bij de vakgroep Antropogenetica (Dr. H. Joenje, Amsterdam) en de sector Biologische Toxicologie (Dr. B.J. Blaauboer, Utrecht). Naast deze wetenschappelijke opleiding werd de eerstegraads onderwijsbevoegdheid behaald. In 1987 werd het doctoraalexamen Biologie afgelegd aan de Rijks Universiteit Utrecht.

Vanaf mei 1987 tot april 1991 was zij als promovendus werkzaam binnen het UTOX, een samenwerkingsverband tussen het Research Instituut voor Toxicologie (RITOX) te Utrecht, TNO-Voeding (TNO-ITV) te Zeist en het Rijks Instituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu (RIVM) te Bilthoven. Het promotieonderzoek werd uitgevoerd binnen het RITOX onder leiding van Dr. B.J. Blaauboer en binnen TNO-Voeding onder leiding van Dr. H.E. Falke. Naast het onderzoek is de postdoctorale opleiding Toxicologie gevolgd.

List of Publications

- Joosse J, Van Elk R, Mosselsman S, Wortelboer HM and Van Diepen JCE, Schistosomin: a pronase-sensitive agent in haemolymph of *Trichobilharzia ocellata*-infected *Lymnaea stagnalis* inhibits the activity of albumin glands *in vitro*. *Parisotology Research* **74**: 228-234, 1988.
- Gille JJP, Wortelboer HM and Joenje H, Antioxidant status of Fanconi anemia fibroblasts. *Human Genetics* 77: 28-31, 1987.
- Gille JJP, Wortelboer HM and Joenje H, Effect of normobaric hyperoxia on antioxidant defenses of HeLa and CHO cells. *Free Radical Biology & Medicine* 4: 85-91, 1988.
- Wortelboer HM, de Kruif CA, de Boer WI, van Iersel AAJ, Falke HE and Blaauboer BJ, Induction and activity of several isoenzymes of cytochrome P450 in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes, in comparison with *in vivo* data. *Molecular Toxicology* 1: 373-381, 1989.
- Wortelboer HM, de Kruif CA, van Iersel AAJ, Falke HE, Noordhoek J and Blaauboer BJ, The isoenzyme pattern of cytochrome P450 in rat hepatocytes in primary culture, comparing different enzyme activities in microsomal incubations and in intact monolayers. *Biochemical Pharmacology* **40**: 2525-2534, 1990.
- Blaauboer BJ, Wortelboer HM and Mennes WC, The use of liver cell cultures derived from different mammalian species in *in vitro* toxicological studies: implementation in extrapolation models? *ATLA* 18: 251-258, 1991.
- Wortelboer HM, de Kruif CA, van Iersel AAJ, Falke HE, Noordhoek J and Blaauboer BJ, Comparison of cytochrome P450 isoenzyme profile in rat liver and hepatocyte cultures: the effects of modelinducers on apoproteins and biotransformation activities. *Biochemical Pharmacology* **42**: 381-390, 1991.
- Wortelboer HM, de Kruif CA, Cassee FR, Falke HE, van Iersel AAJ, Noordhoek J and Blaauboer BJ, Effects of indole derivatives on biotransformation activities in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes. *In Vitro Toxicology: Mechanisms and new technology* **8**: in press, 1991.
- de Kruif CA, Marsman JW, Venekamp JC, Falke HE, Noordhoek J, Blaauboer BJ and Wortelboer HM, Structure elucidation of acid reaction products of indole-3-carbinol, detection *in vivo* and enzyme induction *in vitro*. *Biochemical and Biological Interactions*, in press, 1991.
- Wortelboer HM, de Kruif CA, Noordhoek J, Blaauboer BJ, van Bladeren PJ and Falke HE, The effects of cooked Brussels sprouts on cytochrome P450 and phase-II enzymes in liver and small intestinal mucosa of the rat. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, in press, 1991
- Wortelboer HM, van der Linden ECM, de Kruif CA, Noordhoek J, Blaauboer BJ, van Bladeren PJ and Falke HE, Effects of indole-3-carbinol on biotransformation enzymes in the rat: *in vivo* changes in liver and small intestinal mucosa in comparison with primary hepatocyte cultures. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, submitted, 1991.
- Wortelboer HM, de Kruif CA, van Iersel AAJ, Falke HE, Noordhoek J. and Blaauboer BJ, Acid reaction products of indole-3-carbinol and their effects on cytochrome P450 and phase II enzymes in rat and monkey hepatocytes. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, submitted, 1991.
- Mennes WC, Lucas-Luijckx NB, Wortelboer HM, Noordhoek J and Blaauboer, BJ, Differences in the effects of model inducers of cytochrome P450 on the biotransformation of scoparone in rat and hamster liver. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, submitted, 1991.

Bedankt !

Natuurlijk is dit proefschrift niet alleen tot stand gekomen door de inzet van degene wiens naam op de omslag staat vermeld.

Velen hebben een bijdrage geleverd. Mijn dank gaat dan ook uit naar al diegenen die zich ingespannen hebben, tijdens de uitvoering van het onderzoek en al wat daarmee samenhangt, voor de tot stand koming van dit boekje. Een aantal mensen wil ik speciaal noemen:

* Mijn (vele) begeleiders van de drie UTOX-instituten: Bas Blaauboer, Jan Noordhoek, Willem Seinen, Hein Falke, Peter van Bladeren en Arthur van Iersel, allen bedankt voor de plezierige samenwerking en kritische discussies bij het schrijven van de manuscripten.

* Daarnaast waren er twee belangrijke steunpilaren in het onderzoek, John de Kruif en Wim Mennes. John, een groot deel van het praktisch werk heb jij uitgevoerd. Jouw "gouden handjes" voor de HPLC waren onmisbaar, en je vaak ongezouten kritiek hebben heel veel bijgedragen tot het proefschrift zoals het er nu ligt.

Wim, vele discussies hebben we met elkaar gehad over de zin en onzin van .. ja, wat niet. Jij was mijn maatje in het "leven van een promovendus". Met heel veel plezier heb ik met je samengewerkt.

* Een grote bijdrage aan het onderzoek is geleverd door de studenten, Pim de Boer, Els van der Linden, Flemming Cassee, Erik Rekswinkel, Ingrid van Geel en Willy Jansen.

* Bedankt ook allen die bijgedragen hebben aan het *in vivo* onderzoek binnen TNO-Voeding: Jan Catsburg, Corri van der Meer, Annemieke van de Velde, Wilma Kreuning, Johan Vuik, Hr. de Groot, Jan Marsman, Joke Venekamp, Jasper Blom, Astrid Brand en vele anderen van de dierverzorging (de spruiten-lucht zullen jullie niet snel vergeten).

* Verder wil ik alle collega's van de sector Biochemische Toxicologie en andere sectoren van het RITOX bedanken voor de belangstelling en de prettige werksfeer.

Ineke van Holsteijn, jouw hulp in de laatste spannende uurtjes heb ik heel erg gewaardeerd. Co Eyndhoven (en co-workers) bedankt voor het vervaardigen van alle foto's, dia's en prachtige posters. Hanneke de Groot bedankt voor het typen van alle brieven en het gebruik van de computer.

* Bedankt Arie Timmermans en collega's voor de isolatie van ape-levers, Winfried Niessen voor de HPLC-MS analyses, de medewerkers van de afdeling Biologische Toxicologie van het TNO-Voeding, de medewerkers van de afdeling In Vitro Toxicologie van het RIVM, en alle dierverzorgers voor de prettige samenwerking.

* Onmisbaar waren alle "leveranciers" van antilichamen en testosteron-metabolieten.

* en natuurlijk wil ik mijn moeder en Adelbert bedanken, aan wie ik dit boekje zou willen opdragen.